
 
 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 
 
 
MAURA O’NEILL, as administrator of the Estate 
of Madelyn E. Linsenmeir, 
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CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, et al. 

 Defendants. 

) 
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) 
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C.A. No. 20-30036-MGM 

 

 
 

DECLARATION OF DANIEL L. MCFADDEN, ESQ. 
  

I, Daniel L. McFadden, hereby declare as follows: 

1. I am an attorney and counsel of record for the plaintiff in the action captioned above.  

2. Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
HCSD 764-65, as produced by defendant Hampden County Sheriff’s Department 
(“HCSD”). 

3. Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
LINSENMEIR00000016-20, as produced by the plaintiff Estate of Madelyn E. 
Linsenmeir (the “Estate”). 

4. Attached hereto as Exhibit C is a true and accurate copy of excerpts from the deposition 
of defendant Sheila Rodriguez. 

5. Attached hereto as Exhibit D is a true and accurate copy of excerpts from the deposition 
of defendant Moises Zanazanian. 

6. Attached hereto as Exhibit E is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
CoS I.D. 0001340, as produced by defendant City of Springfield (the “City”). 

7. Attached hereto as Exhibit F is a true and accurate copy of a letter dated October 15, 
2018. 
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8. Attached hereto as Exhibit G is a true and accurate copy of the complaint in Linsenmeir 
et al. v. City of Springfield, et al., without exhibits. 

9. Attached hereto as Exhibit H is a true and accurate copy of a letter dated December 13, 
2018. 

10. Attached hereto as Exhibit I is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
CoS I.D. 0001342-43, as produced by the City. 

11. Attached hereto as Exhibit J is a true and accurate copy of a Notice of Dismissal in 
Linsenmeir et al. v. City of Springfield, et al. 

12. Attached hereto as Exhibit K is a true and accurate copy of documents Bates stamped 
CoS Supp 7 RPOD 00021607-09, as produced by the City, with certain personal 
identifying information redacted. 

13. Attached hereto as Exhibit L is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
CoS Supp 7 RPOD 0008611, as produced by the City. 

14. Attached hereto as Exhibit M is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
CoS Supp 7 RPOD 0008614, as produced by the City. 

15. Attached hereto as Exhibit N is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
CoS I.D. 0001352, as produced by the City. 

16. Attached hereto as Exhibit O is a true and accurate copy of a document received from the 
City. 

17. Attached hereto as Exhibit P is a true and accurate copy of excerpts from the deposition 
of Monique McCoy. 

18. Attached hereto as Exhibit Q is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
CoS I.D. 0001278-91, as produced by the City, with certain personal identifying 
information redacted. 

19. Attached hereto as Exhibit R is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
CoS I.D. 000483, as produced by the City. 

20. Attached hereto as Exhibit S is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
CoS I.D. 000453-54, as produced by the City. 

21. Attached hereto as Exhibit T is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
CoS I.D. 000455-56, as produced by the City. 
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22. Attached hereto as Exhibit U is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
CoS SUPP 7 RPOD 0008458, as produced by the City. 

23. Attached hereto as Exhibit V is a true and accurate copy of excerpts from the deposition 
of William Mahoney, Esq. as the City’s 30(b)(6) designee. 

24. Attached hereto as Exhibit W is a true and accurate copy of a document received from the 
City. 

25. Attached hereto as Exhibit X is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
CoS I.D. 000473-75, as produced by the City. 

26. Attached hereto as Exhibit Y is a true and accurate copy of excerpts from the deposition 
of Cheryl Clapprood individually and as the City’s 30(b)(6) designee. 

27. Attached hereto as Exhibit Z is a true and accurate copy of excerpts from the deposition 
of Philip Tarpey. 

28. Attached hereto as Exhibit AA is a true and accurate copy of a document Bates stamped 
CoS I.D. 000484-86, as produced by the City. 

29. Attached hereto as Exhibit BB is a true and accurate copy of a document served by the 
Estate on the City and certain other defendants. 

30. Attached hereto as Exhibit CC is a true and accurate copy of a document served by the 
City and certain other defendants on the Estate. 

31. Attached hereto as Exhibit DD is a true and accurate copy of a document served by the 
City on the Estate. 

32. Attached hereto as Exhibit EE is a true and accurate copy of an email from the City to the 
Estate dated January 4, 2023. 

33. Attached hereto as Exhibit FF is a true and accurate copy of a document served by the 
Estate on the City. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct to the best of my 
knowledge.  

 
Date: January 19, 2023     /s/ Daniel L. McFadden 

         Daniel L. McFadden  
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                         Volume 1, Pages 1-130 

                             Exhibits: 17-23

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

--------------------------------------------------

MAURA O'NEILL, as administrator of the Estate of 

Madelyn E. Linsenmeir,

                Plaintiff, 

 vs.                     CA No. 3:20-cv-30036

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MOISES ZANAZANIAN, 

REMINGTON McNABB, SHEILA RODRIGUEZ, HAMPDEN 

COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, and JOHN/JANE DOES 

NOS. 1-5,

                Defendants.

--------------------------------------------------

REMOTE DEPOSITION OF SHEILA RODRIGUEZ

Friday, April 15, 2022, 10:05 a.m. 

Via Zoom Video Conference

----Reporter:  Kathleen L. Good, CSR, RPR----

K. L. GOOD & ASSOCIATES

Post Office Box 367

Swampscott, Massachusetts 01907

Tel. 781-367-0815      Kathleen.Good@verizon.net 
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APPEARANCES:1

Goulston & Storrs2
Joshua M. Looney, Attorney3
Richard J. Rosensweig, Attorney4
Michael Nzoiwu, Attorney5
400 Atlantic Avenue6
Boston, Massachusetts 021107
617-482-11758
jlooney@goulstonstorrs.com9
rrosensweig@goulstonstorrs.com10
mnzoiwu@goulstonstorrs.com11

- and -12
American Civil Liberties Union13

        Foundation of Massachusetts, Inc.14
Daniel L.  McFadden, Attorney15
Areeba Jibril, Fellow16
211 Congress Street17
Boston, Massachusetts  0211018
617-482-317019
dmcfadden@aclum.org20
ajibril@aclum.org21

        Attorneys for the Plaintiff22
23
24

3
APPEARANCES, cont.:1

Egan, Flanagan and Cohen, P.C.2
Kevin D. Withers, Attorney3
67 Market Street4
Springfield, Massachusetts  01102-90355
413-737-02606
kdw@efclaw.com7
Attorneys for Hampden County Sheriff's8

        Department9
10

Lisa C. DeSousa, Attorney11
City of Springfield Law Department12

        36 Court Street, Room 21013
        Springfield, Massachusetts 0110314

            413-787-608515
            ldesousa@springfieldcityhall.com16
            Attorneys for City of Springfield,17

        and Sheila Rodriguez18
19
20
21
22
23
24

4
APPEARANCES, cont.:1
            Kevin B. Coyle, Attorney2
            1299 Page Boulevard3
            Springfield, Massachusetts 011044
            413-787-15245
            attycoyle@aol.com6
            Attorney for Remington McNabb7

8
            Reardon, Joyce & Akerson, P.C.9
            John K. Vigliotti, Attorney10
            4 Lancaster Terrace11
            Worcester, Massachusetts 0160612
            508-754-728513
            jvigliotti@rjalaw.com14
            Attorneys Moises Zanazanian15

16
Also Present:  Maura O'Neill17

                   Phil Hamilton, Law student18
19
20
21
22
23
24

5
INDEX1

2
WITNESS:                                     PAGE:                 3
SHEILA RODRIGUEZ4

BY MR. LOONEY 85
*****6

EXHIBITS:                                     PAGE:7
No. 17, Employment Application, Bates Nos.188
        CoS I.D. 00028 to CoS I.D. 000319
No. 18, Springfield Police Department 3910
        Directives, Bates Nos. CoS RPOD11
        000158 to CoS RPOD 00093212
No. 19, Log, Bates Nos. CoS I.D. 0001301 10013
        to CoS I.D. 131314
No. 20, Journal 10115
No. 21, Matrons Log 10416
No. 22, Springfield Police Department 10917
        Internal Investigation Units,18
        Bates Nos. CoS I.D. 0001278 to CoS19
        I.D. 000129120
No. 23, Police Statement 12421

*****22
**** Original/Marked Exhibits in custody23

of Mr. Looney24
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114
have inside the office.1

Is that different from the phone on2 Q.
the video that we watched?3

Yes.4 A.
When you say "office," is this the5 Q.

office near the cells?6
Yes.  Correct.7 A.
Did Madelyn ask if she could use the8 Q.

office phone?9
No, she did not.10 A.
Why did you write this sentence11 Q.

about her not using this phone?12
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.13

I'm assuming because during the14 A.
interview with the sergeant, she might have asked15
me if I let her use the office phone.16

(By Mr. Looney) Did you let17 Q.
prisoners use the office phone?18

No, not at all.  That's not allowed.19 A.
You write:20 Q.
"I did not make a sarcastic comment.21

I did not hear the sergeant make any smart22
comments while on the phone with her mother."23

Did I read that correctly?24

115
Yes, you did.1 A.
I'm curious why you wrote those2 Q.

statements.  Can you tell me why you included3
those statements in your report?4

Because during my interview, it was5 A.
asked if I heard the sergeant made any smart6
comments or myself made any comments.  I did not7
interact with Madelyn.8

During your interview, were you told9 Q.
what sarcastic comments possibly were made?10

No.11 A.
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.12

(By Mr. Looney) You write:13 Q.
"During the shift, Madelyn14

complained about body aches."  Correct?15
Correct.16 A.
And did she complain about this17 Q.

throughout your shift?18
Every time I would do my fifteen-minute19 A.

check-in.20
So every time you did your21 Q.

fifteen-minute check-in --22
Yes.23 A.
-- she would tell you that her body24 Q.

116
was hurting?1

Yes.  It went on and on for a couple of2 A.
hours.3

So she told you multiple times?4 Q.
Yes, she did.5 A.
What did you say when she told you?6 Q.
I don't recall.7 A.
Did you take any action in response8 Q.

to her telling you this multiple times?9
I just kept an eye close on her in case10 A.

there was any other symptoms.11
Did you not think that her body12 Q.

hurting and her telling you multiple times was13
enough to take action?14

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.15
I passed the message forward.  She did16 A.

not complain about anything else besides her body17
aching.18

(By Mr. Looney) Did you believe her?19 Q.
I did and I didn't.20 A.
Could explain what you mean?21 Q.
Yes, I can explain.22 A.
By meaning I do believe her, I do not23

believe her, she did complain about her knee and24

117
the way that she was not able to -- she1
complained about not being able to lay down in2
the hard bed.  But she wasn't expressing or3
raising any other concerns besides her body ache4
and I did not see her in distress.5

Why did she tell you this every6 Q.
fifteen minutes?7

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.8
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.9

I'm not sure.  I will assume she might10 A.
have wanted just to go to the hospital.11

(By Mr. Looney) Did you ask?12 Q.
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.13

No, I did not ask her.14 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did you say anything15 Q.

to Madelyn when she made these complaints every16
fifteen minutes?17

No.  I offered her some food and if she18 A.
needed some more water and that was it.19

Anything else?20 Q.
No.21 A.
Did she make these complaints to22 Q.

anyone else aside from you?23
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.24
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Not that I'm aware of.1 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did you tell anyone2 Q.

that she had been making these complaints every3
fifteen minutes?4

I believe I told the sergeant, and then5 A.
in the ending of the shift when Officer Sanchez6
came to relieve me, I forwarded that information.7

So you mentioned the frequency with8 Q.
which she made these complaints?9

To the officer who relieved me, yes.10 A.
To Officer Maria Sanchez?11 Q.
Yes.12 A.
Did you mention to Officer13 Q.

Zanazanian the frequency with which she made14
these complaints?15

I mentioned it about two times.16 A.
What did he say?17 Q.
I do not recall.18 A.
Did you take any action when you19 Q.

mentioned that to him?20
No.  I just kept a close eye on her.21 A.
You write:22 Q.
"During the shift, Madelyn took a23

nap."  Correct?24

119
Yes, she did.1 A.
Did you observe her taking a nap?2 Q.
Yes, she did.  She was able to lay3 A.

down.4
When did she take her nap?5 Q.
I do not recall that exact same time.6 A.
Was it a couple of hours into your7 Q.

shift?8
A couple of hours into my shift.9 A.
How long did she take a nap for?10 Q.
I do not recall.  I did not keep track.11 A.
Was it more than an hour?12 Q.
I don't recall.13 A.
Could it have been less than an14 Q.

hour?15
I do not recall.16 A.
You write:17 Q.
"I informed Officer M. Sanchez of18

her body aches."19
Officer M. Sanchez is Officer Maria20

Sanchez, the matron who came on the next shift?21
Yes.  Correct.22 A.
This was a verbal conversation?23 Q.
Yes.  Correct.24 A.

120
Is there anything else that you told1 Q.

Officer Sanchez?2
Besides the body aches and asking to go3 A.

to the hospital once, no, there was nothing else.4
(Screen share stopped.)5

Did Sergeant McCoy contact you again6 Q.
after your interview with her?7

No, she did not.8 A.
During the investigation, did you9 Q.

speak with anyone else aside from Sergeant10
McCoy?11

No, I did not.12 A.
Do you know what the result of the13 Q.

investigation was?14
No.15 A.
Ms. Rodriguez, do you know if the16 Q.

Springfield Police Department made any changes17
after the incident with Madelyn?18

Not that I'm aware of.  I'm no longer a19 A.
matron so I wouldn't know if they made any20
changes to any of the policies for matrons.21

In your opinion, should the22 Q.
Springfield Police Department have made any23
changes?24

121
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.1
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.2

I'm not really sure how to answer this3 A.
question.  In my opinion, yes, as a human being,4
of course.5

That will pretty much be my answer.6
(By Mr. Looney) Could you explain7 Q.

what you mean "as a human being, yes, of8
course"?9

I feel like they should have maybe10 A.
somebody in the medical field to be in the11
department so they are able to assess the12
prisoners when they make a complaint.13

Would you do things differently,14 Q.
looking back from this position now?15

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.16
I don't believe I would have done17 A.

anything differently.  I think I did a well18
enough job based on the resources and the19
training that was provided to me by a previous20
matron and going based on what I was told and21
directed to do.22

(By Mr. Looney) Going back a little23 Q.
bit to from when you talked with Sergeant24
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

--------------------------------------------------

MAURA O'NEILL, as administrator of the Estate of 
Madelyn E. Linsenmeir,

                Plaintiff, 

 vs.                     CA No. 3:20-cv-30036

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MOISES ZANAZANIAN, 
REMINGTON McNABB, SHEILA RODRIGUEZ, HAMPDEN 
COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, and JOHN/JANE DOES 
NOS. 1-5,

                Defendants.
--------------------------------------------------

REMOTE and IN-PERSON DEPOSITION OF 

MOISES ZANAZANIAN

Thursday, March 17, 2022, 10:06 a.m. 

Via Zoom Video Conference

Goulston & Storrs
400 Atlantic Avenue

Boston, Massachusetts 02110

----Reporter:  Kathleen L. Good, CSR, RPR----
K. L. GOOD & ASSOCIATES

Post Office Box 367
Swampscott, Massachusetts 01907

Tel. 781-367-0815      Kathleen.Good@verizon.net 
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APPEARANCES:1

2
Goulston & Storrs3
Joshua M. Looney, Attorney4
Michael Nzoiwu, Attorney5
400 Atlantic Avenue6
Boston, Massachusetts 021107
617-482-11758
jlooney@goulstonstorrs.com9
mnzoiwu@goulstonstorrs.com10

- and -11
American Civil Liberties Union12

        Foundation of Massachusetts, Inc.13
Daniel L. McFadden, Attorney (Via Zoom)14
Matthew R. Segal, Attorney (Via Zoom)15
Areeba Jibril, Fellow (Via Zoom)16
211 Congress Street17
Boston, Massachusetts  0211018
617-482-317019
dmcfadden@aclum.org20
msesgal@aclum.org21
ajibril@aclum.org22
Attorneys for the Plaintiff23

24
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APPEARANCES, cont.:1

2
Egan, Flanagan and Cohen, P.C.3
Thomas E. Day, Attorney (Via Zoom)4
67 Market Street5
Springfield, Massachusetts  01102-90356
413-737-02607
ted@efclaw.com8
Attorneys for Hampden County Sheriff's9

        Department10
11

Lisa C. DeSousa, Attorney (Via Zoom)12
City of Springfield Law Department13

        36 Court Street, Room 21014
        Springfield, Massachusetts 0110315

            413-787-608516
            ldesousa@springfieldcityhall.com17
- and -18
            Kevin B. Coyle, Attorney (Via Zoom)19
            1299 Page Boulevard20
            Springfield, Massachusetts 0110421
            413-787-152422
            attycoyle@aol.com23
            Attorneys for City of Springfield,24

4
APPEARANCES, cont.:1

2
            Reardon, Joyce & Akerson, P.C.3
            John K. Vigliotti, Attorney4
            4 Lancaster Terrace5
            Worcester, Massachusetts 016066
            508-754-72857
            jvigliotti@rjalaw.com8
            Attorneys Moises Zanazanian9

10
Also Present:  Maura O'Neill (Via Zoom)11

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
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WITNESS:                                     PAGE:                 3
MOISES ZANAZANIAN4

BY MR. LOONEY 75
*****6

EXHIBITS:                                     PAGE:7
No. 1, Booking Desk Video No. 1 618
No. 2, Booking Video 659
No. 3, Report to the Police Commissioner, 8810
       Department Injury Report, 9/29/1811
No. 4, Departmental and Inter-Departmental10012
       Correspondence, Amendment to GO13
       17-06 Protocol and Guidelines for14
       Transporting Pre-Arraignment15
       Prisoners to HCSD Regional Lock-Up16
       Facilities, 11/9/1717
No. 5, E-Mail Chain 13118
No. 6, Sergeant and Superior Officer's 13319
       Report20
No. 7, E-Mail from Phillip Tarpey to 13721
       Stephen Wyszynski, 11/28/1822
No. 8, Handwritten Notes, 11/29/18, Bates 14523
       No. 000134824
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50
I believe her right leg.1 A.
Any other photographs?2 Q.
Not that I can recall, no.3 A.
Who took these photographs?4 Q.
I don't know.  It's either the5 A.

detective bureau or somebody from the detective6
bureau.7

Why were photographs taken of her8 Q.
right leg?9

Because she told me she had an injury.10 A.
What did she tell you about her11 Q.

injury?12
She said that she had gotten into an13 A.

accident a week, maybe a week prior to that,14
injury.15

Did you look at her leg?16 Q.
I really didn't; I really didn't.  I17 A.

don't remember.18
Did anyone take Madelyn's pulse?19 Q.

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.20
No, no.21 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did anyone take her22 Q.

temperature?23
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.24

51
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.1

No.2 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did anyone take her3 Q.

blood pressure?4
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.5
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.6

No.7 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did anyone listen to8 Q.

her chest?9
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.10
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.11

No.12 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did anyone listen to13 Q.

her breathing?14
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.15

No.16 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did anyone ask17 Q.

Madelyn how long she had been having difficulty18
breathing?19

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.20
No.21 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did anyone ask22 Q.

Madelyn how long her chest had been caving in?23
No.24 A.

52
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.1

(By Mr. Looney) Did anyone ask her2 Q.
how long her complaints or injuries had been3
occurring?4

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.5
Not that I can recall, no.6 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did anyone ask7 Q.

Madelyn any health diagnostic questions?8
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.9
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.10

No.11 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Was Madelyn given12 Q.

any medical care?13
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.14
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.15

She was given water.16 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Do you consider17 Q.

giving water to be a form of medical care?18
When she said she's thirsty and she19 A.

wants water, yes.20
Was there any other medical care21 Q.

given to Madelyn?22
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.23

No.24 A.

53
(By Mr. Looney) Was she given any1 Q.

first aid?2
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.3

No.4 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Was she given any5 Q.

medication?6
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.7

That's not part of the booking8 A.
procedures, no.9

(By Mr. Looney) Was she given any10 Q.
pain relievers like ibuprofen or Tylenol?11

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.12
That's not part of the booking13 A.

proceedings.14
(By Mr. Looney) Respectfully, you15 Q.

didn't answer my question.16
No.  That's not part of the procedures.17 A.
So no, she wasn't given pain18 Q.

relievers?19
Correct.20 A.
Was she given an ice pack?21 Q.

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.22
No.  That's not part of the booking23 A.

procedure.24
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54
(By Mr. Looney) Was she given any1 Q.

bandages?2
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.3
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.4

No.5 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did you call a6 Q.

medical professional to come out?7
No.8 A.
Did you consult with a medical9 Q.

professional about Madelyn?10
No.11 A.
Did you decide at any time to send12 Q.

Madelyn to a hospital?13
No.14 A.
Did you decide at any time to call15 Q.

an ambulance for Madelyn?16
No.17 A.
Did anyone working the booking18 Q.

shifts comment on Madelyn's medical condition?19
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.20

Not that I know of.21 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did Officer McNabb22 Q.

make any comments about Madelyn's condition?23
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.24

55
No.1 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did Sheila Rodriguez2 Q.

make any comments about Madelyn's condition?3
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.4

No.5 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did anyone working6 Q.

the booking shift suggest that a medical7
professional be called?8

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.9
No.10 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did anyone in11 Q.

booking suggest that an ambulance be called for12
Madelyn?13

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.14
No.15 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did anyone working16 Q.

at booking suggest that Madelyn be taken to the17
hospital?18

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.19
No.20 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Officer Zanazanian,21 Q.

what ultimately did you decide to do with22
regard to Madelyn's request for medical23
assistance?24

56
Well, later, when she came in, I looked1 A.

at her.  Like I said, I do an assessment,2
observation, physical, mentally, make sure she's3
telling me all her information, make sure she's4
coherent.  And it's an overall evaluation.5

And that's what a supervisor sergeant6
is supposed to do.  You take an overall7
evaluation, make sure she's coherent, she's8
physically fit as far as I can tell by the9
observation when I'm talking to her.10

So if she can give me all her11
information, she's coherent, she's able to give12
me somebody else's name and able to answer all my13
questions, that's part of the observation.14

Respectfully, you didn't answer my15 Q.
question.16

Could you repeat that.17 A.
MR. LOONEY:  Ms. Good, could you18

please read back my question.19
(Question read back as follows:20
"QUESTION:  Officer Zanazanian, what21

ultimately did you decide to do with regard to22
Madelyn's request for medical assistance?")23

That's what I said.  I evaluated her.24 A.

57
As I was looking at her physically, mentally, I1
did that observation.  And at that time, was no2
need for her to go to the hospital.3

So you decided not to send her to4 Q.
the hospital?5

She didn't need medical care at that6 A.
point.7

You decided that?8 Q.
Yes.9 A.
What ultimately did you decide to do10 Q.

with regard to Madelyn's complaint about her11
chest caving in and difficulty breathing?12

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.13
At that time, when she told me she14 A.

was -- like I said, she said that her chest was15
caving in, she had no problems breathing.  She16
had no problem telling me all her information.17

At that time, I assessed, I believe,18
for her not to have any heart attack or anything19
like that, as my observation.20

(By Mr. Looney) Respectfully, you21 Q.
didn't answer my question.22

Repeat that.23 A.
MR. LOONEY:  Ms. Good, would you24
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(Video played.)1
As in the first video we watched,2 Q.

you and Officer McNabb are behind the booking3
counter, correct?4

Correct.5 A.
And Madelyn walks out with Sheila6 Q.

Rodriguez and stands on the other side of the7
booking counter, correct?8

That's correct.9 A.
And there's another officer who10 Q.

appears on the right of the screen.  Who is11
that officer?12

That is officer -- I'm horrible with13 A.
names.  I've forgotten the officer's name.14

So in contrast with the first video15 Q.
we looked at, there is no audio with this16
video, correct?17

That's correct.18 A.
At the very beginning of the video,19 Q.

you see Officer McNabb approach the middle of20
the counter, correct?21

I'm happy to go back and look.22
What was that?23 A.
At the beginning of the video, we24 Q.

67
see Officer McNabb approach the middle of the1
counter, correct?2

Yes.3 A.
Is that a button in the middle of4 Q.

the counter there?5
Yes.6 A.
Does that button activate audio7 Q.

recording?8
Audio, yes.9 A.
Officer McNabb does not activate the10 Q.

audio recording, correct?11
That's correct.12 A.
Why not?13 Q.

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.14
It's an oversight.  It's actually just15 A.

an oversight, that it should have been pulled but16
it wasn't.17

MR. LOONEY:  I would like to go back18
to watch just a few seconds, so let's go back to19
watch at 7:38:32.20

(Video played.)21
At 7:38:32, you make a gesture to22 Q.

Officer McNabb, correct?23
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.24

68
There was no gesture.  I don't see it.1 A.
(By Mr. Looney) I can replay it.2 Q.

MR. DAY:  Josh, this is Tom Day.3
Am I supposed to be seeing 7:32:38 on4

my screen, because I'm not?  Or 7:38:32?  I'm5
seeing 7:38:36 and it's frozen.6

MR. LOONEY:  I'm going to move back7
to 7:38:32.8

MR. DAY:  I just wanted to make sure9
I wasn't frozen.10

MR. LOONEY:  Let me replay this.11
(Video played.)12

Did you make a motion with your13 Q.
hands?14

No.15 A.
MR. LOONEY:  I can replay it again.16
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  He's answered the17

question.18
MR. DAY:  Could you let it play.19
MR. LOONEY:  I'll go back a little20

farther to 7:38:26.21
I would like to direct your22 Q.

attention to what you're doing in this video.23
            (Video played.)24

69
Did you raise your finger toward1 Q.

Officer McNabb?2
There was a raised finger, yeah.3 A.
Why did you raise your finger like4 Q.

that?5
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.6

I have no idea.7 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Were you instructing8 Q.

Officer McNabb to not activate the audio9
recording?10

No.11 A.
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Could you let it play12

one more time.  I want to see it again.13
MR. LOONEY:  Sure.  I'm going back to14

7:38:28.15
(Video played.)16
MR. DAY:  Could you play it at17

regular speed?  Was that regular speed?18
MR. LOONEY:  That's regular speed.19

I don't recall.  I still don't recall.20 A.
This is the video you reviewed prior21 Q.

to this deposition?22
Yes.23 A.

MR. LOONEY:  I would like to go now24
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Yes.1 A.
Was your badge ID number 76522 as2 Q.

it's listed next to your signature?3
Yes.4 A.
Madelyn's condition is described as5 Q.

good, correct?6
Yes.7 A.
And next to "Examined by" there is8 Q.

N/A, correct?9
Correct.10 A.
And does N/A mean not applicable11 Q.

here?12
Yes.13 A.
And there's nothing next to14 Q.

"Attended by a doctor," correct?15
Correct.16 A.
Next to "Marks or bruises," it says:17 Q.
"Ms. Grant complained of her right18

knee and her right foot being swollen.  She19
stated that she needed water because she felt20
like she was going to faint.  Water was given21
to Ms. Grant and felt better."22

Did I read that correctly?23
Correct.24 A.

95
Next to "How caused," it says:1 Q.
"Ms. Grant stated that she woke up a2

few days ago and noticed that her right knee3
and right foot were swollen."4

Did I read that correctly?5
Correct.6 A.
The Ms. Grant referred to here in7 Q.

Exhibit 3, is that Madelyn Linsenmeir?8
Yes.9 A.
Exhibit 3 doesn't contain all of10 Q.

Ms. Linsenmeir's complaints about her11
condition, correct?12

Correct.13 A.
What information does it not14 Q.

contain?15
That her chest felt like it was caving16 A.

in.17
Why doesn't it contain that?18 Q.

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.19
At that time, like I said, I assessed20 A.

her and I came to a conclusion that she was fine,21
she was better and she was all set.22

(By Mr. Looney) You determined that23 Q.
her chest feeling like it was caving in wasn't24

96
something to include on this report?1

That's correct.  Like I said, I did my2 A.
assessment, I looked at her, I talked to her, and3
she felt better after I gave her water.4

This report doesn't contain her5 Q.
complaints about difficulty breathing, correct?6

Correct.7 A.
Why not?8 Q.
Like I said, I assessed her and after I9 A.

assessed her, like I said, and she appeared to be10
talking to me, she appeared to answer all my11
questions, so at that time, I made an assessment.12

Did you tell anyone else that13 Q.
Madelyn had stated that her chest was caving14
in?15

No.16 A.
Did you tell anyone else that17 Q.

Madelyn said she was having difficulty18
breathing?19

No.20 A.
Did you believe Madelyn when she21 Q.

said she was having difficulty breathing?22
At that time, as I was speaking to her,23 A.

I did not believe her.24

97
Did you believe her when she said1 Q.

her chest was caving in?2
At that time, like I said, I assessed3 A.

her, she wanted water, and I observed her and I4
did not believe her.5

Sergeant Zanazanian, is difficulty6 Q.
breathing a serious symptom?7

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.8
Not if you're able to speak, if you're9 A.

able to communicate.10
(By Mr. Looney) What is the basis11 Q.

for your answer there?12
Like I said, with my observation, as13 A.

best as I could, I observed her.  She appeared to14
answer all my questions.  Her demeanor.15

Can difficulty breathing be a16 Q.
serious symptoms?17

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.18
If, like I said, if she's having19 A.

difficulty talking, breathing, if she's not20
talking, she's not coherent, yes, it could be.21

(By Mr. Looney) Respectfully, my22 Q.
question is more general.23

Generally, can difficulty breathing24
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Bates CO SID 000473.1

(Marked, Exhibit No. 13, Memorandum2
of Agreement, Bates No. CO SID 000473.)3

Sergeant Zanazanian, are you4 Q.
familiar with Exhibit 13?5

Yes.6 A.
You've seen this before?7 Q.
Yes.8 A.
This is a memorandum of agreement9 Q.

between and among the City of Springfield and10
the Springfield Police Supervisors Association11
and Moises Zanazanian, correct?12

Correct.13 A.
On the second page, is that your14 Q.

signature?15
Yes.16 A.
And your signature is dated March17 Q.

13, 2019, correct?18
Correct.19 A.
Did you review this agreement before20 Q.

you signed it?21
Yes.22 A.
Were you represented by an attorney23 Q.

in connection with this agreement?24

167
Yes.1 A.
Was it counsel Vigliotti?2 Q.
Yes.3 A.
Other than discussions with your4 Q.

counsel, did you speak to anybody about this5
agreement before you signed it?6

No.7 A.
Can you tell me why you signed this8 Q.

agreement?9
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.10

I agreed with my attorney, speaking11 A.
with my attorney.12

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  I instruct you not to13
divulge any discussions regarding this agreement.14

(By Mr. Looney) I would like to look15 Q.
at the third whereas clause.  It reads:16

"Whereas, the City conducted an17
investigation into the incident surrounding the18
arrest and booking of an individual,19
Ms. Madelyn Linsenmeir, on or about September20
29, 2018."21

Did I read that correctly?22
Yes.23 A.
And then next whereas clause reads:24 Q.

168
"Whereas, on December 26, 2018,1

retired Police Commissioner John Barry issued a2
notice of inter-departmental disciplinary3
charges, SO #18-26,1 to Zanazanian arising out4
of the booking of Ms. Linsenmeir."5

Did I read that correctly?6
Yes.7 A.
Following that, it says:8 Q.
"Whereas, a hearing was to be9

scheduled in order to consider whether there10
exists just cause to discipline Zanazanian."11

Did I read that correctly?12
Yes.13 A.
Does that refresh your recollection14 Q.

about whether a hearing was scheduled?15
I still don't recall.  I don't16 A.

remember.17
I'd like to turn to the bottom of18 Q.

the first page, numbered Paragraph 1.  That19
starts Discipline and continues to the second20
page.21

Would you read that paragraph,22
please.23

One more time.24 A.

169
Could you read Paragraph No. 1.1 Q.
"Discipline.  The parties agree that2 A.

there is just cause for the imposition" --3
You don't have to read it out loud.4 Q.

You can just read it to yourself.5
(Pause.)6

The first sentence says:7 Q.
"The parties agree that there is8

just cause for the imposition of discipline9
under SO No. 18-261 for violation of Rule 29 of10
the City of Springfield Police Department rules11
and regulations."12

Did I read that correctly?13
That's correct.14 A.
What is Rule 29 of the City of15 Q.

Springfield Police Department rules and16
regulations?17

I'd have to look.18 A.
MR. LOONEY:  Let's take another look19

at Exhibit 10.20
(Pause.)21

Could you look at the third22 Q.
paragraph in Exhibit 10 that starts with Rule23
29, Conduct.24
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Do you see that there?1
Yes.2 A.
Do you see the next paragraph says3 Q.

Rule 29, Directives and Orders?4
Yes.5 A.
Does that refresh your recollection6 Q.

what Rule 29 is, those two paragraphs?7
Yes.8 A.
I would like to go back to9 Q.

Exhibit 13.10
Looking again at numbered paragraph11

1, Discipline, and the first sentence, did you12
agree that there was just cause for the13
imposition of discipline?14

Yes.15 A.
Aside from discussions with counsel,16 Q.

what led you to agree with that?17
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.18

I violated Rule 29.19 A.
(By Mr. Looney) What did you20 Q.

understand that you were agreeing to there?21
The violation.22 A.
Can you tell me specifically what23 Q.

the violation of Rule 29 was?24

171
Not specifically.1 A.
How did you violate Rule 29 with2 Q.

regard to Madelyn Linsenmeir?3
Violation of procedures.4 A.
What procedures did you violate?5 Q.
I don't know.6 A.
Were you agreeing that something7 Q.

happened or didn't happen that was a problem?8
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.9

Yes.10 A.
(By Mr. Looney) What was that11 Q.

specifically?12
Medical attention.13 A.
Can you explain why medical14 Q.

attention?15
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.16

No, I can't explain.17 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Just so the record18 Q.

is clear, were you agreeing that medical19
attention should have been provided?20

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.21
No.  I guess at that time, I did the22 A.

best that I could with the knowledge that I had23
and I provided her with the best care that I24

172
could.1

(By Mr. Looney) So what conduct of2 Q.
yours was there just cause for the imposition3
of discipline then?4

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.5
I don't know.6 A.
(By Mr. Looney) You agreed there7 Q.

was, correct?8
Yes.9 A.
But you don't know why you were10 Q.

disciplined?11
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.12

That's correct.13 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did you think that14 Q.

this agreement was fair?15
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.16

Yes.17 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Why was it fair?18 Q.

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.19
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.20
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Again, if it's from21

discussions with counsel, you're instructed not22
to answer.23

That's what I was going to say.  I24 A.

173
spoke to my counsel.1

(By Mr. Looney) Respectfully, I'm2 Q.
not asking about discussions with counsel; I'm3
asking why did you think this agreement was4
fair.5

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.6
Rule 29, I believe it's a catch-all, so7 A.

that's why I believe I got two days suspension.8
(By Mr. Looney) How did you violate9 Q.

Rule 29?10
I don't know.11 A.
Did you violate Rule 29 with regard12 Q.

to your interactions with Madelyn Linsenmeir?13
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.14

Yes.15 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Can you explain to16 Q.

me why your interactions with Madelyn17
Linsenmeir violated Rule 29?18

I can't explain to you.19 A.
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.20

(By Mr. Looney) Do you think you did21 Q.
anything wrong?22

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.23
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.  This has24
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been asked and answered many times now.1

MR. LOONEY:  Respectfully, Counsel,2
it has not.  I'm asking him if he believes he did3
something wrong.4

Yes.5 A.
(By Mr. Looney) What do you believe6 Q.

you did wrong?7
MS. DeSOUSA:  I'm having trouble8

hearing you.9
(By Mr. Looney) What did you believe10 Q.

you did wrong?11
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.12

What was the question again?13 A.
MR. LOONEY:  Ms. Good, could you read14

my question back.15
(Question read.)16
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.17

Like I said, at the time, at that time,18 A.
at that place, I did the best I could and, you19
know, with what I had, the information that I20
had, so . . .21

(By Mr. Looney) Were your actions22 Q.
regarding Madelyn consistent with the23
Springfield Police Department policy as it24

175
existed in September 2018?1

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.2
Yes.3 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Were your actions4 Q.

with regard to Madelyn consistent with5
Springfield Police Department policy with6
regard to injured prisoners?7

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.8
Could you repeat that.9 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Were your actions10 Q.

regarding Madelyn consistent with Springfield11
Police Department policy regarding injured12
prisoners in 2018?13

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.14
No.15 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Why?16 Q.
Because I got a two-day suspension.17 A.
Can you explain to me what policies18 Q.

you violated with regard to injured prisoners?19
Could you repeat that.20 A.

MR. LOONEY:  Ms. Good, could you read21
my question back.22

(Question read.)23
Documentation.  That's the only thing I24 A.

176
can think of, documenting.1

You can't think of anything else?2 Q.
That's it.3 A.

MR. LOONEY:  I would like to4
introduce Exhibit 14.5

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  If we're going to6
another subject, would this be a good time to7
take a five-minute break?8

MR. LOONEY:  We can take a break.9
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Thank you.10
(Recess.)11
MR. LOONEY:  Back on the record.12

I would like to go back to13 Q.
Exhibit 13.  Was your suspension negotiated in14
return for signing this agreement?15

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.16
I don't know what you mean by17 A.

"negotiated."18
(By Mr. Looney) Was there a deal19 Q.

that you would get a two-day suspension if you20
signed this agreement?21

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.22
No.  There was no agreement.23 A.

MS. DeSOUSA:  I'm having trouble24

177
hearing both of you now.1

MR. LOONEY:  I'm sorry, Lisa.  We'll2
speak up.3

After you signed this agreement, you4 Q.
received a notice of suspension, correct?5

Yes.6 A.
Were the contents of that notice of7 Q.

suspension agreed to in relation to this8
agreement?9

Could you repeat that.10 A.
The notice of suspension that you11 Q.

received, were the contents of the notice of12
suspension agreed to beforehand in connection13
with this agreement?14

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.15
I don't follow you.16 A.
(By Mr. Looney) The notice of17 Q.

suspension that you received, did you discuss18
beforehand what the contents of that notice19
would include?20

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.21
No.22 A.
(By Mr. Looney) Did you negotiate23 Q.

what the contents of that notice of suspension24
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City of Springfield, Massachusetts 
Department of Police 

REPORT TO THE POLICE COMMISSIONER 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF CHAPTER 276 OF THE GENERAL LAWS 

      

  
  

  

  

Date 09/29/2018 Time 1716 Hrs Arrest Report # 18-3399-AR 

Arresting Officer(s) Jonathon Torres ID # 4261538 

Arresting Officer(s) William Catellier ID # 227505 

Prisoner Madelyn Linsenmeir Condition Good 
    

Marks or Bruises Ms. Grant complained of her right knee and right foot being 

swollen. She stated that she needed water because she felt like she was 

  

  

going to faint. Water was given to Ms. Grant and felt better. 
  

How Caused Ms. Grant stated that she woke up a few days ago and noticed 

that her right knee and right foot were swollen. 
  

  

  

    

  

Examined by NIA Attended By Dr. 

Remarks 

TASER Form Submitted 0O.C. Form Submitted 

i 11] < 
Name of Officer that took Photographs: Cadet Samantha Richards m# HD “Jo 

Booking Sergeant (Signature) ut Ped Zuo ID # 76522 

Uniform Shift Supervisor signa) Ser A = 1p 4 58830 

INFORMATION BELOW LINE TO BE COMPLETED BY QUALITY ASSURANCE DIVISION 

    

    

    

  

IMC Report ht Photographs ~p Officer Reports (If Required) 
  

  
    

  

  

  

    

  

Reviewed By Chor ID# (705 2 Date }t.%-\ of 

No Additional Action Required \ 

Sent Back for Further Action by Squad Commander Note 

Additional Action Required PD 

1. Referred to ITU for Investigation S.O. # 

2. Referred to Major Crimes for Investigation S.O.# 

Approved Chor / fry L ID # J26 oY 
  

Effective Date: 08 02 2018 FKevision Date: 08 06 2018 

CoS I.D. 0001340 

   

City of Springfield, Massachusetts 
Department of Police 

REPORT TO THE POLICE COMMISSIONER 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF CHAPTER 276 OF THE GENERAL LAWS 

      

  
  

  

  

Date 09/29/2018 Time 1716 Hrs Arrest Report # 18-3399-AR 

Arresting Officer(s) Jonathon Torres ID # 4261538 

Arresting Officer(s) William Catellier ID # 227505 

Prisoner Madelyn Linsenmeir Condition Good 
    

Marks or Bruises Ms. Grant complained of her right knee and right foot being 

swollen. She stated that she needed water because she felt like she was 

  

  

going to faint. Water was given to Ms. Grant and felt better. 
  

How Caused Ms. Grant stated that she woke up a few days ago and noticed 

that her right knee and right foot were swollen. 
  

  

  

    

  

Examined by NIA Attended By Dr. 

Remarks 

TASER Form Submitted 0O.C. Form Submitted 

i [a 
Name of Officer that took Photographs: Cadet Samantha Richards ID# HDS “Jo 

Booking Sergeant (Signature) ut 5 Pe) Zuo ID# 76522 

Uniform Shift Supervisor Sane Sy Jr or 5 ID # 68830 

INFORMATION BELOW LINE TO BE COMPLETED Bbc QUALITY ASSURANCE DIVISION 

    

    

    

  

IMC Report ht Photographs ~p Officer Reports (If Required) 
  

  
    

  

  

  

    

  

Reviewed By Chor ID# (705 2 Date }t.%-\ of 

No Additional Action Required \ 

Sent Back for Further Action by Squad Commander Note 

Additional Action Required PD 

1. Referred to ITU for Investigation S.O. # 

2. Referred to Major Crimes for Investigation S.O.# 

Approved Chor / fry L ID # J26 oy 
  

Effective Date: 08 02 2018 FKevision Date: 08 06 2018 

CoS I.D. 0001340 

   
CoS I.D. 0001340
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ACLU Foundation of Massachusetts  211 Congress St., Boston, MA 02110 • 617.482.3170 • www.aclum.org 

Daniel L. McFadden 
Staff Attorney 
(617) 482-3170 ext. 171 
dmcfadden@aclum.org 

 
   October 15, 2018 

 
Via Electronic Submission  
 
Springfield Police Department 
130 Pearl St 
Springfield, MA 01105 
 

Re:  Madelyn Linsenmeir 
   

To whom it may concern:  
 

 This is a request for public records under M.G.L. ch. 66, § 10, made on behalf 
of Maureen Linsenmeir and Maura O’Neill.  

 On September 29, 2018, Madelyn Linsenmeir was arrested, booked, and 
detained by the Springfield Police Department.  She was later transferred to the 
custody of the Hampden County Sheriff’s Department.  She died in custody on 
October 7, 2018.   

 The ACLU Foundation of Massachusetts (the “ACLUM”) represents Maureen 
Linsenmeir and Maura O’Neill (who are Madelyn Linsenmeir’s mother and sister, 
respectively). 

 Please provide the following records: 

1. All documents relating to Madelyn Linsenmeir’s arrest, booking, and 
detention, including without limitation any: 

- Arrest report; 
 

- Police officer narrative; 
 

- Criminal complaint; and 
 

- Notes, correspondence, and reports relating to the arrest, booking, 
and any related investigation. 

2. All audio and video recordings relating to Madelyn Linsenmeir’s arrest, 
booking, and detention, including without limitation: 
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- Any audio or video recording of Madelyn Linsenmeir’s arrest and 
the circumstances leading up to it, including any recordings made 
by police vehicle cameras or police body cameras; 
 

- Any audio or video recording of Madelyn Linsenmeir’s transport at 
or after the time of her arrest;  

 
- Any audio or video recording of Madelyn Linsenmeir’s booking on 

September 29, 2018; and 
 

- Any audio or video recording of Madelyn Linsenmeir’s detention on 
or after September 29, 2018. 

3. All records of telephone calls made or received by Madelyn Linsenmeir on or 
after September 29, 2018; 

4. All audio and video recordings of telephone calls made or received by 
Madelyn Linsenmeir on or after September 29, 2018, including without 
limitation: 

- Any audio or video recording of any telephone call made by 
Madelyn Linsenmeir during the booking process on September 29, 
2018; and 
 

- Any audio or video recording of any telephone call made by 
Madelyn Linsenmeir between 7:00 p.m. and 8:00 p.m. on September 
29, 2018.   

5. All photographs of Madelyn Lisenmeir while in custody of Springfield Police 
Department, including without limitation any photos taken for booking, 
identification, or medical purposes; 

6. All medical records of Madelyn Lisenmeir, including all records of: 

- Any request by Madelyn Linsenmeir for medical services or 
attention on or after September 29, 2018;  
 

- Any medical evaluation or services provided to Madelyn Linsenmeir 
on or after September 29, 2018; 

 
- Any prisoner injury reports relating to Madelyn Linsenmeir; and 

 
- Any reports and other records concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir 

made pursuant to Springfield Police Department General Order 
403.30, entitled Prisoner Medications. 
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7. All records of any Officer’s visits to Madelyn Linsenmeir while she was in the 
custody of the Springfield Police Department, including any records of such 
visits made pursuant to Rule 25 of the Rules and Regulations of the 
Springfield Police Department. 

8. All records of Madelyn Linsenmeir’s transfer between custodians, including 
without limitation any record or recording of Madelyn Linsenmeir’s transfer 
to the custody of the Hampden County Sheriff’s Department; 

9. All documents, correspondence, or reports concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir 
sent to or received from government officials in New Hampshire or Vermont, 
including without limitation all records of communications with Human 
Trafficking Case Manager Katie Guilbault of Vermont concerning Ms. 
Linsenmeir;  

10. All reports, notes, interview summaries, and other documents relating to any 
investigation of Madelyn Linsenmeir’s death, or obtained or reviewed as part 
of any such investigation; 

11. All correspondence and communications between the Springfield Police 
Department and the Hampden County Sheriff’s Department concerning 
Madelyn Linsenmeir, her death, and any investigation thereof;  

12. All other public records concerning, relating or referring to Madelyn 
Linsenmeir that are in the possession of the Springfield Police Department; 
and 

13. Any complaints of willful maltreatment of a prisoner made against 
Springfield Police Officers from January 1, 2013, to the present, and any 
records of the adjudication of such complaints, including any findings made 
and any discipline imposed. 

Because this request involves a matter of public concern and is made by a non-profit 
organization on behalf of the decedent’s family members, I ask that you waive any fees 
and copying costs, including pursuant to 950 C.M.R. 32.07.  

 
If you withhold some portions of the requested documents on the grounds that they 

are exempt from disclosure, please specify which exemptions apply and release any 
portions of the records for which you do not claim an exemption. 

 
As you know, a custodian of public records shall comply with a request within ten 

days of receipt.  
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October 15, 2018 
 

 

Thank you for your assistance.  Please do not hesitate to contact me 
if I can clarify any part of this request. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
  /s/ Daniel L. McFadden    
  

Daniel L. McFadden 
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Springfield Police Department 
Sergeant and Superior Officer’s Report 

11-27-18 

Special To: Captain P. Tarpey 
RE: Linsenmeir, Madelyn Civil Suit 

Sir, 
I respectfully report the following: 

On 11-27-18 Captain P. Tarpey provided me a copy of the civil suit and City of 
Springfield Law Department letter indicating that all related video and arrest report 
information be preserved. I reviewed the paperwork to be certain that I was complying 

with all portions. There was mention in the paperwork of medical treatment requests 
being made during phone calls to family. I reviewed the booking process video to 
determine if all possible audio was clear. During the booking process of Ms. M. 
Linsenmeir she had initially identified herself as someone else to the Booking Sgt. Ms. 

M. Linsenmeir indicated that she was in need of water, and also indicated that she wanted 

to go to the hospital. The Booking Sgt. made inquiry of the reasons and indicated that an 
assessment would be made for that request at the completion of the booking process. A 
later telephone call was provided to Ms. M. Linsenmeir that was not audio recorded by 

the booking desk video. 
After I learned of this information, I informed Captain P. Tarpey of the information for 

his review and additional follow up. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Sot pL; r. bi 
Sergeant Albert BT Witkowsky Sgt# 2 

075674 

CoS 1.D. 0001352 
   

Springfield Police Department 
Sergeant and Superior Officer’s Report 

11-27-18 

Special To: Captain P. Tarpey 
RE: Linsenmeir, Madelyn Civil Suit 

Sir, 
I respectfully report the following: 

On 11-27-18 Captain P. Tarpey provided me a copy of the civil suit and City of 
Springfield Law Department letter indicating that all related video and arrest report 
information be preserved. I reviewed the paperwork to be certain that I was complying 

with all portions. There was mention in the paperwork of medical treatment requests 
being made during phone calls to family. I reviewed the booking process video to 
determine if all possible audio was clear. During the booking process of Ms. M. 
Linsenmeir she had initially identified herself as someone else to the Booking Sgt. Ms. 

M. Linsenmeir indicated that she was in need of water, and also indicated that she wanted 

to go to the hospital. The Booking Sgt. made inquiry of the reasons and indicated that an 
assessment would be made for that request at the completion of the booking process. A 
later telephone call was provided to Ms. M. Linsenmeir that was not audio recorded by 

the booking desk video. 
After I learned of this information, I informed Captain P. Tarpey of the information for 

his review and additional follow up. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Sot pL; r. bi 
Sergeant Albert BT Witkowsky Sgt# 2 

075674 

~ 
bo qa 

WK ud Vv . 

CoS 1.D. 0001352 
   

CoS I.D. 0001352
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                         Volume 1, Pages 1-271

                             Exhibits: 27-44

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

--------------------------------------------------

MAURA O'NEILL, as administrator of the Estate of 

Madelyn E. Linsenmeir,

                Plaintiff, 

 vs.                     CA No. 3:20-cv-30036

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MOISES ZANAZANIAN, 

REMINGTON McNABB, SHEILA RODRIGUEZ, HAMPDEN 

COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, and JOHN/JANE DOES 

NOS. 1-5,

                Defendants.

--------------------------------------------------

REMOTE DEPOSITION OF MONIQUE McCOY

Tuesday, July 12, 2022, 10:10 a.m. 

Via Zoom Video Conference

----Reporter:  Kathleen L. Good, CSR, RPR----

K. L. GOOD & ASSOCIATES

Post Office Box 367

Swampscott, Massachusetts 01907

Tel. 781-367-0815      Kathleen.Good@verizon.net 
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86
read through all the documents, the attachments1
to that e-mail from November 28, so, yes, I2
believe I had an understanding of what I was3
investigating.4

At that time when you began working5 Q.
on SO 18-261, what did you understand was the6
conduct that you were investigating or the7
issues that you were investigating?8

I believe the major issue was why9 A.
Sergeant Zanazanian made the decision to not --10
to either send her or not send her to the11
hospital.12

And then the other issue was when she13
came out to make her phone call, you know, was14
there a sarcastic comment made at that time by15
one of the officers while she was on the phone16
with her mother.  It was her mother, yeah,17
mother.18

Did you understand at that time that19 Q.
Madelyn was no longer alive?20

I did.21 A.
Was her death within the scope of22 Q.

your investigation?23
Yes.  Well, no.  No, it wasn't.  I24 A.

87
mean, not her actual death because she didn't1
pass away in our custody.2

The scope of my investigation was into3
why she was never sent to the hospital and then4
the issue with the phone call, you know.5

Did you have an understanding when6 Q.
you started investigating SO 18-261 that7
Madelyn's death and the reason for her death8
were related to your investigation?9

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.10
You can answer.11

Okay.  I'm sorry.  Can you repeat that12 A.
again.13

(By Mr. McFadden) Sure.  When you14 Q.
started to conduct SO 18-261, did you have an15
understanding that Madelyn's death and the16
reason for her death were related to your17
investigation?18

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.19
Yes.20 A.
(By Mr. McFadden) I'm sorry, Sargent21 Q.

McCoy, I couldn't hear your answer.22
Yes.23 A.
In the course of conducting SO24 Q.

88
18-261, did you gather information about the1
reason for Madelyn's death?2

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.3
Not the reason for her death because I4 A.

had no knowledge at the time I was conducting my5
investigation how or why she died.  Just the6
scope of my investigation is, you know, why she7
was or was not sent to the hospital.8

(By Mr. McFadden) Did you, in the9 Q.
course of conducting 18-261, collect Madelyn's10
death certificate?11

I did.  That was a supplemental report.12 A.
Can you explain why did you collect13 Q.

that piece of information?14
Because she had passed away and I felt15 A.

that, you know, the investigation started out as,16
you know, why she didn't go to the hospital, and17
then we found out she had passed away so I18
requested the death certificate and they sent me19
a copy of it, which I included as a supplemental.20

So is it correct that over the21 Q.
course of conducting Investigation 18-261, you22
concluded that information about Madelyn's23
death was relevant to and part of your24

89
investigation?1

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.2
I'm not sure -- so you're questioning3 A.

why I got the death certificate?4
(By Mr. McFadden) Yeah.  I'm just5 Q.

asking you the question.6
Over the course of conducting the7

Investigation SO 18-261, did you conclude that8
Madelyn's death was relevant to and part of the9
investigation?10

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.11
Well, I mean, she did pass away after12 A.

leaving our custody, so I felt that at the time,13
at the end of my investigation is when I14
requested to get the death certificate, just to15
include it in as to how or why she died.16

(By Mr. McFadden) You felt that17 Q.
information about how or why Madelyn died was18
important to your investigation?19

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.20
As a supplemental, yes.  But it wasn't21 A.

the focus of my investigation, no.22
(By Mr. McFadden) But it was23 Q.

information that you had concluded was relevant24
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90
to your investigation.1

Is that correct?2
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.3

If I requested it, then I would say4 A.
yes.5

(By Mr. McFadden) Did you request6 Q.
it?7

I did.8 A.
So I understand that you started to9 Q.

conduct Investigation SO 18-261.10
Would you say that the manner in11

which you conducted Investigation 18-261 was12
typical of the way you conduct, had conducted13
investigations in the IIU up to that point?14

Yes.15 A.
At the time you started working on16 Q.

Investigation 18-261, was there anybody else17
working with you on the investigation?18

No.19 A.
At the time you started working on20 Q.

Investigation 18-261, were you aware of any21
other investigations relating to issues about22
Madelyn?23

I'm not sure if I was aware.  I know,24 A.

91
now I know that there was a, you know, a PIE --1
not a PIE -- SO 18-247, I think you mentioned,2
conducted in regards to the rings in the female3
cell block.4

At the time I was doing my5
investigation, I don't know that I was aware of6
the dates in which were the parameters for those7
rings.  And I don't know that I was aware that it8
related to the time period that Madelyn was in9
our custody.10

So at the time you started working11 Q.
on SO 18-261, did anybody tell you that SO12
18-247 was going on and might be relevant to13
your investigation?14

I don't know that I knew the number of15 A.
the SO, but I know that there's a reference on16
two cell checks in the e-mail that Captain Tarpey17
sent.18

But again, that didn't really relate to19
my case so -- and sometimes Captain Tarpey spoke20
in a way that, you know, I didn't always21
understand what he was talking about, so I'm not22
sure if I was a hundred percent aware at the time23
or, yeah, aware that the cell checks24

92
investigation was going on in regards to her time1
period within our department.2

So just so I'm clear, so at the time3 Q.
that you started SO 18-261, was it your4
understanding that something was going on in5
terms of investigating cell checks, but you did6
not understand that it overlapped with the time7
period that Madelyn was in your custody?8

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.9
I'm not -- I don't even know if I knew10 A.

there was an actual investigation going on at the11
time.  I didn't remember the number until, you12
know -- I mean, I reviewed it, so it wasn't my13
case, I didn't conduct that investigation, so all14
I know is there's a reference to cell checks and15
some previous IIU investigation.16

I didn't know anything about it so I17
know I didn't do the investigation so I didn't --18
I probably didn't inquire further.19

(By Mr. McFadden) At the time that20 Q.
you were starting SO 18-261, were you aware of21
a PIE investigation relating to Madelyn?22

I don't believe so, no.23 A.
At the time you started SO 18-261,24 Q.

93
were you aware of any investigations regarding1
Madelyn that were being undertaken by agencies2
outside of the SPD?3

Oh, no, no.4 A.
Could you tell me, when you5 Q.

conducted SO 18-261, what were the actions you6
took as part of your investigation?7

I gathered the supporting documents, so8 A.
it would have been TeleStaff rosters, calls for9
service, the arrest report, dispatch recordings,10
the booking videos, booking photographs, personal11
injury reports, interviewing of officers, their12
reports.13

Just to make sure I understand, so14 Q.
to conduct Investigation SO 18-261, you15
gathered certain documents; you interviewed16
officers; and you collected officer reports.17

Is that right?18
Yes.  And video and dispatch audio,19 A.

yes.20
Did you -- were there any other21 Q.

steps that were part of Investigation 18-261?22
Do you want to know where the case went23 A.

after I completed?  Are you still talking about24
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234
No.  No one consulted me.1 A.

MR. McFADDEN:  This is a document2
that we can mark as Exhibit 42.3

(Marked, Exhibit No.  42, Notice of4
Suspension Without Pay Letter, SO 18-261,5
3/18/19.)6

(Screen shared.)7
Sargent McCoy, showing you a8 Q.

document marked Exhibit 42.9
Do you see that it's a letter titled10

Notice of Suspension Without Pay, SO 18-261,11
dated March 18, 2019?12

I see that.13 A.
Do you recognize this document?14 Q.
I do.15 A.
What is this document, Exhibit 42?16 Q.
It's the suspension notice issued to17 A.

Sergeant Zanazanian.18
I'll show you here are the19 Q.

signatures at the bottom.20
At the very bottom of Exhibit 42, it21

says Sergeant McCoy.22
Is that your signature?23
It is.24 A.

235
Did you, in fact, serve this notice1 Q.

on Sergeant Zanazanian?2
I did.3 A.
At the time you served this on4 Q.

Sergeant Zanazanian, Exhibit 42, did you have5
any conversation with him?6

I don't believe so.7 A.
Did he say anything when he received8 Q.

this notice?9
Not that I can recall.10 A.
Did you draft this document,11 Q.

Exhibit 42?12
I did.13 A.
How did you decide when you were14 Q.

drafting it what information to include in15
Exhibit 42?16

We generally include, like, a brief17 A.
summary of the case, and then usually there's a18
paragraph or a few lines in there as to why he's19
being suspended, he or she, and that would be the20
last paragraph.21

And it's written from the22
commissioner's perspective because, ultimately,23
he or she is the one that signs it.  They review24

236
it.  They sign it if they agree with it.  Like I1
said, they review it.  If they agree with it,2
they sign it.3

Prior to drafting this document,4 Q.
Exhibit 42, did you have a conversation with5
the commissioner or anybody else about what6
facts should be included in it?7

I did not.8 A.
How did you go about selecting the9 Q.

facts to include in Exhibit 42?10
Well, I conducted the investigation so11 A.

it was a brief summation of when she arrived at12
the -- under arrest in the booking area, some of13
the things she would have said, some of the14
things that she would have pointed out, and,15
ultimately, her passing seven days after, you16
know, being transferred to the Women's17
Correctional Center.18

And like I said, the last paragraph is19
why he would have been suspended.20

Let's just look at that last21 Q.
paragraph.  The first sentence says:22

"As a supervisor, it is your job to23
use good judgment and to be conscientious of24

237
when someone is in need of medical attention1
and provide it when needed."2

Did I read that correctly?3
Yes.4 A.
Was it, in fact, the position of the5 Q.

IIU and the city that it was Sergeant6
Zanazanian's responsibility to use good7
judgment and be conscientious of when someone8
is in need of medical attention and provide it9
when needed?10

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.11
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.12

Well, like I said, I wrote it from the13 A.
point of view of the Police Commissioner.  And if14
he or she disagreed with it at the time, then15
they would have told me to reword it, but they16
did not.17

(By Mr. McFadden) When you -- yes.18 Q.
So when you wrote here in Exhibit 42, to19
Sergeant Zanazanian, "It's your job to use good20
judgment and to be conscientious of when21
someone is in need of medical attention and to22
provide it when needed," and you presented that23
language to the police commissioner, did the24
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238
commissioner tell you that was wrong?1

No.2 A.
Did the police commissioner have you3 Q.

change that language in any way?4
No.5 A.
Did the police commissioner, in6 Q.

fact, sign this letter, Exhibit 42?7
Yes.8 A.
You wrote:9 Q.
"I have concluded that you used poor10

judgment in not calling an ambulance to assess11
Ms. Linsenmeir's condition and failed to send12
her to the hospital for treatment."13

Did I read that correctly?14
Yes.15 A.
Is the "I" in that sentence, the16 Q.

police commissioner?17
It is.18 A.

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.19
(By Mr. McFadden) Is the "you" in20 Q.

that sentence, Sergeant Zanazanian?21
Yes.22 A.
When you presented to the police23 Q.

commissioner the language in Exhibit 42, "I24

239
have concluded that you used poor judgment in1
not calling an ambulance to assess2
Ms. Linsenmeir's condition and failed to send3
her to the hospital for treatment," did the4
commissioner tell you that he or she disagreed5
with that language in any way?6

No.7 A.
Did the commissioner change any of8 Q.

that language?9
No.10 A.
Did the commissioner sign this11 Q.

letter, Exhibit 42?12
Yes.13 A.

MR. McFADDEN:  Why don't we take five14
minutes and then I have another half hour or so.15
So come back at 4:10.16

(Recess.)17
MR. McFADDEN:  Back on the record.18
I'm going to show you a document and19

we can mark this as Exhibit 43.20
(Marked, Exhibit No. 43, General21

Order 17-06A, 11/8/17.)22
Do you see this says General Order23 Q.

17-06A --24
240

MS. DeSOUSA:  It's not on the screen.1
MR. McFADDEN:  Sorry.  My fault.2
(Screen shared.)3
MR. McFADDEN:  Is it on the screen4

now?5
THE WITNESS:  Yes.6

You see this says General Order7 Q.
17-06A, dated November 8, 2017?8

Yes.9 A.
MR. McFADDEN:  We'll mark this as10

Exhibit 23, I'm sorry, Exhibit 43.11
Scrolling down through General Order12 Q.

17-06A, and it says:13
"Section 2.  Medical conditions.14
"A.  Any medical condition that15

exists at booking must be addressed and16
resolved before transport to the HCSD17
facility."18

Did I read that correctly?19
Yes.20 A.
Did you ever investigate whether21 Q.

there were any violations of GO 17-06A in22
connection with Madelyn's time in SPD's23
custody?  No?24

241
No.1 A.
Did you ever investigate whether at2 Q.

the time Madelyn was transferred from SPD3
custody to Hampden County Sheriff's Department4
custody, SPD personnel gave any information5
about Madelyn's medical condition to the6
Hampden County Sheriff's Department?7

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.8
I'm not aware of whether they did or9 A.

they didn't.10
(By Mr. McFadden) Okay.  I'm just11 Q.

asking -- let me rephrase the question.12
You're aware that Madelyn was in SPD13

custody on September 29 and 30 of --14
Yes.15 A.
-- 2018, correct?16 Q.
Yes.17 A.
You're aware that on September 30,18 Q.

2018, Madelyn was transferred to Hampden County19
Sheriff's Department custody?20

Yes.21 A.
Can we call it, the Hampden County22 Q.

Sheriff's Department, HCSD?23
Sure.24 A.
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242
Did you ever investigate whether at1 Q.

the time that Madelyn was transferred on2
September 30, 2018, from SPD custody to HCSD3
custody, SPD personnel provided any medical4
information about her to HCSD?5

I did not.6 A.
During Investigation SO 18-261, did7 Q.

you ever communicate with any representative of8
Hampden County Sheriff's Department about that9
investigation?10

That's a good question.  I can't11 A.
remember if I called them.  I know I had a12
previous case once that I had called them and13
they gave me -- I spoke to one of the nurses14
there and they gave me information.15

I may have called the Sheriff's16
Department asking for any information on her, but17
for the life of me, I can't remember if I did or18
I didn't.19

(Screen share stopped.)20
I'm just asking for your memory.21 Q.
Yeah.  I don't remember.22 A.
Okay.  So just to be clear, because23 Q.

I think I asked kind of a wordy question:24

243
When you were conducting1

Investigation SO 18-261, do you have any memory2
of calling or otherwise communicating with3
Hampden County Sheriff's Department as part of4
that investigation?5

No, no memory of it, no.6 A.
As part of Investigation SO 18-261,7 Q.

you had information that while in the booking8
area with Sergeant Zanazanian and Officer9
McNabb and Ms. Rodriguez, Madelyn had had a10
phone call with her mother.11

Yes.12 A.
Well, at the time, I knew she had a13

phone call, but I didn't know it was specifically14
with her mother until I read the documents from15
the ACLU.16

Okay.  Let's make sure we're just17 Q.
talking about the same thing.  I'll just show18
you -- this is the document that we previously19
marked as Exhibit 28.  It's the e-mail from20
Philip Tarpey to you on November 28, 2018.21

(Screen shared.)22
Do you see that?23 Q.
Yes.24 A.

244
Scrolling down to the attachment, to1 Q.

the public records complaint, do you see that2
it says shortly after her arrest, Madelyn was3
permitted to call her mother, Maureen, in4
Paragraph 21 of the public records complaint5
that's attached to Exhibit 28?6

Yes.7 A.
Was this information that you were8 Q.

aware of during Investigation 18-261?9
Yes.10 A.
During Investigation SO 18-261, did11 Q.

you ever make any effort to speak with her or12
otherwise communicate with Madelyn's mother,13
Maureen?14

I did not.15 A.
During Investigation SO 18-261, did16 Q.

you ever actually communicate or speak with17
Madelyn's mother, Maureen?18

No.19 A.
During Investigation SO 18-261, did20 Q.

you ever communicate with any attorney21
representing Madelyn's mother, Maureen?22

No.23 A.
During Investigation SO 18-261, did24 Q.

245
you ever make any effort to communicate with1
any attorney representing Madelyn's mother,2
Maureen?3

No.4 A.
Looking again at the public records5 Q.

complaint that's attached to Exhibit 28,6
looking at Paragraph 18, do you see there it7
says that Madelyn sent her sister Kate a series8
of text messages?  Paragraph 18.9

Yes.10 A.
During Investigation SO 18-261, did11 Q.

you ever communicate with Madelyn's sister12
Kate?13

No.14 A.
During Investigation SO 18-261, did15 Q.

you ever make any effort to contact or16
otherwise communicate with Madelyn's sister17
Kate?18

No.19 A.
During Investigation 18-261, did you20 Q.

ever communicate with any attorney representing21
Madelyn's sister Kate?22

No.23 A.
During Investigation 18-261, did you24 Q.
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ever attempt to contact any attorney1
representing Madelyn's sister Kate?2

No.3 A.
Scrolling back up in Exhibit 28 --4 Q.

again, this is the public records complaint and5
the attachment -- do you see that one of the6
people who filed this public records complaint7
as a plaintiff is Maura O'Neill?8

I see that, yes.9 A.
During Investigation 18-261, did you10 Q.

ever speak with or make any attempt to11
communicate with Maura O'Neill?12

No.13 A.
During Investigation 18-261, did you14 Q.

ever speak with or make any attempt to15
communicate with any attorney representing16
Maura O'Neill?17

No.18 A.
During Investigation 18-261, I think19 Q.

you previously testified that you did not speak20
with Shanice Linnehan.21

Is that correct?22
I did not.23 A.
You did not speak with her?24 Q.

247
No.1 A.
During Investigation 18-261, did you2 Q.

make any effort to communicate with or speak3
with Shanice Linnehan?4

No.5 A.
During Investigation SO 18-261, did6 Q.

you interview any person who was not at that7
time employed by the SPD?8

I don't believe so, no.9 A.
MR. McFADDEN:  Take this down.10
(Screen share stopped.)11

Sargent McCoy, during the12 Q.
Investigation 18-261, did you have information13
that while in the presence of Sergeant14
Zanazanian and Officer McNabb and15
Ms. Rodriguez, Madelyn had reported chest pain16
and difficulty breathing?17

From the video, yes.  I saw it on the18 A.
video.19

MR. McFADDEN:  I'm going to share the20
document previously marked as Exhibit 3.21

(Screen shared.)22
We've previously discussed this is23 Q.

the prisoner injury report for Madelyn.24
248

Is that right?1
Yes.2 A.
This was a document that you3 Q.

reviewed during the course of your4
Investigation 18-261?5

Yes.6 A.
Do you see anywhere in this prisoner7 Q.

injury report any mention of chest pain or8
difficulty breathing, referring to Exhibit 3?9

No.10 A.
During Investigation 18-261, did you11 Q.

investigate why the prisoner injury report,12
which is marked here as Exhibit 3, did not13
include any information about chest pain and14
difficulty breathing?15

I did not, no.16 A.
If you look at the form, though, it17

says "marks or bruises."18
I'm just asking you, did you, during19 Q.

your investigation of SO 18-261, investigate20
why this prisoner injury report, Exhibit 3,21
does not include information about chest pain22
or difficulty breathing?23

I did not, no.24 A.

249
(Screen share stopped.)1
MR. McFADDEN:  I'm going to go back2

to your notes quickly.3
(Screen shared.)4

Do you see this is the document5 Q.
previously marked as Exhibit 8, which are your6
notes from Investigation SO 18-261?7

Yes.8 A.
Do you see that we're on the section9 Q.

of the notes relating to Sergeant Zanazanian?10
Yes.11 A.
So it says here:12 Q.
"She did complain she had pain in13

chest, feet and knee."14
Did I read that correctly?15
Yes.16 A.
That was Sergeant Zanazanian17 Q.

referring to Madelyn?18
Yes.19 A.
And you were aware through the20 Q.

course of your investigation in 18-261 that21
Madelyn had also complained about chest pain,22
difficulty breathing.23

Is that correct?24

Case 3:20-cv-30036-MGM   Document 111-16   Filed 01/19/23   Page 9 of 9



 

 

EXHIBIT Q 

Case 3:20-cv-30036-MGM   Document 111-17   Filed 01/19/23   Page 1 of 15



SPRINGFIELD POLICE DEPARTMENT 
INTERNAL INVESTIGATION UNIT 

December 12, 2018 

SPECIAL REPORT TO POLICE COMMISSIONER JOHN R. BARBIERI 

Sir: 

In compliance with Special Order #18-261 dated November 28, 2018 and being 
responsive to a request from the ACLU for public records regarding the arrest of Ms 
Madelyn Linsenmeir (#18-3399-AR), this report is being submitted. 

SUMMARY 
(The summary is intended to be a synopsis of the full investigation.  The investigation 

should be reviewed in its entirety.)  

            On September 29, 2018, Ms Madelyn Linsenmeir was arrested and booked at 130 
Pearl Street.  During the booking procedure, Ms Linsenmeir complained of being thirsty, 
having chest pain, shortness of breath as well as, right foot and knee pain and stated that 
she, “might need to go to the hospital.”   Ms Linsenmeir was given the opportunity to 
make a phone call but chose not to because she wanted to drink something prior to 
making her call.  

Ms Linsenmeir was brought out to make her phone call two hours after she was 
booked.  Sergeant Moises Zanazanian did not push the button to record his interaction 
with her or the phone conversation, so there is no audio available.   

After Ms Linsenmeir finished her phone conversation she had a conversation with 
Sergeant Zanazanian she appeared to show him her knees and feet, pointed to her chest 
and rib cage and was then escorted back to her cell.  At no time on the video recording, 
did I observe any officer speak on the telephone.   

Sergeant Zanazanian stated that on September 29, 2018, Ms. Linsenmeir 
mentioned that she felt like her chest was “caving in” and that she “might need to go to 
the hospital.” Sergeant Zanazanian stated that he monitored Ms. Linsenmeir and told her 
that he would continue to assess her condition as they went through the booking process. 
Sergeant Zanazanisn stated that he continued asking Ms. Linsenmeir questions and she 
was able to respond to all of his questions. Sergeant Zanazanian stated that Ms 
Linsenmeir made no further complaints of feeling unwell or being injured at that point, 
nor did she make any complaints of shortness of breath or any other chest issues during 
his interaction with her. Sergeant Zanazanian stated that while observing Ms. Linsenmeir, 
it did not appear that she was in any form of physical distress. 

Sergeant Zanazanian stated that he did not, nor did anyone present during Ms 
Linsenmeir’s phone call, make any sarcastic comments or remarks that he can recall. 
Sergeant Zanazanian stated that when the phone call was over, Ms. Linsenmeir 
complained that her knee and ankle were swollen and mentioned that she had been in an 
accident a week prior. Sergeant Zanazanian stated that he observed no injuries, but an 
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injury report was prepared and photographs were taken of the areas being complained 
about. 
             

INVESTIGATION 
 
 On November 27, 2018, Sergeant Albert Witkowski, Records Division 
Supervisor, authored a report. The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 
 On 11-27-18 Captain P. Tarpey provided me a copy of the civil suit and City of 
Springfield Law Department letter indicating that all related video and arrest report 
information be preserved. I reviewed the paperwork to be certain that I was complying 
with all portions. There was mention in the paperwork of medical treatment requests 
being made during phone calls to family. I reviewed the booking process video to 
determine if all possible audio was clear. During the booking process of Ms. M. 
Linsenmeir she had initially identified herself as someone else to the Booking Sgt. Ms. 
M. Linsenmeir indicated that she was in need of water, and also indicated that she 
wanted to go to the hospital. The Booking Sgt. made inquiry of the reasons and indicated 
that an assessment would be made for that request at the completion of the booking 
process. A later telephone call was provided to Ms. M. Linsenmeir that was not audio 
recorded by the booking desk video. 

After I learned of this information, I informed Captain P. Tarpey of the 
information for his review and additional follow up. 
Report submitted. 
 
 On November 27, 2018, Attorney Lisa deSousa, Deputy City Solicitor, submitted 
a request to Police Commissioner John Barbieri for the release of public records 
regarding the arrest of Ms Madelyn Linsenmeir.  This request was on the behalf of a 
lawsuit filed: Linsenmeir et al v. City of Springfield et al, Hampden Superior Court 
Docket #1879CV00872.  The legal documents state in part: 
 Section #4:  “The SPD is likely in possession of audiovisual recordings 
demonstrating that it refused to provide Madelyn with medical attention on the evening of 
her arrest. Plaintiffs are aware of this refusal because it occurred, at least in part, during 
a phone call from Madelyn and an SPD officer to Madelyn's mother, Maureen 
Linsenmeir. On information and belief, the call was made during the booking process, 
which the SPD routinely records. 
 Section #20: On information and belief, people arrested by the SPD are generally 
allowed to make a telephone call during the booking process. Further, on information 
and belief, the SPD routinely makes audio and/or video recordings of the booking 
process for arrestees, including the arrestee's telephone call. 

Section #21: Shortly after her arrest, Madelyn was permitted to call her mother, 
Maureen. A police officer also participated in the call. Madelyn was distraught. She told 
her mother, among other things, that she was not receiving medical attention. As the 
conversation progressed, the police officer refused to provide medical attention and even 
made a sarcastic comment to Maureen after Maureen expressed concern that Madelyn 
was being denied care.” 
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Case 3:20-cv-30036-MGM   Document 111-17   Filed 01/19/23   Page 3 of 15



 SO #18-261 
Pg. 3 of 14 

Section #22: Madelyn was subsequently transferred to the custody of the 
Hampden County Sheriffs department. 
Document submitted. 

  Using departmental records, documents; Squad C Uniform Division 
Telestaff Roster; Squad A Uniform Division Telestaff Roster; Squad B Uniform 
Division Telestaff Roster; Call for Service #18-206023, Dispatch Recordings; Arrest 
Report #18-3399-AR; Booking Video; Booking Photographs; Prisoner Injury 
Reports; it was determined that: 

 A review of the Squad C Uniform Division Telestaff Roster dated September 29, 
2018 showed the following civilian and officers working and their assignments: 

Sergeant Moises Zanazanian—4:00pm-12:00am—Booking Supervisor 
Officers Remington McNabb and James Trubia—4:00-12:00am--Booking 
Ms Sheila Rodriguez—4:00pm-12:00am-- Matron 

A review of the Squad A Uniform Division Telestaff Roster dated September 30, 
2018 showed the following officers working and their assignments: 

Sergeant George Flanagan—12:00am-8:00am—Booking Supervisor 
Officers Benis Peguero and Gustavo Olivo--12:00am-8:00am--Booking 
Officer Maria Sanchez—12:00am-8:00am—Matron 
(After reviewing the booking video it appears that Sergeant Moises Zanazanian 

worked 12:00am-8:00am as the booking supervisor. Sergeant Zanazanian’s calendar 
showed that he worked from 12:00am-8:00am as “overtime beyond shift” and Sergeant 
Flanagan worked as the South Sector Supervisor when Lieutenant Jessica Henderson 
called out sick.)  It appears the change was not made in Telestaff. 

A review of the Squad B Uniform Division Telestaff Roster dated September 30, 
2018 showed the following civilian and officers working and their assignments: 

Sergeant Ricky Moran—8:00am-4:00pm—Booking Supervisor 
Officers John Corey and Steven Wood—8:00am-4:00pm--Booking 
Ms Shanice Linnehan—8:00am-4:00pm—Matron (resigned 11/9/18) 

Documents submitted. 
I was unable to interview Ms Shanice Linnehan due to her resignation prior to this 

investigation. 

 A review of Call for Service #18-206023 dated September 29, 2018 showed that 
a call was created for a suspicious person at Union and School Street.  The call eventually 
led to the arrest and transport of Ms Linsenmeir. 
Document submitted. 

A review of the dispatch audio from September 29, 2018 showed:     
At 4:52:06pm:  Foot pursuit 
At 4:52:46pm:  Officer Tagliapietra calls out “in custody.”    
At 4:58:38pm:  A description is given out for Ms Linsenmeir by Officer Catellier.    
At 5:17:42pm:  1 to 130, 13.8 
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At 5:19:38pm:  Arrived 14.2 
Dispatch Recordings submitted on CD. 
 
  On September 29, 2018, Officer William Catellier, Street Crimes Unit, entered 
Arrest #18-3399-AR into the Springfield Police Departments Records Management 
System.  The following is the text of that report, including any grammatical errors: 

On 09/29/18 at approx. 1700 hrs. Officers Catellier, Tagliapietra, Barlow, 
Torres, Burgos, Normand, Falcon, and Disantis arrested the following two subjects: 

1) , , from 86 
School St., for  

1-  Possession of Class A Substance W/I to Distribute (Heroin) 
2- Resist Arrest 
3- A&B on a Police Officer  
4-  A&B on a Police Officer 

 
2) Madelyn Linsenmeir,  

, from Union St. & School St., for 
1- Fugitive from Justice for NH Superior Court 213-2017-CR-306 Probation 

Violation/ Dangerous Drugs 
2- Furnish False Name 

On 09/29/18 at approx. 1750 hrs. Officers Catellier and Tagliapietra were on 
patrol in the area of School St. and High St. These Officers are part of the SPD Street 
Crimes Unit and have been tasked with patrolling this neighborhood due to the ongoing 
crimes here. Theses crimes, which have been reported directly to the SPD as well as the 
Mayors Office and the City Council, have included illegal drug sale/use - prostitution - 
property crimes - quality of life issues. As these Officers have been patrolling the 
neighborhood continuously they have made contact with individuals who have acted as 
"cooperating sources (CS)". 

It was at this time that Officers pulled to the side of the road and spoke with one 
such CS. Officer Tagliapietra has spoken to this individual on numerous previous 
encounters and on occasion has been pointed towards ongoing crimes, typically towards 
"hot spots" for drug dealing. On this occasion Officer Tagliapietra was told "that bitch is 
hiding from you. She told us she's wanted" The CS named the female as "Elle" and 
pointed towards a white female that had just walked away, heading west on High St. from 
School St. 

Officer Catellier and Tagliapietra then left he CS and circled the block, but did 
not spot the white female again. As the Officers were about the leave the neighborhood 
they observed the white female walking south on School St. from High St., now alongside 
a Hispanic male (later ID as ). Officers then pulled alongside the two 
individuals when at 86 School St. where they had momentarily stopped. As Officer 
Tagliapietra exited the car and ordered the white female to stop, Officers both observed 
that at the same moment that  was handing over a red wax paper item. Theses 
Officers both instantly recognized this to be a packet of heroin and realized that they had 
interrupted a drug transaction in progress. 

 turned wide eyed at Officers, said "FUCK!", clutched the packet in his 
hand, and then ran south on High St. Officer Tagliapietra then called out the pursuit as 
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Officer Catellier drove after .  ran south to Union St., ran across 
Union, as he turned west, before running into the rear Union St. parking lot of MILTON 
BRADLEY SCHOOL (22 Mulberry St.) Officer Catellier was driving alongside  

 and was telling him to stop as he couldn't outrun the cruiser.  
continued running before tripping and falling to the ground. Officer Catellier then exited 
his cruiser and grabbed hold of  just as Officer Tagliapietra caught up on 
foot. 

 and Officer Catellier then engaged in a violent struggle. Officer 
Catellier had hold of ' left arm and was trying to apply and arm bar as  

 began twisting his body and headbutting Officer Catellier. Officer Catellier used 
his left arm to hold onto ' left arm, but also used his right arm to apply a 
headlock around ' upper head/face area.  Officer Catellier then used his body 
weight to force  down to the pavement. During this time, Officer Catellier took 
note that the red heroin packet was in ' left hand, sticking out from between 
his fingers. 

 continued to fight with Officers. Delivering kicks to Officer 
Tagliapietra while trying to bite Officer Catellier's arm/hand. Officer Catellier could not 
see ' mouth, but could hear him snarling and felt his mouth and saliva across 
his hand/arm area. As Officer Catellier shifted his hand/arm away from  

' mouth he yelled this to Officer Tagliapietra. Officer Tagliapietra then used a 
closed fist to strike ' rib cage, but was not getting an effective result. Officer 
Tagliapietra then used her department issued Taser in drive-stun mode on . 
This allowed her to contain his legs and prevent further kicking, but his other actions 
continued. ' resistance continued despite repeated uses of the Taser in drive-
stun mode on his body. Officers Catellier and Tagliapietra were able to keep  
from getting to his feet, but had been unable to gain enough control to place him into 
handcuffs. 

The other listed Officers then arrived and were able to assist with the arrest of 
.  was then handcuffed, dropping the packet of heroin to the ground 

from his left hand.   was then raised from the ground so that he could be 
properly searched.  As  was stood up, Officers took note of several (5) red wax 
paper packets fall from his pants along with an amount of U.S. paper currency. Officer 
Falcon retrieved these packets and each were found to be filled with an amount of grainy 
substance consistent with the appearance of heroin. The original bag dropped from  

' right hand was retrieved by Officer Barlow and was similiarly filled. The money 
was retrieved by Officer Catellier and found to total $40.  was searched, but 
no further contraband was recovered. 

Officers Torres and Disantis were given a description of "Elle" and they went to 
look for her on School St. These Officers located "Elle" and she claimed to be ELLAIKA 
GRANT, who was wanted for a default warrant, on School St. Ms. Grant was later found 
(after being booked and processed)  to really be AKA  Madelyn Linsenmeir, wanted on a 
Warrant out of NH for drug violations. 

During the arrest  received minor scrapes to his arm and face which 
appeared to be from the pavement while he was fighting Officers.  was treated 
on scene by National ambulance (rig 66) and refused further treatment. 
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Officer Catellier also received several scrapes from the pavement and was 
bleeding from his right elbow, wrist, and left hand thumb. Officer Catellier was given 
first aid, cleaning his wounds, and returned to service. 
Prisoner injury reports completed. Taser form completed.  
Warrant signed and service made. 
Heroin tagged #395353. Money tagged #395352.  
Watch Commander notified. 
Report submitted. 

I did not obtain copies of the property tags or the Taser report due to those being 
related to the arrest of .  (18-3400-AR) 

On September 29, 2018, Officer James Trubia authored a supplemental narrative 
to Arrest Report #18-3399-AR. The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 

During the booking process of Ms. Madelyn Linsenmeir (DOB: ) it 
was discovered that she had two misdemeanor default warrants out of Northampton 
District Court. As a result, Ms. Linsenmeir  will have the following additional charges, 
1) Northampton District Court Misdemeanor Default Warrant Docket Number:
1245CR000257
- Larceny Under $1200 by False Pretense
- Larceny Under $1200  by False Pretense
- Larceny Under $1200 by False Pretense
2) Northampton District Court Misdemeanor Default Warrant Docket Number:
1245CR000527
- Drug Possess Class A
Warrants Signed and Returned. Watch Commander Notified.
Report submitted.

 A review of the Prisoner Injury Report dated September 29, 2018 authored by 
Sergeant Moises Zanazanian showed that under “Marks or bruises” he noted, “Ms Grant 
complained of her right knee and right foot being swollen.  She stated that she needed 
water because she felt like she was going to faint.  Water was given to Ms Grant and felt 
better.”  A further review showed that under “How caused” he noted, “Ms Grant stated 
that she woke up a few days ago and noticed that her right knee and right foot were 
swollen.” 
Document submitted. 

A review of the booking dock on September 29, 2018 shows that Ms Linsenmeir 
arrived at 5:28pm and was escorted into the booking area at 5:35pm.   

 A review of the Booking Video dated September 29, 2018 for Ms Linsenmeir 
showed that was escorted into the book at 5:34pm.  Ms Linsenmeir initially gave the 
name Ellaika Grant during booking. 
At 5:35:36pm:  Ms Linsenmeir stated that she needed a drink. 
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At 5:36:20pm:  Ms Linsenmeir appeared to need assistance getting her shoes off.  Officer 
Tagliapietra assisted. 
At 5:37:04pm:  Sergeant Moises Zanazanian asked Ms Linsenmeir if she would be using 
the phone and she stated, “Not right now, I need to get water before I pass out.” 
At 5:39:40pm:  Sergeant Zanazanian asked  Ms Linsenmeir if she was ill and she stated,  
“Yes, I’m very ill, I can’t think straight, I’m going to literally pass out from pain.”   
At 5:40:00pm:  Ms Linsenmeir stated that she had used drugs that day. 
At 5:40:08pm:  Sergeant Zanazanain asked Ms Linsenmeir if she was seeking psychiatric 
care and she stated, “No, but I might need to go to the hospital.”  Sergeant Zanazanian 
stated that he would assess that. 
At 5:40:30pm:  Sergeant Zanazanian asked Ms Linsenmeir why she felt like she needed 
to go to the hospital and she stated, “I have a really bad chest, it feels like its caving in, 
I’m not sure what happened to it, I can’t even breathe, and my knee and feet.” Sergeant 
Zanazanian asked Ms Linsenmeir what was the matter with her knees and feet and she 
stated, “My knee is the size of… can you tell? (shows matron).”  Sergeant Zanazanian 
asked Ms Linsenmeir how it happened and she didn’t answer the question but stated, “It’s 
really bad, my right knee, my chest hurts, I can’t breathe and I’m going to pass out 
because I need water.”  Sergeant Zanazanian stated that he would get Ms Linsenmeir 
water.  Sergeant Zanazanian asked Ms Linsenmeir what was wrong with her feet and she 
stated, “A lot, I can barely walk on them, they’re swollen.  I’m in so much pain, I need 
water, I feel like I’m going to pass out.” Sergeant Zanazanian asked Ms Linsenmeir if she 
was going to use the phone again and she stated, “I’m not going to use the phone now, I 
need to drink water.” Ms Linsenmeir is then escorted to the cell block. 
 
 A review of the booking video from the phone call made by Ms Linsenmeir on 
September 29, 2018 showed: (There is no audio to this video) 
At 7:38:3pm:  Ms Linsenmeir is escorted out to the booking desk and begins speaking to 
Sergeant Zanazanian.  Ms Linsenmeir appears upset and is given the phone. Ms 
Linsenmeir appears to have trouble with the phone and is assisted by Ms Sheila 
Rodriguez, matron, with the cord.   
At 7:41:07pm:  Ms Linsenmeir dials again and appears to begin speaking with someone. 
Ms Linsenmeir appears to speak to Sergeant Zanazanian a few times throughout her 
conversation on the phone.  At one point, it appears that Officer Remington McNabb says 
something to Ms Linsenmeir while she is speaking on the phone as well.   
At 7:48:25pm:  Ms Linsenmeir ends her phone call. During the entire phone call Ms 
Rodriguez did not appear to say anything to Ms Linsenmeir, nor did she speak with 
anyone on the telephone. 
At 7:48:35pm:  Ms Linsenmeir appears to step back from the booking desk, lift up her 
pant legs and points to her right leg, chest and rib cage area.   
 
 A review of the booking desk for the release of Ms Linsenmeir on September 30, 
2018 showed: (There is no audio to this video) 
At 10:44:06am:  Ms Linsenmier appeared at the booking desk for release.  Officer Steven 
Wood points Ms Linsenmeir to the matron, Ms Shanice Linnehan (resigned), who 
appears to bring her to an area to put her shirt back on.   Ms Linsenmeir does not appear 
to say anything to any officer present in the book.  
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At 10:48:00am:  Ms Linsenmeir is brought to the county jail. 
Copies submitted on DVD. 

There is a video that was provided as part of the investigation that is from 
September 29th at 5:30pm-September 30th at 11:00am and is 17.5 hours long.  This 
video can only be viewed on a Blu-ray player due to its size. 

The video of Ms Linsenmeir being booked, her phone call and release were 
provided on separate discs that can be viewed on any computer.  

 A review of the Booking Photographs dated September 29, 2018 for Ms 
Linsenmeir showed that her right foot and knee appeared to be swollen. 
Photographs submitted. 

A review of the Red Calendar Book entries from the Booking area from 
September 29th and 30th showed no entries that would indicate that Ms Linsenmeir was 
sent to the hospital on Squads A, B or C on those days.  
Documents submitted.     

A review of Rule 26, Section 1 of the Springfield Police Department’s Rules and 
Regulations titled Prisoners shows (in part): 

…If, in the judgment of the Superior Officer or officer of rank in charge, the 
prisoner is suffering from wounds or injuries which require medical attention, the 
arrested person shall be taken t a hospital and while in the hospital, such prisoner shall 
be in the legal custody of the police… 
Document submitted. 

On November 29, 2018, I interviewed Officer John Torres, Squad B Metro 
Division, and he authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in content 
with that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 

I am writing in regards to the arrest of Madelyn Linsenmeir 18-3399-AR on 
September 29, 2018. On this day at approximately 1715 hours, I assisted with the arrest 
of a white female who identified herself Ellaika Grant and was found to have a default 
warrant.  The female spoke to officers briefly about her extensive drug use and history 
but did not mention having any medical issues that needed to be addressed. Officers 
transported the female to the booking station without incident.  After the booking process, 
it  was determined that the females correct identity was Madelyn Linsenmeir who had a 
warrant out of New Hampshire for drug offenses. 
 Report submitted.    

 On December 2, 2018, I interviewed Officer Anthony DiSantis, Squad B Metro 
Division, and he authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in content 
with that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 
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On September 29th, 2018 Officer J. Torres and I, Officer A. DiSantis assisted 
with the arrest and transport of a female subject, who identified herself as Ms. Ellaika 
Grant. After a check through records, it revealed she had an arrest warrant. She was 
notified that she had an arrest warrant and was transported to 130 Pearl St. for the 
booking process. After the booking process it was learned that her real name was 
Madelyn Linsemeir DOB  of Holyoke, MA, also with an arrest warrant. (See 
arrest# 18-3399-AR) 

Ms. Linsemeir stated to officers that she was not from around this area and was 
dropped off by a friend. I did not observe any injuries nor did Ms. Linsemeir complain of 
any during my interaction with her. 
Report submitted. 

On November 29, 2018, I interviewed Officer Lindsay Tagliapietra, Squad C 
Uniform Division, and she authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in 
content with that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 

On 09/29/18 I, Officer L. Tagliapietra, was on the booking dock with Ms. 
Madelyn Linsenmeir. To my recollection Ms. Linenmeir never mentioned needing any 
medical attention of any sort. If Ms. Linenmeir had requested medical attention then I 
would have provided her with it and would have advised the supervisor in booking. 
Report submitted. 

On November 30, 2018, I interviewed Officer William Catellier, Street Crimes 
Unit, and he authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in content with 
that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any grammatical 
errors: 

This report is in response to your investigation concerning a MADELYN 
LINSENMEIR. On 09/29/18 I was involved in the arrest of Ms. Linsenmeir, authoring the 
narrative for her warrant arrest. During the course of this arrest I had no direct contact 
with Ms. Linsenmeir. At no time did I speak with nor was I spoken to by Ms. Linsenmeir. 
At no time did I hear or have knowledge of Ms. Linsenmeir requesting/ requiring medical 
attention. 
Report submitted. 

On November 29, 2018, I interviewed Sergeant Ricky Moran (retired), Squad B 
Uniform Division, and he authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in 
content with that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 

This report is authored at the request of Sgt. Monique McCoy in regards to an 
investigation involving a Madelyn Linsenmeir, an arrestee detained at the Department's 
holding facility on the morning of September 30th of 2018. I do not recall if Sergeant 
Moises Zanazanian informed me of the above mentioned subject's injury status or request 
for medical attention during the morning briefing prior to relieving him of duty as the 
Sergeant supervising the Booking Department. Sergeant McCoy showed me a video of 
the day in question. In response to the video it was noted that I did not take the clipboard 
which contains the cell assignments for prisoners being held. I do not necessarily take the 
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cell assignment sheets with me during a cell check performed during the change of shifts, 
depending on circumstances such as number of prisoners present or the need to reassign 
cell assignments, etc. I do not recall receiving any specific information regarding Ms. 
Linsenmeir's medical status or request for medical attention. Ms. Linsenmeir was 
transferred to the custody of the Hampden County Sheriff's Department 
located in Chicopee, MA. If a cell check was performed prior to Ms. Linsenmeir's 
transfer, I don't recall her ever requesting medical attention. 
Report submitted. 
 

On November 30, 2018, I interviewed Officer Steven Wood, Squad B Uniform 
Division, and he authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in content 
with that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 
 On 09/31/2018 I worked in the Booking Department on Squad B. On this date I 
did not have any contact with a female prisoner named Madelyn Linsenmeir until she was 
released to the Western Massachusetts Regional Womens Correctional Center in 
Chicopee. I do not recall speaking to Ms. Linsenmeir during her release and I am not 
aware of any medical conditions or complaints she may have had. I did not recall 
speaking to anyone on the telephone regarding Ms. Linsenmeir. 
Report submitted. 
 

On November 30, 2018, I interviewed Officer John Corey, Squad B Uniform 
Division, and he authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in content 
with that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 
 On 09/30/2018 I was assigned to the Booking Department on Squad B. At about 
10:47 I was present for the release of a female prisoner, Madelyn Linsenmeir (see arrest 
report #18-3399-AR) as well as a second female prisoner. My dealing with Ms. 
Linsenmeir was brief and consisted of her signing a property release form and collecting 
her belongings at the booking desk. I did not have any conversation with Ms.Linsenmeir 
regarding health/medical issues she may have had. Nor did Ms.Linsenmeir make any 
statement(s) regarding any health related issue. 

In the presence of Sergeant M.McCoy, I viewed the recorded booking video 
footage of Ms.Linsenmeir's release and my interactions with her. I remember 
Ms.Linsenmeir having what appeared to be several red marks and/or scabs on her arms. 
Ms.Linsenmeir was then handcuffed to the second female prisoner and transported to the 
Western Massachusetts Regional Womens Correctional Center in Chicopee. 

I do not recall speaking to anyone over the telephone regarding Madelyn 
Linsenmeir during my shift on 09/30/2018. 
Report submitted. 
 

On November 30, 2018, I interviewed Sergeant George Flanagan, Squad A 
Uniform Division, and he authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in 
content with that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 
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 In reference to the above complaint, I was originally assigned to the Booking desk 
that date, (September 30, 2018). However, Sgt. M. Zanazanian, whom was working a 
forced overtime due to a staffing shortage, had opted to take my place in the Booking 
Desk with Lt. E. Greene's approval. Lt. E. Greene was the Commanding Officer that date. 
I was reassigned to the South Sector. 
Report submitted. 
 

On December 3, 2018, I interviewed Officer Gustavo Olivo, Squad A Uniform 
Division, and he authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in content 
with that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 
 This special is in regards to the incident involving a Ms. Madelyn Linsenmeir 
DOB: . I during the time Ms. Madelyn Linsenmeir was brought in on 
09/29/2018, I Officer G. Olivo, worked 09/30/2018 and do not recall having any direct 
contact with this individual. 
Report submitted. 
 

On December 3, 2018, I interviewed Officer Benis Peguero, Squad C Uniform 
Division, and he authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in content 
with that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 

I would like to respectfully inform you that I did not have any interaction, or 
contact with Ms. Madelyn Linsenmier ( ) on September 30th, through out my 
entire shift (2345-0745). 
Report submitted. 

 
On December 5, 2018, I interviewed Officer Maria Sanchez, Squad A Uniform 

Division, and she authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in content 
with that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 

On Wednesday, December 5, 2018 I, Officer Maria. Sanchez was asked about the 
night of Sunday, September  30, 2018.  I was assigned to work the matron shift from 0000 
hours to 0800AM.  As a Matron, My job is to do rounds and make sure the prisoners are 
checked at the beginning of the shift. However, I do not recall this night in specific. 

It was brought to my attention that we had a prisoner by the name of Madelyn 
Linsenmeir who was not a Q5. Let it be known that prisoners are not allowed to use the 
staff's personal cellphone or the Matron Office phone at any time. No prisoner has ever 
used my personal cellphone or the office phone during any of my shifts. If a prisoner is to 
make a call, they are brought to the booking desk and use it there as the calls are 
recorded. Also, let it be known that if at  any  time a prisoner complains of any injuries, 
they are to be reported to the booking Sergeant. In this particular night I don't recall any 
prisoner complaining of any injuries. 
Report submitted. 
 

On December 2, 2018, I interviewed Officer James Trubia, Squad C Metro 
Division, and he authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in content 
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with that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 

On September 29, 2018 I, Officer James Trubia was assigned the position of Male 
Cell Guard. During the course of my shift, Ms. Madelyn Linesenmeir  was arrested and 
booked at 130 Pearl St. Sgt. McCoy showed me the booking video of her being processed 
in which I briefly appeared in background. While Ms. Linesenmeir was completing the 
booking process, I did not have direct contact with her nor do I recall any of the 
conversations that Ms. Linesenmeir had while she was being processed. 
Report submitted. 

On December 3, 2018, I interviewed Officer Remington McNabb, Squad C 
Uniform Division, and he authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in 
content with that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 

On 12/3/18 I was interviewed by Sgt. M. McCoy in regards to a complaint made 
by Ms. Linsenmeir's mother about her arrest on 9/29/18. On 9/29/18 I was assigned to 
work in the book from 4pm to 12am. When originally asked if I had any memory of 
Madelyn's visit to 130 Pearl St. or of her complaining of any medical issue, I could only 
recall Madelyn complaining of knee pain which may have come from a car accident prior 
to 9/29/18. After Sgt. McCoy showed me Madelyn's booking video, I observed that she 
was complaining of chest and foot pain which I did not recall prior to viewing the video. 
At no time do I recall Madelyn asking to go to the hospital. After observing Madelyn's 
booking video, I observed that she stated at some point "she might have to go to the 
hospital." 

Sgt. McCoy then showed me a video of Madelyn making a phone call 
approximately 2 hours after her booking video. I do not recall Madelyn's conversation at 
this time. I do not recall myself or hearing anyone else make any sarcastic comment. I do 
not recall speaking to Madelyn's mother or her calling back and speaking to any other 
officer at any time. I do not recall Sgt. Zanazanian ever mentioning anything about 
Madelyn needing to go to the hospital. 
Report submitted. 

On December 2, 2018, I interviewed Ms Sheila Rodriguez, Squad C Matron, and 
she authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in content with that 
interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any grammatical 
errors: 

Madelyn Linsenmeir asked for medical attention for body aches and swollen knee 
when she was booked. I gave her a cartoon of milk which she used for water. Madelyn 
could not lay on the bed because of her body aches. When she made her phone call, 
Madelyn called her mother. I do not recall if Madelyn told her mother if we were denying 
her medical attention. 

Madelyn was crying before placing her phone call, she showed her swollen knee. 
I do not recall what the Sergeant said. I never spoke to Madelyn mother, I did not let 
Madelyn use the office phone. I did not make a sarcastic comment, I did not hear the 
Sergeant make any smart comments while on the phone with her mother. Madelyn only 
stated once that she needed medical attention. During the shift Madelyn complained 
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about body aches. During the shift Madelyn took a nap. I informed officer M. Sanchez of 
her body aches, Madelyn was not being loud during the shift. 
Report submitted. 
  

On December 3, 2018, I interviewed Sergeant Moises Zanazanian, Squad C 
Uniform Division, and he authored a report that is similar in nature and corroborative in 
content with that interview.  The following is the text of that report, including any 
grammatical errors: 
 On Saturday, September 29, 2018, I was assigned to the book as a sergeant for 
the 4 p.m. to 12 a.m. shift. I also worked the 12 a.m. to 8 a.m. shift on Sunday, September 
30, 2018. On Saturday September 29, 2018 at approximately 1716 hrs, an individual now 
known to be Ms. Madelyn Linsenmeir was arrested and transported to the station for 
booking. The booking of Ms. Lisenmeir was recorded, including with audio. 

During the booking process, I began asking Ms. Linsenmeir questions regarding 
her personal information. She gave me the name Ellaika Grant, which was learned to be 
the same fake name that she had given to officers during her arrest. During the 
questioning, Ms. Linsenmeir mentioned that she felt a little dizzy and would like 
something to drink. I requested that the Matron on duty get Ms. Linsenmeir a drink, and 
it later was reported to me by the Matron that the Matron gave a milk carton to Ms. 
Linsenmeir from which she could drink when Ms. Linsenmeir was placed into a cell. 

Also during the booking process, Ms. Linsenmeir mentioned that she felt like her 
chest was caving in and that she might need to go to the hospital. I monitored Ms. 
Linsenmeir and I told her that I would continue to assess her condition as we went 
through the booking process. After that point, I continued asking Ms. Linsenmeir 
questions and she was able to respond to all of my questions. She made no further 
complaints of feeling unwell or being injured at that point in time. She made no 
complaints of shortness of breath or any other chest issues during my interaction with 
her. While I was observing Ms. Linsenmeir, it did not appear that she was in any form of 
physical distress. The arresting officer, Officer Tagliapietra, did not advise of any 
complaints of injury made by Ms. Linsenmeir during her arrest. After the booking was 
completed, Ms. Linsenmeir was brought to the female cell without any issue or incident. 

After approximately two hours, Ms. Linsenmeir was brought from the female cell 
to use the phone. I do not know the identity of the person that Ms. Linsenmeir called. Ms. 
Linsenmeir was on the phone for an extended period of time, I believe several minutes, 
and, at one point, while she was on the phone, I asked Ms. Linsenmeir to wrap up the 
phone call. I was not disrespectful or sarcastic toward Ms. Linsenmeir, nor did I observe 
the Matron or officers to be disrespectful or sarcastic with her. 

When the phone call was over, Ms. Linsenmeir complained that her knee and 
ankles were swollen. She mentioned that she had been in an accident a week prior. Ms. 
Linsenmeir can be seen on the video showing me her knee and ankles. I observed no 
injuries, but an injury report was prepared and photographs were taken of the areas she 
complained. 

During the remainder of that shift and the next shift, I was not made aware of any 
complaint of pain or injury made by Ms. Linsenmeir. During the course of my shift, I do 
not believe I spoke to anyone on the phone regarding Ms. Linsenmeir and I do not recall 
anyone telling me of a call to the book about Ms. Linsenmeir. 
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I booked, processed and treated Ms. Linsenmeir in a professional manner and, 
based upon my observations, the other personnel who interacted with Ms. Linsenmeir 
also acted professionally and treated Ms. Linsenmeir respectfully. 

While speaking with Sgt. McCoy, I did not recall most of my interactions with Ms. 
Linsenmeir until I was shown the booking video to refresh my recollection. 
Report submitted. 

On December 10, 2018, I re-interviewed Sergeant Moises Zanazanian, Squad C 
Uniform Division, due to information being omitted and he authored a report that is 
similar in nature and corroborative in content with that interview.  The following is the 
text of that report, including any grammatical errors: 

I write pursuant to your order to provide an additional report regarding my 
memory of communications with Ms. Madelyn Linsenmeir during the time period she was 
under arrest and using the phone at the Springfield Police Department. In regards to Ms. 
Linsenmeir's use of the phone, I recall Matron Rodriguez bringing Ms. Linsenmeir to the 
front booking area where Ms. Linsenmeir used the phone to make a call. I do not have an 
independent memory of who she called, but after several minutes on the phone I did ask 
Ms. Linsenmeir to wrap it up. 

While Ms. Linsenmeir was on the phone my attention was on the computer as I 
was in the process of approving reports so I cannot recall what was said during her 
phone conversation. Eventually, Ms. Linsenmeir did conclude her phone call. At no time 
after the phone call did Ms. Linsenmeir ask to go to the hospital for medical treatment. 
She was taken back to her cell without any incident. 

While in custody Ms. Linsenmeir complained of being a little dizzy and also 
mentioned during the booking process that her chest felt that like it was caving in. During 
the booking process, as I spoke to her, I made physical observation and continued to 
assess Ms. Linsenmeir. While I monitored Ms. Linsenmeir, I did not observe any 
indications of distress that in my opinion necessitated sending Ms. Linsenmeir to the 
hospital. The booking was completed and she was processed without incident. 
Report submitted. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Sergeant Monique McCoy 
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SPRINGFIELD POLICE DEPARTMENT 
INTERNAL INVESTIGATIONS UNIT 

January 29, 2019 

Special to: Police Commissioner John R. Barbieri 

Sir; 
In compliance with Special Order #18-261 dated November 28, 2018 and being 

responsive to a request from the ACLU for public records regarding the arrest of Ms 
Madelyn Linsenmeir (#18-3399-AR), this report is being submitted. 

SUPPLEMENTAL 

 On January 28, 2019, I received a copy of the death certificate for Ms Madelyn 
Linsenmeir.  The cause of death was recorded as Complications of Methicillin-resistant 
Staphylococcus Aureus, due to or as a consequence of, Septicemia in the setting of 
Tricuspid Valve Endocarditis.  Other significant conditions contributing to her death but 
not resulting in the underlying cause is listed as Chronic Substance Abuse. 
Death Certificate submitted. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Sergeant Monique McCoy 
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Sir: 
The following Superior Officers reviewed Special Order # 18-261. The following 

recommendations are made to the Police Commissioner regarding the above mentioned 

complaint: 
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City of Springfield 

Community Police Hearing Board 
Case Review 

SO#/PIE# _SO#18-261__ Citizen's Complaint: 

Where did this complaint originate? CPHB:_XX__ Police Department: Citizen: 

Date complaint was filed? 11/28/18 Date ITU completed its investigation? 12/12/18 

What is the date of the CPHB review? 12/13/18 

Is this case recommended to be sent back to ITU? N 4 

If the case cannot be sent back to ITU due to 90 day period, were there any deficiencies found in the ITU 

investigation? 

pit 
Based on preliminary review of the complaint and ITU report, at this stage, the CPHB recommends: 

  

X There is reasonable cause to believe the officer violated policy and procedure/rules and 

regulations as the complainant’s allegation is supported by sufficient evidence to determine that 

the incident occurred and the actions of the officer were improper. 

There is NOT reasonable cause to believe the officer violated policy and procedure/rules 

and regulations as the complainant’s allegation is not supported by sufficient evidence to 

determine that the incident occurred and the actions of the officer were improper. 

Additional Comments/Recommendation: 
  

X A charge letter be issued and a hearing be held for consideration of the charges. 

Commissioner dispose of the matter in good exercise of his discretion including alternative to 

formal disciplinary charges. 

Other 

  

CPHB Signature 7) Huds (wor CPHB Signature 

CPHB Signatory "Come Signature 

CPHB Signature CPHB Signature 

  
  

  
  

  
  

Revised 1/23/18 

CoS 1.D. 000454CoS I.D. 000454
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Springfield Police Department 
130 Pearl Street. P.O. Box 308 

Springfield MA 01101 
(413) 787-6300 

  

December 26, 2018 

VIA HAND DELIVERY 

Sergeant Moises Zanazanian 
Springfield Police Department 
130 Pearl Street 

Springfield, MA 01105 

  

Re: | Notice of Inter-Departmental Disciplinary Charges, SO# 18-261 

      
  

Dear Sergeant Zanazanian, 

Please be advised that the Springfield Police Department has received information 
regarding your alleged improper conduct on the date of September 29, 2018. The investigation is 

attached hereto and is incorporated as Addendum A. The information contained in Addendum 
A, if true, support the initiation of Inter-Departmental charges against you for violations of the 
following Rules and Regulations of the Springfield Police Department: 

Rule 27: NEGLECT OF DUTY: This includes any conduct or omission which is not in 
accordance with established and ordinary duties or procedures as to such employees of which 

constitutes use of unreasonable judgment in the exercising of any discretion granted to an 
employee. 

Rule 29: CONDUCT: Employees shall conduct themselves at all times, both on and off duty, 

in such a manner as to reflect most favorably on the Department. Conduct unbecoming an 
employee shall include that which tends to indicate that the employee is unable or unfit to 

continue as a member of the Department or tends to impair the operation of the Department or its 

employees. 

Rule 29: DIRECTIVES AND ORDERS: Employees shall obey and comply with all rules, 
orders and other directives of the Department whether transmitted verbally or in writing. 
Employees shall obey all orders of a Superior Officer, Officer of Rank, or Supervisor. 

Rule 26: SECTION 1: PRISONERS 

... If, in the judgment of the Superior Officer or officer of rank in charge, the prisoner is 

suffering from wounds or injuries which require medical attention, the arrested person shall be 
taken to a hospital and while in the hospital, such prisoner shall be in the legal custody of the 

police... (in part) 

CoS 1.D. 000455  CoS I.D. 000455

Clapprood
Exhibit for ID

No. 161
11/17/22        KLG-RPR
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Rule 32: SECTION 2: Any member of the Department may be punished by the Board of 

Police Commissioners by reprimand, forfeiture of pay, or required to serve extra tours of duty 
without pay, suspension from duty without pay, reduction in rank or grade, or dismissal from the 
Department, as provided in the City Ordinances and the Laws of the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts, on conviction of any of the offenses listed herein, to wit, 

Neglect of duty; 
False Statements; 

Any Act of abusive conduct or oppression; 
Conduct unbecoming an officer; 

Conduct injurious to the public peace or welfare; 

Any act contrary to the good order and discipline of the department; 
Violation of any rules contained herein. 

In accordance with Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 31, the Springfield Police Department 

will hold a hearing to contemplate the issuance of discipline, up to and including the termination 
of your employment. 

Copies of Massachusetts General Laws chapter 31, sections 41 through 45 are attached and 
incorporated as Addendum B and explain your rights under Civil Service law. 

Sincerely, 

AAR a
nds Fi Sr 

JOHN R. BARBIERI 
POLICE COMMISSIONER 

  

Notice: In accordance with Section 52C of chapter 149 of the General Laws, please be 
advised that the contents of this [or the attached] communication is, has been used or may 

be used, to positively or negatively affect your qualification for employment, promotion, 
transfer, additional compensation or the possibility of disciplinary action. 

Return of Service 

I served the foregoing document on Sergeant Moises Zanazanian on / 7 -7é. 5 

vir EA 0 him in nd, 5 3 va copy of same at 

RX , Massachusetts. 

ature of person Ly fo serge J ce 

    

  

(street ya logation) 

  

   
  

CoS 1.D. 000456  CoS I.D. 000456
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                 Pages 1-50     Exhibits: 185

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

--------------------------------------------------

MAURA O'NEILL, as administrator of the Estate of 

Madelyn E. Linsenmeir,

                Plaintiff, 

 vs.                     CA No. 3:20-cv-30036

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MOISES ZANAZANIAN, 

REMINGTON McNABB, SHEILA RODRIGUEZ, HAMPDEN 

COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, and JOHN/JANE DOES 

NOS. 1-5,

                Defendants.

--------------------------------------------------

CONTINUED REMOTE 30(b)(6) DEPOSITION OF THE CITY 

OF SPRINGFIELD, BY ITS DESIGNEE OF 

WILLIAM MAHONEY

Friday, December 9, 2022, 2:07 p.m. 

Via Zoom Video Conference

----Reporter:  Kathleen L. Good, CSR, RPR----

K. L. GOOD & ASSOCIATES

Post Office Box 367

Swampscott, Massachusetts 01907

Tel. 781-367-0815      Kathleen.Good@verizon.net 
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APPEARANCES:1

Goulston & Storrs2
Michael Nzoiwu, Attorney3
400 Atlantic Avenue4
Boston, Massachusetts 021105
617-482-11756
mnzoiwu@goulstonstorrs.com7

- and -8
American Civil Liberties Union9

        Foundation of Massachusetts, Inc.10
Daniel L. McFadden, Attorney11
211 Congress Street12
Boston, Massachusetts  0211013
617-482-317014
dmcfadden@aclum.org15
Attorneys for the Plaintiff16

17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

3
 APPEARANCES, cont.:1

Egan, Flanagan and Cohen, P.C.2
Thomas E. Day, Attorney3
67 Market Street4
Springfield, Massachusetts  01102-90355
413-737-02606
lfo@efclaw.com7
ted@efclaw.com8
Attorneys for Hampden County Sheriff's9

        Department10
11
12

Lisa C. DeSousa, Attorney13
City of Springfield Law Department14

        36 Court Street, Room 21015
        Springfield, Massachusetts 0110316

            413-787-608517
            ldesousa@springfieldcityhall.com18
            Attorneys for City of Springfield,19

        Sheila Rodriguez and the Deponent20
21
22
23
24

4
 APPEARANCES, cont.:1
            Reardon, Joyce & Akerson, P.C.2
            John K. Vigliotti, Attorney3
            4 Lancaster Terrace4
            Worcester, Massachusetts 016065
            508-754-72856
            jvigliotti@rja-law.com7
            Attorneys for Moises Zanazanian8

9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

5
INDEX1

2
WITNESS:                                     PAGE:                 3
WILLIAM MAHONEY4

BY MR. McFADDEN 65
*****6

EXHIBITS:                                     PAGE:7
No. 185, E-Mail Chain 378

*****9
**** Original/Marked Exhibits in custody10

of Mr. McFadden11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
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6
P R O C E E D I N G S1

WILLIAM MAHONEY, having been2
satisfactorily identified and duly sworn by the3
Notary Public, was examined and testified as4
follows:5

MR. McFADDEN:  So good afternoon.6
This is a continuation of the 30(b)(6) deposition7
for the City of Springfield.  I am Dan McFadden.8
I'm a staff attorney at the ACLU.  I represent9
the plaintiff in this case.10

DIRECT EXAMINATION11
BY MR. McFADDEN:12

And first, I'm going to ask the13 Q.
witness to please identify yourself for the14
record.15

William Mahoney.16 A.
Are you employed?17 Q.
I am.18 A.
Where are you employed?19 Q.
By the City of Springfield.20 A.
What is your job for the City of21 Q.

Springfield?22
I'm the director of human resources and23 A.

labor relations.24

7
How long have you been in that1 Q.

position?2
Thirteen years.3 A.
Are you an attorney?4 Q.
I am.5 A.
Are you licensed to practice in6 Q.

Massachusetts?7
I am.8 A.
How long have you been an attorney9 Q.

in Massachusetts?10
Since 1988.11 A.

MR. McFADDEN:  I'm going to show you12
an exhibit that has previously been marked13
Exhibit 147.14

(Screen shared.)15
So you should see up on your screen16 Q.

a notice of deposition for the 30(b)(6).17
Do you see that?18
I do.19 A.
I'm going to scroll down to the list20 Q.

of topics.  Topic 6 is:21
"The investigation and discipline of22

Moises Zanazanian for his conduct, act and/or23
omissions concerning Madeline Linsenmeir,24

8
including, without limitation, the negotiation,1
the drafting of the memorandum of agreement2
between and among the City of Springfield and3
the Springfield Police Supervisors Association4
and Moises Zanazanian, dated March 13, 2019.5
This topic includes, without limitation, all6
communications between and among the city,7
Zanazanian, the police union and their8
respective attorneys concerning the9
investigation, discipline and agreement."10

Did I read that correctly?11
Yes.12 A.
Are you designated to testify for13 Q.

the city for that Topic No. 6?14
Yes.15 A.

MS. DeSOUSA:  Dan, I just want to16
clarify because I think I created a little bit of17
a misimpression.18

I was designating Monique McCoy to19
testify relative to so much of this as requests20
the IIU information.21

And Attorney Mahoney is here to22
testify regarding the specifically-referenced23
memorandum of agreement between and among the24

9
City of Springfield and the Springfield Police1
Supervisors Union and Moises Zanazanian.2

MR. McFADDEN:  I think we essentially3
understood that because Sergeant McCoy is4
designated for No. 7.5

MS. DeSOUSA:  Correct.6
MR. McFADDEN:  So my intention was to7

focus the questioning regarding the creation of8
that agreement.9

MS. DeSOUSA:  Okay.10
MR. McFADDEN:  So if I go outside the11

scope of what you believe he's been designated12
for, please tell me, but otherwise I'll assume13
I'm within the scope.14

MS. DeSOUSA:  Terrific.  Thank you.15
MR. McFADDEN:  Thank you.16

So, I'm sorry, Attorney Mahoney, I17 Q.
lost track.18

Are you designated for Topic No. 6,19
subject to what your counsel just said?20

Yes.21 A.
And are you designated for any other22 Q.

topics for the 30(b)(6)?23
I don't believe so.24 A.
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10
MR. McFADDEN:  Okay.  I'm going to1

show you -- I'm going to take this down.2
(Screen share stopped.)3
MR. McFADDEN:  I'm going to show you4

two documents, one after the other, just to set5
kind of a timeframe to talk about.6

So the first is a document that's7
previously been marked as Exhibit 161 and I'm8
going to put that up.9

(Screen shared.)10
Attorney Mahoney, do you see11 Q.

Exhibit 161 on your screen?12
I do.13 A.
Do you recognize that document?14 Q.
I do.15 A.
What is this document, Exhibit 161?16 Q.
This is the notice of charges brought17 A.

against Sergeant Zanazanian.18
Do you see it's dated December 26,19 Q.

2018?20
I do.21 A.
Is that the date that this notice22 Q.

issued?23
I don't know.24 A.

11
Do you have any reason to believe it1 Q.

issued on a different date?2
No.3 A.
Okay.  I'll just scroll down so you4 Q.

can see -- do you see that the Exhibit 161, the5
notice cites five potential rule violations?6

Yes.7 A.
MR. McFADDEN:  Okay.  So that was8

December 26, 2018.  I'm just going to take that9
down.10

(Screen share stopped.)11
MR. McFADDEN:  I'm going to put up12

Exhibit 162.13
(Screen shared.)14

Attorney Mahoney, do you see15 Q.
Exhibit 162 on your screen?16

I do.17 A.
Do you recognize this Document 162?18 Q.
I do.19 A.
What is this document?20 Q.
This is a memorandum of agreement21 A.

between the city, the Police Supervisors Union22
and Mr. Zanazanian.23

I'm just going to scroll down.24 Q.
12

Do you see the signatures on the1
agreement?2

I do.3 A.
March 13, 2019?4 Q.
Yeah.5 A.
Is that, in fact, the date this6 Q.

agreement was executed?7
I would assume so.8 A.
Okay.  Do you have any reason to9 Q.

believe it was executed on a different date?10
I don't.11 A.

MR. McFADDEN:  Okay.  So just give me12
one moment.13

(Pause.)14
So we looked at the notice of15 Q.

charges, Exhibit 161, from December 26, 2018,16
relating to Special Order 18-261.17

And then we looked at this18
Exhibit 162, which is from March of 2019, which19
is the memorandum of agreement relating to that20
same charge.  And I guess my question for you21
is:22

With respect to matter 18-261, what23
happened between the issuance of the charges on24

13
December 26, 2018, and the execution of the1
agreement on March 13, 2019?2

We negotiated a settlement agreement3 A.
prior to hearing.4

Okay.  When you say "we negotiated a5 Q.
settlement agreement," who is the "we" that you6
are referring to there?7

The City of Springfield and the Police8 A.
Supervisors Union.9

In that negotiation, who was10 Q.
negotiating on behalf of the City of11
Springfield?12

I was.13 A.
In that negotiation, who was14 Q.

negotiating on behalf of the Police Supervisors15
Union?16

I believe it was Attorney John17 A.
Vigliotti, but I wasn't dealing directly with18
him.19

Who were you dealing with?20 Q.
I was sending this back to the police21 A.

department.22
Who in the police department?23 Q.
Captain Tarpey.24 A.
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14
I'm sorry.  I just want to make sure1 Q.

I understand.2
So you are saying you negotiated3

this agreement 162 on behalf of the city?4
Yes.5 A.
And Attorney Vigliotti negotiated6 Q.

it, you believe, on behalf of the Police7
Supervisors Union?8

Yes.9 A.
But you were not speaking directly10 Q.

to Attorney Vigliotti?11
No.12 A.
You were speaking to Captain Tarpey?13 Q.
Yes.14 A.
Was it your understanding that15 Q.

Captain Tarpey was then speaking to16
Mr. Vigliotti?17

Or the representatives of the police18 A.
union.19

Who were the other representatives20 Q.
of the police union other than Mr. Vigliotti?21

Mr. Vigliotti is, I believe, was being22 A.
authorized by the union to handle this matter on23
behalf of Sergeant Zanazanian.  I don't know if24

15
I'm saying his name right.  That was my1
understanding of it.2

But the representative, president of3
the union at the time, was Captain Brian Keenan.4

Did Captain Tarpey tell you who he5 Q.
was talking to as a representative of the6
union?7

No, I don't believe so.8 A.
Okay.  Is it correct that Captain9 Q.

Tarpey was relaying messages between you and10
the union?  Is that the summary?11

Yes.12 A.
Can you tell me, please, how often13 Q.

did you speak with Captain Tarpey about the14
negotiation of this agreement, Exhibit 162?15

I don't know.  I don't remember.16 A.
Did you speak with him more than one17 Q.

time about it?18
I don't know.  There was a lot of19 A.

e-mails so would have sent things back and forth20
through e-mail.21

You sent Captain Tarpey drafts22 Q.
through e-mail; is that right?23

The union sent us a draft and then I24 A.
16

made some changes to it and sent that back, and1
then they made some changes and sent it back.2

Okay.  What was the first3 Q.
conversation you had with Captain Tarpey or4
first communication you had with Captain Tarpey5
about preparing a settlement agreement relating6
to 18-261?7

I believe it was an e-mail that the8 A.
union wanted to settle the matter.9

How did you respond to that10 Q.
communication?11

I believe that there was an attachment12 A.
of a draft, so I reviewed the draft and I13
suggested some changes.14

Do you recall what type of changes15 Q.
you suggested?16

If you can scroll down, it was in17 A.
Section No. 1.  The last sentence, I believe, was18
the changes I was proposing.19

The sentence that starts "the20 Q.
discipline agreed to"?21

Yes.22 A.
What was the change you made to that23 Q.

sentence?24

17
MS. DeSOUSA:  I'm going to object.1

And as I referenced in the privilege log, in2
which we did not disclose these e-mails, I3
believe that the changes to the proposed4
settlement agreement are protected as settlement5
negotiations and that they were attorney work6
product, maybe attorney mental impressions.7

And that is why we did not disclose8
them and it was referenced like that on the9
privilege log.10

But if you want to ask him about the11
agreement once it was completed, that's fine.12
But we're not going to discuss the negotiation13
process.14

MR. McFADDEN:  Let me ask a couple of15
questions and then I may have a response for you,16
but I think I need to understand a couple other17
things, Lisa.18

MS. DeSOUSA:  Sure.19
(By Mr. McFadden) Attorney Mahoney,20 Q.

when you were negotiating the settlement21
agreement, you were representing the city; is22
that correct?23

Yes.24 A.
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And the adverse party to you in that1 Q.

negotiation was the Supervisors Union; is that2
correct?3

Yes.4 A.
And was Sergeant Zanazanian also an5 Q.

adverse party to you in that negotiation?6
He's a member of the union.7 A.
So is that yes?8 Q.
Yes.9 A.
Okay.  When you were saying that you10 Q.

made changes to the draft agreement, are you11
referring to changes you made only for your12
internal use, or are you referring to changes13
that were then communicated back to the union's14
representatives?15

These are changes that would be16 A.
communicated back to the union.17

Okay.  I think you said the union18 Q.
sent you some changes as well after that?19

Yes.20 A.
Okay.  When the union sent you back21 Q.

those changes, at that point, was the agreement22
in its final form or were there more changes23
that went back to the union?24

19
I'm not certain how many times it went1 A.

back and forth.2
Okay.  At a minimum, I think I heard3 Q.

you say they sent you a draft, you changed it,4
sent it back, and then they changed it and sent5
it back again.  Is that correct?6

That is correct.  It may have gone back7 A.
another time as well.  I'm not sure.8

MR. McFADDEN:  Lisa, so the record is9
clear, is it your intention that any questions10
about the draft that went back and forth between11
the union and the city, you're going to assert a12
privilege objection?13

MS. DeSOUSA:  I am going to say that14
they're protected settlement negotiations not15
subject to disclosure.16

Additionally, I would say that his17
e-mail communications to Captain Tarpey reflected18
attorney work product and we won't be disclosing19
that as well.20

MR. McFADDEN:  In terms of the draft21
that went back and forth, you're saying that they22
are protected communications not subject to23
disclosure.  I mean, is that your statement, that24

20
you are going to be instructing him not to answer1
a question if I ask about those drafts?2

MS. DeSOUSA:  Yes.  I am telling you3
that I believe that those are protected4
settlement negotiations not subject to5
disclosure.6

MR. McFADDEN:  Okay.  So I just want7
to put on the record my understanding of your8
position.9

I would like to save people time and10
not have to ask a bunch of questions and get11
instructions not to answer, but at the same time,12
I don't want to be in a position if we ever have13
to move to compel, there's some suggestion I14
didn't ask the question and, therefore, it's not15
ripe for something.16

MS. DeSOUSA:  Sure.17
MR. McFADDEN:  Let me put on the18

record my understanding of what you're saying and19
then I would like to have an understanding of20
whether you want me to ask those questions and21
get the instructions, or if you're going to be22
content with stating your position.23

It's my understanding that this24

21
witness was involved in the negotiation of what's1
been marked as Exhibit 162, which is an agreement2
where the parties were the city, Sergeant3
Zanazanian and the Supervisors Union.4

And it's my understanding that at5
least three drafts were exchanged:  One draft6
from the union to this witness; one draft from7
this witness back to the union; and then another8
draft from the union back to this witness.  And9
additional drafts may also have been exchanged.10

And it's my understanding that if I11
ask my questions about those drafts, you are12
going to object on the grounds of protected13
settlement communications and instruct the14
witness not to answer.15

Is that a correct understanding of16
your position?17

MS. DeSOUSA:  Yes.18
MR. McFADDEN:  Now I have to ask you,19

do you want me to ask the questions and have you20
instruct him not to answer or will you agree that21
that is an accurate representation of your22
position and we don't have to go through that23
whole process?24
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MS. DeSOUSA:  I will agree that's an1

accurate representation of my position and we do2
not need to go through that process.3

MR. McFADDEN:  Okay.  My4
understanding is your position is also that -- so5
this witness has testified that he communicated6
with Captain Tarpey --7

MS. DeSOUSA:  Correct.8
MR. McFADDEN:  -- the one talking to9

the union.  And your position also is that you're10
going to assert attorney/client privilege and11
work product over any communications he had with12
Captain Tarpey during that exchange; is that13
correct?14

MS. DeSOUSA:  Anything relative to15
the settlement negotiations that were ongoing.16

MR. McFADDEN:  And so if I would ask17
questions about those communications, you would18
instruct him not to answer.  Is that fair?19

MS. DeSOUSA:  That's correct.  And at20
the risk of beating a dead horse, we did disclose21
the existence of those e-mails in the privilege22
log and asserted our reasons for not producing23
them there.24

23
MR. McFADDEN:  Well, I guess what I'm1

saying, Lisa, obviously we have not waived any2
rights to move to compel any materials, and I3
think depositions are a time when we often gather4
information in order to test assertions of5
privilege that have been made.6

MS. DeSOUSA:  I'm just saying this is7
consistent with what has previously occurred8
relative to this issue.9

MR. McFADDEN:  So just so I10
understand, so given that you've said if I ask11
him about his communications with Captain Tarpey12
relating to Exhibit 162, the drafting of it,13
you're going to assert privilege, do you want me14
to ask those questions and then get that15
instruction not to answer, or, again, will you16
agree that we've accurately stated your position17
and it's not necessary to go through each of the18
questions?19

MS. DeSOUSA:  No.  I think I just20
answered that.  I'm not going say that it's not21
ripe because you didn't ask each particular22
question.23

We've agreed that that area of24
24

inquiry is one that I'm going to object to and1
instruct not to answer.2

And if you wish to bring a motion to3
compel, we'll deal with the narrative of the4
objection and not a technicality about whether or5
not each individual question was asked.6

MR. McFADDEN:  I appreciate that.7
I'm just trying to save time.8

MS. DeSOUSA:  I get it.9
(By Mr. McFadden) So Attorney10 Q.

Mahoney, your deposition may have just gotten11
substantially shorter for now.12

I do want to ask you a little bit13
more about Exhibit 162.  I understand that you14
were negotiating it on behalf of the City of15
Springfield.  I want to direct your attention to16
the first page of Exhibit 162 where it says17
Discipline.18

Do you see that?19
I do.20 A.
It says:21 Q.
"The parties agree that there's just22

cause for the imposition of discipline under SO23
No. 18-261 for violation of Rule 29 of the City24

25
of Springfield Police Department rules and1
regulations."2

Did I read that correctly?3
Yes.4 A.
Who decided that the violation5 Q.

identified in this grievance was going to be6
Rule 29?7

That was in the first draft that came8 A.
over from the union and I was fine with it.9

Did you ever have any conversations10 Q.
with the union about whether or not, well,11
about their selection of that rule?12

No.13 A.
And you said you were fine with it?14 Q.
Yeah.15 A.
Why were you fine with it?16 Q.

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.17
You can answer.18

Because we had noticed him that he was19 A.
in violation of Rule 29.  I thought that was20
applicable, it was a conduct issue and we thought21
it addressed the interests of this matter22
correctly.23

(By Mr. McFadden) When you say that24 Q.
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it was "applicable," what caused you to1
conclude that Rule 29 was applicable to the2
conduct?3

I looked at the rules and regulations4 A.
of the department for Rule 29 and thought that5
applied.6

What particular conduct violated the7 Q.
rule?8

That he did not call for medical to9 A.
evaluate Ms. Linsenmeir.  I don't know if I'm10
saying her name correctly.11

So it's Linsenmeir, but it's not12 Q.
your fault.13

I'm going to look at the next14
sentence in the discipline section, says:15

"Zanazanian will be issued a two-day16
suspension that will be served at the17
Commissioner's discretion.  Furthermore,18
Zanazanian will attend a training session class19
on booking procedures and he agrees to20
participate in the training of other members of21
the Springfield Police Department regarding22
booking procedures."23

Did I read that correctly?24

27
You did.1 A.
Is that the discipline that was2 Q.

agreed under this agreement?3
It is.4 A.
Who selected that as the discipline5 Q.

agreed under this agreement?6
That came over in the first draft and I7 A.

understood it was acceptable to the police8
department so that's why it stayed in there.9

What was the basis for understanding10 Q.
that it was acceptable to the police11
department?12

I sent it back, I had asked for a copy13 A.
of Zanazanian's disciplinary history and his14
years of service, and I thought it was okay and15
the department thought it was okay and that's why16
we implemented two days.17

Did someone at the department tell18 Q.
you they thought it was okay?19

I think -- no.  I don't know that20 A.
anyone -- I don't recall if anyone specifically21
said that to me or not, but I know that the22
document was going back and forth and it was23
acceptable to the department.24

28
And you said that you thought this1 Q.

was okay as a disciplinary consequence; is that2
correct?3

That's correct.4 A.
What was your basis for concluding5 Q.

it was okay?6
He had a very long work history with7 A.

the city and he had almost no discipline at all.8
I think the only thing he had in his record was a9
verbal warning from a few years before completely10
unrelated to anything in the booking desk.11

I think we saw when we looked -- I'm12 Q.
going to put it back up, Exhibit 161.13

(Screen share stopped.)14
(Screen shared.)15

We saw that there were five16 Q.
potential rule violations in the initial notice17
of charges to Sergeant Zanazanian.18

Do you recall that?19
I do.20 A.
And then putting back up21 Q.

Exhibit 162, there's one rule violation; is22
that correct?23

That's right.24 A.

29
Who made the decision to drop out1 Q.

the other four alleged rule violations?2
The first draft came over and they were3 A.

referencing Rule 29.  I think there were two4
references to Rule 29 violations in the charge5
letter.  Doing that from memory, though.  And I6
was satisfied with that.7

It's pretty common that charges in the8
charge letter get dropped along the way.9

Turning back to the degree of the10 Q.
discipline, we talked about the suspension plus11
the training.12

Do you recall that?13
Yes.14 A.
And you said that was okay, you15 Q.

thought?16
Yeah.17 A.
And you said you concluded it was18 Q.

okay because you looked at Sergeant19
Zanazanian's record of any prior discipline.20
Is that fair?21

Yes.  His length of service and his22 A.
prior disciplinary history.23

In reaching the conclusion that this24 Q.
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particular degree of discipline was okay, did1
you consider any other factors or information2
besides that which you've just identified?3

I read the report, the IIU report.4 A.
The IIU report?5 Q.
Yes.6 A.
Did you view any video evidence7 Q.

during that process?8
I don't think I viewed any video9 A.

evidence.  I don't recall seeing any video10
evidence in this case.11

In 2018, for the City of12 Q.
Springfield, was it your practice to be the one13
who negotiated settlement agreements for police14
disciplinary matters?15

Yes.16 A.
Was it your practice at that time to17 Q.

be the one who selected the degree of18
discipline?19

No.  I don't select the degree of20 A.
discipline.  That's done by the Police21
Commissioner or the Police -- well, Police22
Commissioner and now Police Superintendent or the23
Board of Police Commissioners now.24

31
So in this agreement where it says a1 Q.

two-day suspension plus the training in2
Exhibit 162, did the Police Commissioner at3
that time select that?4

The Police Commissioner agreed to it.5 A.
She was the only one -- at that time, she was the6
only one who could impose this.7

She agreed to it.  Who was the one8 Q.
who proposed that as being the discipline?9

As I said, initially came over as from10 A.
the union.  And then, as I said, I made some11
suggestions on Section 1, the last sentence12
there.  We went back and forth.13

But the two days, I think, was14
agreeable to the department so that's why she15
proposed that.16

18-261, you understand, was a case17 Q.
involving Madelyn Linsenmeir?18

I'm sorry.  I didn't hear that.19 A.
I'm sorry.  Matter SO 18-261, you20 Q.

understand that was a matter involving Madelyn21
Linsenmeir, right?22

Yes.23 A.
She was the victim of the misconduct24 Q.

32
in that case; is that fair?1

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.2
(By Mr. McFadden) Was Madelyn the3 Q.

victim of the conduct in SO 1261?4
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.5
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.6

I don't believe she was a victim; she7 A.
was a prisoner of the department at the time.8

(By Mr. McFadden) When Sergeant9 Q.
Zanazanian committed misconduct in connection10
with SO 18-261, were the acts that he did11
directed at Madelyn Linsenmeir?12

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.13
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.14

There was no act directed at her.  It15 A.
was an omission.16

(By Mr. McFadden) Okay.  Was the17 Q.
omission in connection with Madelyn Linsenmeir?18

Yes.  He didn't call for medical.19 A.
And you know she later died?20 Q.
I am aware of that.21 A.
Okay.  In the preparation of the22 Q.

settlement agreement that is Exhibit 162, did23
you ever make any effort to reach out to24

33
Madelyn Linsenmeir's surviving family members?1

No.2 A.
Why not?3 Q.
That would not be my place.4 A.
Can you explain that?5 Q.
It would not have been my place.6 A.
I'm sorry.  What do you mean by7 Q.

that?8
This is a matter between the city, its9 A.

union and its employee.10
Have you ever spoken to any member11 Q.

of Madelyn Linsenmeir's family?12
I have not.13 A.
Before today, have you ever spoken14 Q.

to any attorney representing Madelyn Linsenmeir15
or any member of her family?16

No.  I don't think so.17 A.
To the best of your knowledge, did18 Q.

anyone involved in the negotiation of the19
settlement agreement, Exhibit 162, speak with20
any member of Madelyn's family about the21
agreement?22

I can just tell you that I did not.  I23 A.
don't know if anyone else did.24
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Are you aware of anyone else doing1 Q.

that?2
No one represented to me that they did.3 A.
Prior to the execution of this4 Q.

settlement agreement, this Exhibit 162, had5
anyone told Madelyn Linsenmeir's family there6
was a disciplinary matter related to her7
treatment?8

I have no idea.9 A.
Are you aware of anyone telling them10 Q.

that?11
I'm sorry.  You have to say that again.12 A.
Are you aware of anyone telling them13 Q.

that?14
I'm not aware of that.15 A.
Did you ever have any discussions or16 Q.

communications with Sheryl Clapprood about the17
settlement agreement that's Exhibit 162?18

I would imagine that I did.19 A.
Do you recall any of those20 Q.

communications?21
Nothing specific, no.22 A.
Do you recall anything in general?23 Q.
I may have spoken to her about his24 A.

35
disciplinary history, but I don't have a clear1
recollection of it.2

Okay.3 Q.
(Screen share stopped.)4

We looked at Exhibit 161, which is5 Q.
the charge letter to Officer Zanazanian.6

Do you recall that?7
Yes.8 A.
Do you recall that was dated9 Q.

December 26, 2018?10
I'm not certain of the date.11 A.
I'm sorry.  I couldn't hear your12 Q.

answer.13
I'm not certain of the date.14 A.
Do you recall seeing that date on15 Q.

the document?16
No.  I just recall seeing the document.17 A.

MR. McFADDEN:  Let me just pull up18
the document so you can see it.19

(Screen shared.)20
I just pulled up Exhibit 161, which21 Q.

is the charge letter, and do you see it says22
December 26, 2018?23

I do.24 A.
36

(Screen share stopped.)1
(Screen shared.)2

I've pulled up another document3 Q.
that's previously been marked as Exhibit 40.4

Do you see that this is an e-mail5
from Kara Goodchild?6

Yes.7 A.
And I'll just scroll down.8 Q.

Apparently the Bates number is not on there.9
I will represent to you -- let me10

take that back.11
Are you aware of what is being12

discussed in this e-mail?13
(Pause.)14

By reading it, I am, yes.  It looks15 A.
like they're trying to schedule a hearing.16

Do you know what hearing was being17 Q.
scheduled at this time?18

I'm sorry, Counsel.  Did you ask a19 A.
question?20

I'm sorry.  You couldn't hear it?21 Q.
Do you know what hearing was being22

scheduled at this time?23
I don't.  You know, since you're24 A.

37
bringing it up, I'm guessing it's for1
Mr. Zanazanian, but I don't know from that e-mail2
if that's the case.3

Just in terms of your knowledge, do4 Q.
you know if a hearing was ever scheduled for5
Sergeant Zanazanian in connection with 18-261?6

I don't know if it was scheduled or if7 A.
it was settled before it was scheduled.8

MR. McFADDEN:  Stop the share here.9
(Screen share stopped.)10
MR. McFADDEN:  I'm going to pull up a11

document and I believe we have to mark this as12
the next exhibit, which is 185.13

(Marked, Exhibit No. 185, E-Mail14
Chain.)15

Attorney Mahoney, you're being shown16 Q.
a document that's being marked as Exhibit 185.17

Do you see that it's an e-mail18
chain?19

I do.20 A.
Do you see at the bottom of the21 Q.

e-mail chain, it is a request for information22
by John Vigliotti regarding Special Order23
18-261 --24
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Yes.1 A.
-- dated February 27, 2019?2 Q.
Yeah.3 A.
It states in the e-mail that a4 Q.

hearing was scheduled for March 20 in that5
matter.6

Do you know if that's right?7
I don't know that it's right.  I'll8 A.

assume that it is but I don't know that it's9
right.10

Okay.  I'm not asking you to assume.11 Q.
Do you know if that's when a hearing12

was scheduled?13
I don't know.14 A.
Then do you see that Mr. Vigliotti15 Q.

is requesting a list of different types of16
information relating to 18-261?17

Yes.18 A.
Then at the top, it is someone19 Q.

writing:20
"Bill.  I was told to forward this21

request to you per Captain Tarpey," addressed22
to you.23

Yeah.24 A.

39
Did you, in fact, receive this1 Q.

request from Mr. Vigliotti that was forwarded2
to you?3

I did.4 A.
And what did you do in response to5 Q.

this request?6
I asked IIU to assemble the documents7 A.

and get them to me.  And then we sent them on, or8
they sent them on and I asked for copies of them.9

Did you provide Mr. Vigliotti with10 Q.
all of the categories that he had requested?11

I don't know.  I would assume we did.12 A.
We gave them what we had.  I don't know if13
everything that he requested was given to him.  I14
don't know.15

Did you ever receive any other16 Q.
requests for information from anyone acting on17
behalf of Sergeant Zanazanian?18

Not that I recall.19 A.
How about anyone acting on behalf of20 Q.

the Supervisors Union?21
Not that I recall.22 A.

MR. McFADDEN:  All right.  I'm going23
to take this down.24

40
(Screen share stopped.)1
MR. McFADDEN:  Let's take a2

five-minute break and when we come back, I think3
we may be wrapping up for now.4

MS. DeSOUSA:  Thanks.5
(Recess.)6

(By Mr. McFadden) Attorney Mahoney,7 Q.
thank you again for your time.  We have just8
taken a break.9

Is there anything you would like to10
modify or correct in your prior testimony11
before we continue?12

No.13 A.
I just have a few additional14 Q.

questions.15
Did you review any documents to16

prepare for your deposition today?17
I did.18 A.
What did you review?19 Q.
I looked at the IIU report; I looked at20 A.

the charge letter.  I looked at the (no sound)21
e-mails.22

MS. DeSOUSA:  I'm sorry.  I have no23
idea why I did that.  I was trying to turn the24

41
volume up and, instead, I muted you.  I1
apologize.  You were in the middle of the list2
and I just randomly muted you.3

(Discussion off the record.)4
MR. McFADDEN:  Back on the record.5
Attorney Mahoney, we had a brief6

technical and human interruption there.  We'll7
try again with that question.8

Did you review any documents in9 Q.
preparation for your deposition today?10

I did.11 A.
Okay.  What did you review?12 Q.
I looked at the IIU report; I looked at13 A.

the charge letter; I looked at the suspension14
letter; and I looked at some e-mails and some15
notes.16

Which e-mails did you review?17 Q.
E-mails between me and the police18 A.

department.19
Who at the police department?20 Q.
Captain Tarpey.21 A.
Okay.  Were those e-mails in22 Q.

connection with 18-261?23
This matter, yes.24 A.
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CITY OF SPRINGFIELD 
PRIVILEGE LOG  

Maura O’Neill as Administrator of the Estate of Madelyn Linsenmeir v CoS, et al 3:20-cv-30036 
 

1 
 

Line  
Item 

Date of Doc Document 
Type 

Author Recipient Subject Matter Privilege claimed Status 

1 03/08/2019 Email Atty. Mahoney Philip Tarpey Edits regarding agreement in 
M.Z.’s Disciplinary Matter 

Attorney-client privilege Privileged  

2 N/A Draft 
memo 

Atty. Mahoney  M.Z. Supervisors Agreement-Labor 
Negotiations Draft 

Attorney-client privilege Privileged 

3 03/11/2019 Email Cpt. Tarpey Atty. Mahoney  Edits regarding agreement n 
M.Z.’s Disciplinary Matter  

Attorney-client privilege Privileged 

4 N/A Draft 
memo 

Atty. Mahoney M.Z. (not sent- 
intended 
recipient) 

Supervisors Agreement- Labor 
Negotiations Draft 

Attorney-client privilege Privileged 

5 03/14/2019 Email Monique 
McCoy 

Atty. Mahoney Draft/edits Notice of Suspension in 
M.Z.’s Disciplinary Matter  

Attorney-client privilege Privileged 

6 03/14/2019 Draft 
letter 

Monique 
McCoy 

M.Z. Draft Notice of Suspension in 
M.Z.’s Disciplinary Matter 

Attorney-client privilege Privileged 

7 03/14/19 Email Monique 
McCoy 

Atty. Mahoney Draft/edits Notice of Suspension in 
M.Z.’s Disciplinary Matter 

Attorney-client privilege  Privileged 

8 03/14/2019 Draft 
letter 
Email 

Monique 
McCoy 

M.Z Notice of Suspension in M.Z.’s 
Disciplinary Matter 

Attorney-client privilege Privileged 

9 03/14/2019 Atty. Mahoney Monique McCoy Draft/edits Notice of Suspension  Attorney-client privilege Privileged 

10 03/14/2019 Draft 
letter 

Monique 
McCoy/ Atty. 
Mahoney 

M.Z.(not sent- 
intended 
recipient) 

Notice of Suspension Attorney-client privilege Privileged 

11 11/27/2018 email Stephanie 
Liebl  

Cpt. Tarpey new lawsuit – preservation of 
evidence for same 

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/14/22 

12 11/27/2018 email Cpt. Tarpey  Stephanie Liebl response to preservation request  Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/14/22 

13 11/28/2018 email Attorney 
Sheehan 

Cpt. Tarpey & 
Stephanie 
Liebl 

directions for above  Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/14/22 

14 10/16/2018 email Andrea Stone  Cpt. Tarpey, 
Robert Tardiff 

forward public records request 
from D. McFadden 

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 1/25/22 

Case 3:20-cv-30036-MGM   Document 111-23   Filed 01/19/23   Page 2 of 11



CITY OF SPRINGFIELD 
PRIVILEGE LOG  

Maura O’Neill as Administrator of the Estate of Madelyn Linsenmeir v CoS, et al 3:20-cv-30036 
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Line  
Item 

Date of Doc Document 
Type 

Author Recipient Subject Matter Privilege claimed Status 

& Attorney 
Pikula 

15 10/17/2018 email Cpt. Tarpey Andrea Stone, 
Robert Tardiff, 
Albert 
Witkowski & 
Attorney 
Pikula 

status of items being requested   Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/25/22 

16 11/28/2018 email Andrea Stone Robert Tardiff, 
Cpt. Tarpey, 
Attorney 
Wilson, 
Attorney 
Pikula, 
Attorney 
deSousa, 
Attorney 
Sheehan, 
Attorney Saint 
Laurent, 
Megan 
Landry, 
Stephanie 
Liebl 

new public records request by 
Greg Saulmon 

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/25/22 

17 11/28/2018 email Atty. Pikula Andrea Stone, 
Robert Tardiff, 
Cpt. Tarpey, 
Atty. Wilson, 
Atty. deSousa, 

status of request & items 
requested  

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/25/22 
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3 
 

Line  
Item 

Date of Doc Document 
Type 

Author Recipient Subject Matter Privilege claimed Status 

Atty Sheehan, 
Atty. Saint 
Laurent, 
Megan 
Landry, 
Stephanie 
Liebl 

18 11/29/2018 email Atty. 
Sheehan 

Cpt. Tarpey,  
 
cc: Atty. 
deSousa 

query on a document  Partially covered by 
attorney-client privilege 
work-product doctrine  

Objection partially 
withdrawn, redacted and 
produced on 01/25/22 

19 11/29/2018 email Albert 
Witkowski 

Atty. Sheehan, 
Atty. deSousa, 
Cpt. Tarpey 

response to query on a 
document 

Partially covered by 
attorney-client privilege 
work-product doctrine  
 

Objection partially 
withdrawn, redacted and 
produced on 01/25/22 
(combined thread with #18) 
 

20 12/5/2018 email Megan 
Landry 

Andrea Stone, 
Atty. Sheehan 

discussion about time frame to 
respond to public records 
request 

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/25/22 

21 12/6/2018 email 
letter 

Andrea Stone Atty. Sheehan, 
Megan 
Landry, Atty. 
Wilson 

draft response for review and 
clarification  

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/25/22 

22 12/12/2018 email Atty. 
Finnegan 

Atty. Sheehan non-disclosure agreement for 
review 

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on January 14, 
2022  

23 12/13/2018 email Megan 
Landry 

Andrea Stone, 
Atty. Sheehan 

revisions to public records 
response 

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced without 
attachment on 1/25/22 
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Line  
Item 

Date of Doc Document 
Type 

Author Recipient Subject Matter Privilege claimed Status 

24 12/13/2018 email Megan 
Landry 

Andrea Stone, 
Atty. Sheehan 

non-disclosure agreement for 
public records request 

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced without 
attachment on 1/25/22 

25 12/13/2018 email Megan 
Landry 

Atty. Wilson forward non-disclosure 
agreement for public records 
response  

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/25/22 

26 12/13/2018 email Andrea Stone Atty. Wilson, 
Atty. Sheehan, 
Megan Landry 

response to public records 
request  

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/25/22 

27 12/21/2018 email Megan 
Landry 

Andrea Stone 
Atty. Sheehan 

request for Atty. Wilson to sign 
response letter  

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on January 14, 
2022 

28 12/21/2018 email Andrea Stone  Megan 
Landry, Atty. 
Sheehan 

signed stipulation  Objection withdrawn and 
produced on January 14, 
2022 

29 12/27/2018 email Atty. 
Sheehan 

Megan 
Landry, Atty. 
deSousa 

docket deadlines to respond & 
provided redacted video 

work-product doctrine  Privileged  

30 1/7/2019 email Atty. Saint 
Laurent 

Atty. Sheehan how to provide video format 
from SPD  

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on January 14, 
2022 

31 1/18/2019 email Megan 
Landry 

Stephen 
Wyszynski 

request additional video 
footage 

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/25/22  

32 1/23/2019 email Megan 
Landry 

Kathleen 
Barnett, Cpt. 
Tarpey, 
Comm. 
Barbieri 

inquiry into status of additional 
video footage 

  Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/25/22 
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Line  
Item 

Date of Doc Document 
Type 

Author Recipient Subject Matter Privilege claimed Status 

33 1/23/2019 email Megan 
Landry 

Albert 
Witkowski 

communication re:  additional 
video footage 

  Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/25/22 

34 1/23/2019 email Albert 
Witkowski  

Megan 
Landry, 
Comm. 
Barbieri 

response re:  additional video 
footage will be provided  

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/25/22 

35 2/27/2019 email Atty. Vigliotti Kara 
Goodchild 

request for copies of 
documents related to his client 

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 01/25/22 

36 2/28/2019 email Monique 
McCoy 

Atty. Mahoney legal advice related to 
production of documents 
pertaining to Atty. Vigliotti’s 
client 

Partially covered by 
attorney-client privilege 
work-product doctrine  

Objection partially 
withdrawn, redacted and 
produced on 01/25/22 

37 4/23/2019 email Andrea Stone Atty. deSousa inquiry about police records 
requested to be released as 
ref’d in new public records 
request 

Partially covered by work-
product doctrine  
attorney- client privilege  

Objection partially 
withdrawn, redacted and 
produced on 01/25/22 

38 4/24/2019 email Atty. deSousa Andrea Stone response to above inquiry Partially covered by work-
product doctrine  
attorney- client privilege 

Objection partially 
withdrawn, redacted and 
produced on 01/25/22 

39 5/22/2019 email 
chain 

Atty. deSousa Atty. Wilson, 
Atty. 
Szafranski, 
Andrea Stone 

legal discussion relative to 
public records exemptions as it 
pertains to requested 
documents 

work-product doctrine 
attorney- client privilege 

Privileged  

40 5/23/2019 email Andrea Stone Atty. deSousa, 
Atty. Wilson, 
Atty. 
Szafranski 

legal discussion about 
documents produced and 
public records exemption 

Partially covered by work-
product doctrine  
attorney- client privilege 

Objection partially 
withdrawn, redacted and 
produced on 01/25/22 

41 5/24/2019 email  Megan 
Landry 

Atty. deSousa draft response letter  work-product doctrine  Privileged  
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Line  
Item 

Date of Doc Document 
Type 

Author Recipient Subject Matter Privilege claimed Status 

42 5/23/2019 email Andrea Stone Monique 
McCoy, Atty. 
Wilson 

request for documents attorney-client privilege 
work-product doctrine  

Privileged 

43 5/24/2019 email Atty. deSousa Anthony 
Wilson 
 
Andrea Stone  

legal advice on if documents 
fall under public records 
exemption 

Partially covered by work-
product doctrine  
attorney- client privilege 

Objection partially 
withdrawn, redacted and 
produced on 1/25/22 

44 5/21/2019 email 
chain 

Atty. 
Wilson/Atty. 
deSousa/And
rea Stone 

Atty. 
Wilson/Atty. 
deSousa/Andr
ea Stone 

legal discussion about 
documents needed, documents 
produced, documents still 
requested & ACLU’s claims that 
req’d docs are public records 

 Objection withdrawn and 
produced on 1/25/22 

45 3/6/2020 email Atty. Pikula Atty. deSousa, 
Megan 
Landry, Atty. 
Coyle, Atty. 
Joyce 

notice of new lawsuit filed and 
legal theories/perceptions and 
case law 

work-product doctrine 
attorney- client privilege 

Privileged  

46 3/6/2020 email Andrea Stone 
[City of 
Springfield] 

Atty. Pikula 
[City of 
Springfield]  
 
Atty. deSousa 

notice of new public records 
request from local news related 
to this matter  

work-product doctrine Objection withdrawn, 
produced on 1/25/22 

47 3/6/2020 Email Atty. Pikula 
[City of 
Springfield] 
 
 

Atty. deSousa 
 
Andrea Stone  

review of prior response and 
discussion about revising 

Partially covered by 
work-product doctrine 

Redacted and Produced on 
1/25/22 
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Line  
Item 

Date of Doc Document 
Type 

Author Recipient Subject Matter Privilege claimed Status 

48 03/21/2020 
3/20/2020 

Email Atty. deSousa Lawrence 
Murphy 
[Springfield 
Police Dept.] 

Legal discussion regarding 
current language related to 
CPHB recommendation 

Partially covered by 
attorney-client privilege 
Work Product Doctrine 

Redacted and produced on 
01/25/22 

 
ITEMS WITHHELD FROM SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE 

 Date of Doc Document 
Type 

Author Recipient Subject Matter Privilege claimed Status 

49 05/23/2019 Email Andrea Stone 
[City of 
Springfield] 

Attorney Lisa 
DeSousa 
Attorney 
Anthony 
Wilson 
Cary 
Szafranski 
[City of 
Springfield] 

Death Certificate re: Exemption Partially covered by 
attorney-client privilege 

Redacted and produced on 
1/25/22 
 
Bates 0001940-0001943 

50 10/22/18 Email Atty. Pikula 
[City of 
Springfield] 

Andrea Stone 
[City of 
Springfield] 
 
Phil Tarpey  
[SPD] 
 
Robert Tardiff 
[SPD] 

R000251-101518 McFadden 
Daniel  
 
discussion and legal advice on 
documents requested by ACLU 
public records request 

Partially covered by work-
product doctrine 

Redacted and produced on 
1/25/22 
 
 
 
Bates 0001964-0001966 
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Line  
Item 

Date of Doc Document 
Type 

Author Recipient Subject Matter Privilege claimed Status 

 
cc:  Anthony 
Wilson [City of 
Springfield] 
 
Albert 
Witkowski 
[SPD] 
 

51 5/1/19 Email Andrea Stone  
[City of 
Springfield] 

Atty. Pikula 
[City of 
Springfield 

RE ACLU Request re M 
Linsenmeir 
 
requesting legal advice on 
ACLU public records request  
 

Partially covered by work-
product doctrine 

Redacted and produced on 
1/25/22 
 
 
Bates 0001995-0001996 

52 11/28/19 Email Atty. Pikula Marian 
Sullivan, Ryan 
Walsh [City of 
Springfield] 
 
John Barbieri,  
Phil Tarpey 
[SPD] 

RE Boston com article on 
ACLU lawsuit 
 
legal advice on how to respond 
to Boston.com reporter  

Partially covered by work-
product doctrine  

Redacted and produced on 
1/25/22 
 
 
Bates 0001997-0001999 

53 5/21/19 Email Atty. deSousa Andrea Stone 
Anthony 
Wilson [City of 
Springfield] 

RE Linsenmeir and 5/9/19 letter 
from ACLU  
 
legal advice on how to respond 
to ACLU’s May 9, 2019 letter 
 

Partially covered by work-
product doctrine  

Redacted and produced on 
1/25/22 
 
 
Bates 0002000-0002002 
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Line  
Item 

Date of Doc Document 
Type 

Author Recipient Subject Matter Privilege claimed Status 

54 5/24/19 Email Atty. deSousa Anthony 
Wilson 
Andrea Stone 
[City of 
Springfield]  

RE Sgt McCoy’s handwritten 
notes 
 
legal advice discussing 
possible public records 
exemption on documents 
requested by ACLU public 
records request  
 

Partially covered by work-
product doctrine  
 

Redacted and produced on 
1/25/22 
 
 
 
Bates 0002003-0002004 

55 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3/13/19 
3/11/19 

Email 
 

Atty. Vigliotti 
 
 
 
Atty. Vigliotti 

Brian Keenan  
Phil Tarpey 
[SPD] 
 
Brian Keenan 
[SPD] 

forward of revisions to draft 
settlement relative to M.Z. 
 
 
Draft settlement relative to M.Z. 

attorney-client and work-
product doctrine  

Privileged 

56 5/21/19 email Atty. deSousa Anthony 
Wilson  
 
Andrea Stone 
[City of 
Springfield] 

Draft Response to ACLU May 
9, 2019 letter 

work-product doctrine  Privileged 

57 3/8/19 
 
 
3/11/19 

Email Phil Tarpey 
[SPD] 
Brian Keenan 
[SPD union 
rep] 
 

Atty. Mahoney 
[City of 
Springfield] 
 
Phil Tarpey 
[SPD[ 

Draft memo of understanding 
relative to M.Z. 

attorney-client and work-
product doctrine  

Privileged 

Case 3:20-cv-30036-MGM   Document 111-23   Filed 01/19/23   Page 10 of 11



CITY OF SPRINGFIELD 
PRIVILEGE LOG  

Maura O’Neill as Administrator of the Estate of Madelyn Linsenmeir v CoS, et al 3:20-cv-30036 
 

10 
 

Line  
Item 

Date of Doc Document 
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Author Recipient Subject Matter Privilege claimed Status 

58 
 
 

3/6/19 
 
3/8/19 

Email 
 
Email 

Atty. Vigliotti 
 
Brian Keenan 
[SPD] 

Brian Keenan 
[SPD] 
Phil Tarpey 
[SPD] 

Fw draft agreement re M.Z. 
 
Fwd Emailing draft M.A. 
settlement 3-11-19 

attorney-client and work-
product doctrine  
 
 

Privileged  
 
 
 

60 3/12/19 Email Brian Keenan 
[SPD] 

Atty. Vigliotti Fwd 3/11/19 draft memo of 
understanding relative to M.Z.  

attorney-client and work-
product doctrine  

Privileged  
 
 

61 3/11/19 Email Phil Tarpey 
[SPD] 

Atty. Mahoney 
[City of 
Springfield] 

draft memo of understanding 
relative to M.Z. 

attorney-client and work-
product doctrine  

Privileged 

62 9/16/19 
 
 
 
9/1-9/13 

Email Atty. Roche 
[City of 
Springfield] 
 
Atty. Roche  

Megan Landry 
 
 
 
Kara 
Goodchild 
[SPD] 

discussion of legal documents 
obtained for pending suit 
 
 
discussion on obtaining new 
public records request 
documents  

work-product doctrine  
 
 
 
work-product doctrine – 
relevance (unrelated to 
case) 

Privileged  

63 3/11/19 Email Phil Tarpey 
[SPD] 

Atty. Mahoney 
[City of 
Springfield] 

draft memo of understanding 
and union input 

attorney-client and work-
product doctrine  

Privileged 

64 12/12/18 & 
12/13/18 

Email Andrea Stone 
[City of 
Springfield] 

Atty. Sheehan  
Anthony 
Wilson [City of 
Springfield] 

legal discussion and advice 
relative to NDA 

work-product doctrine  Privileged  
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                         Volume 1, Pages 1-169

                             Exhibits: 147-165

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

--------------------------------------------------

MAURA O'NEILL, as administrator of the Estate of 

Madelyn E. Linsenmeir,

                Plaintiff, 

 vs.                     CA No. 3:20-cv-30036

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MOISES ZANAZANIAN, 

REMINGTON McNABB, SHEILA RODRIGUEZ, HAMPDEN 

COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, and JOHN/JANE DOES 

NOS. 1-5,

                Defendants.

--------------------------------------------------

REMOTE AND IN-PERSON 30(b)(6) DEPOSITION OF CITY 

OF SPRINGFIELD, by its designee CHERYL 

CLAPPROOD, And Individually 

Thursday, November 17, 2022, 9:56 a.m. 

Via Zoom Video Conference and in person 

----Reporter:  Kathleen L. Good, CSR, RPR----

Post Office Box 367

Swampscott, Massachusetts 01907

Tel. 781-367-0815      Kathleen.Good@verizon.net 
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2
APPEARANCES:1

Goulston & Storrs2
Richard J. Rosensweig, Attorney (Via3

        Zoom)4
Michael Nzoiwu, Attorney (Via Zoom)5
400 Atlantic Avenue6
Boston, Massachusetts 021107
617-482-11758
rrosensweig@goulstonstorrs.com9
mnzoiwu@goulstonstorrs.com10

- and -11
American Civil Liberties Union12

        Foundation of Massachusetts, Inc.13
Daniel L. McFadden, Attorney14
Matthew R. Segal, Attorney (Via Zoom)15
211 Congress Street16
Boston, Massachusetts  0211017
617-482-317018
dmcfadden@aclum.org19
msegal@aclum.org20

        Attorneys for the Plaintiff21
22
23
24

3
 APPEARANCES, cont.:1

Prisoners' Legal Services of2
        Massachusetts3

David Milton, Attorney4
50 Federal Street5
Boston, Massachusetts 021106
617-482-27737
dmilton@plsma.org8
Attorneys for the Plaintiff9

10
Egan, Flanagan and Cohen, P.C.11
Thomas E. Day, Attorney (Via Zoom)12
67 Market Street13
Springfield, Massachusetts  01102-903514
413-737-026015
ted@efclaw.com16
Attorneys for Hampden County Sheriff's17

        Department18
19
20
21
22
23
24

4
 APPEARANCES, cont.:1

Lisa C. DeSousa, Attorney2
Tyler Kenefick, Attorney (Via Zoom)3
John Payne, City Solicitor4
City of Springfield Law Department5

        36 Court Street, Room 2106
        Springfield, Massachusetts 011037

            413-787-60858
            ldesousa@springfieldcityhall.com9
            tkenefick@springfieldcityhall.com10
            Attorneys for City of Springfield,11

        and Sheila Rodriguez12
13

            Reardon, Joyce & Akerson, P.C.14
            John K. Vigliotti, Attorney (Via Zoom)15
            4 Lancaster Terrace16
            Worcester, Massachusetts 0160617
            508-754-728518
            jvigliotti@rja-law.com19
            agambaccini@rja-law.com20
            Attorneys for Moises Zanazanian21
Also Present:22
            Maura O'Neill (Via Zoom)23
            Mary Brown24

5
INDEX1

2
WITNESS:                                     PAGE:                 3
CHERYL CLAPPROOD4

BY MR. MILTON 75
BY MS. DeSOUSA 1646

*****7
EXHIBITS:                                     PAGE:8
No. 147, Notice of Deposition 149
No. 148, SPD Rule 16 Matrons 3610
No. 149, Rule 26 4111
No. 150, Rule 26, Superseded by General 5212
         Order 19-009, Dated 9/11/201913
No. 151, General Order 19-009 5414
No. 152, Rule 25 6415
No. 153, Cell Check Order 6616
No. 154, Memo from Barbieri to Clapprood6817
No. 155, Special Order 19-050, Prisoner 8818
         Injury/Illness Procedure19
No. 156, GO 18-05 9420
No. 157, E-Mail 10021
No. 158, Report 10122
No. 159, GO 17-06A 10623
No. 160, Form 12724
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134
I probably did not, most likely.1 A.
Did you receive a copy of it at any2 Q.

point?3
No.4 A.
Have you seen it before today?5 Q.
No, sir.6 A.
What is the purpose of this type of7 Q.

document?8
It's to advise the officer that there's9 A.

going to be charge brought against him and he can10
then notify his attorneys and take whatever11
action he needs to take.12

So turning to -- do you see where it13 Q.
says Rule 27?14

Yes.15 A.
Can you read that paragraph, please.16 Q.
"Neglect of duty.  This includes any17 A.

conduct or omission which is not in accordance18
with established and ordinary duties or19
procedures as to such employees of which20
constitutes use of unreasonable judgment in the21
exercising of any discretion granted to an22
employee."23

Do you agree that Sergeant24 Q.

135
Zanazanian's conduct constitutes neglect of1
duty?2

After full review, yes.3 A.
"After full review" is referring to4 Q.

what?5
After looking at all the videos,6 A.

looking at all the reports, looking at medical7
reports, should have been probably the better8
course of action to send her for medical9
treatment.10

So when it refers to "any conduct or11 Q.
omission which is not in accordance with12
established and ordinary duties or procedures,13
what established and ordinary duties or14
procedures is that referring to?15

MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.16
It must be referring to the obligation17 A.

to send a person for medical treatment if they're18
needed.19

(By Mr. Milton) It refers to "use of20 Q.
unreasonable judgment."21

What is that referring to?22
Poor judgment.  It is a judgment call.23 A.

And I suppose after looking back at it, he, the24
136

judgment call should have been to send her to the1
hospital.2

Turning to Rule 29, Conduct, do you3 Q.
see that?4

Yes.5 A.
Is it fair to categorize this as the6 Q.

rule against conduct unbecoming?7
Yes.8 A.
So in what way did -- do you believe9 Q.

that Sergeant Zanazanian's conduct violated10
this rule?11

I don't believe it did.12 A.
Why not?13 Q.
I don't see anything that Sergeant14 A.

Zanazanian did for conduct unbecoming.15
Do you see where it says Rule 29,16 Q.

Directives and Orders?17
Yes.18 A.
I'm going to read:19 Q.
"Employees shall obey and comply20

with all rules, orders and other directives of21
the department whether transmitted verbally or22
in writing.  Employees shall obey al orders of23
a superior officer, officer of rank or24

137
supervisor."1

Do you believe that Sergeant2
Zanazanian violated this provision of Rule 29?3

No.4 A.
Why not?5 Q.
I don't think he intentionally6 A.

disobeyed any rule or order and it was simply7
just a bad judgment call.8

Whether or not it was intentional,9 Q.
did he disobey or not comply with any rule?10

No.  Other than showing bad judgment in11 A.
one call, I don't believe he violated any12
directive.13

Turning to Rule 26, Section 1,14 Q.
Prisoners, do you see that?15

Yes, sir.16 A.
Can you read that out loud.17 Q.
"If, in the judgment of the superior18 A.

officer, officer of rank in charge, the prisoner19
is suffering from wounds or injuries which20
require medical attention, the arrested person21
shall be taken to a hospital, and while in the22
hospital, such prisoner shall be in the legal23
custody of the police."24
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                         Volume 1, Pages 1-286

                             Exhibits: 171-176

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

--------------------------------------------------

MAURA O'NEILL, as administrator of the Estate of 

Madelyn E. Linsenmeir,

                Plaintiff, 

 vs.                     CA No. 3:20-cv-30036

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MOISES ZANAZANIAN, 

REMINGTON McNABB, SHEILA RODRIGUEZ, HAMPDEN 

COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, and JOHN/JANE DOES 

NOS. 1-5,

                Defendants.

--------------------------------------------------

REMOTE AND IN-PERSON DEPOSITION OF PHILIP TARPEY

Thursday, December 8, 2022, 10:04 a.m. 

Via Zoom Video Conference

----Reporter:  Kathleen L. Good, CSR, RPR----

K. L. GOOD & ASSOCIATES

Post Office Box 367

Swampscott, Massachusetts 01907

Tel. 781-367-0815      Kathleen.Good@verizon.net 

Case 3:20-cv-30036-MGM   Document 111-26   Filed 01/19/23   Page 2 of 5



12/15/2022 02:20:41 PM Page 2 to 5 of 312 2 of 99 sheets 

2
APPEARANCES:1

Goulston & Storrs2
Richard J. Rosensweig, Attorney3
(Via Zoom)4
Michael Nzoiwu, Attorney (Via Zoom)5
400 Atlantic Avenue6
Boston, Massachusetts 021107
617-482-11758
rrosensweig@goulstonstorrs.com9
mnzoiwu@goulstonstorrs.com10

- and -11
American Civil Liberties Union12

        Foundation of Massachusetts, Inc.13
Jessie J. Rossman, Attorney14
211 Congress Street15
Boston, Massachusetts  0211016
617-482-317017
jrossman@aclum.org,18
Attorneys for the Plaintiff19

20
21
22
23
24

3
APPEARANCES, cont.:1

Egan, Flanagan and Cohen, P.C.2
Michael McDonough, Attorney (Via Zoom)3
67 Market Street4
Springfield, Massachusetts  01102-90355
413-737-02606
mgm@efclaw.com7
Attorneys for Hampden County Sheriff's8

        Department9
10

Lisa C. DeSousa, Attorney (Via Zoom)11
City of Springfield Law Department12

        36 Court Street, Room 21013
        Springfield, Massachusetts 0110314

            413-787-608515
            ldesousa@springfieldcityhall.com16
            Attorneys for City of Springfield,17

        and Sheila Rodriguez18
19
20
21
22
23
24

4
 APPEARANCES, cont.:1
            Reardon, Joyce & Akerson, P.C.2
            John Vigliotti, Attorney3
            (Present for afternoon session.)4
            Andrew Gambaccini, Attorney5
            (Present for afternoon session.)6
            4 Lancaster Terrace7
            Worcester, Massachusetts 016068
            508-754-72859
            jvigliotti@rja-law.com10
            agambaccini@rja-law.com11
            Attorneys for Moises Zanazanian12

13
Also Present:14
            Maura O'Neill (Via Zoom)15
            Mary Brown, Fellow at ACLU16
            Inina Kachelmeier, Intern at ACLU17

18
19
20
21
22
23
24

5
INDEX1

WITNESS:                                     PAGE:                 2
PHILIP TARPEY3

BY MS. ROSSMAN 74
*****5

EXHIBITS:                                     PAGE:6
No. 171, Notice of Deposition of Philip 117
         Tarpey8
No. 172, E-Mail Chain, Bates Nos. CoS SUPP1309
         1 RPOD 0001471-000147210
No. 173, Letter from City of Springfield, 22111
         Massachusetts, Regarding the12
         Public Records Request13
         R000251-1301518, dated 12/21/1514
         (sic)15
No. 174, E-Mail Captain Tarpey to Lawrence 23816
         Murphy, 4/26/19, Bates Nos. CoS17
         SUPP 2 RPOD 000195218
No. 175, SO 18-249, 11/13/18 25319
No. 176, Inter-Departmental 25920
         Correspondence, GO 19-009,21
         9/11/1922

**** Original/Marked Exhibits in custody23
          of Ms. Rossman24
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226
Yes.1 A.
What is the subject of this e-mail?2 Q.
The SO No. 18-261.3 A.
Do you understand that to be the4 Q.

18-261 SO that we've been discussing previously5
that was investigating the circumstances6
regarding Madelyn Linsenmeir?7

Yes.8 A.
And in the subject, in the text of9 Q.

this e-mail, do you see where it says:10
"This case is going to hearing on11

March 20"?12
Yes.13 A.
Looking at Exhibit No. 41 in14 Q.

conjunction with Exhibit No. 40, do you have an15
understanding of the hearing that Kara16
Goodchild was trying to schedule in Exhibit 40?17

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.18
I think it's the Linsenmeir hearing.19 A.
(By Ms. Rossman) Do you know why20 Q.

Kara Goodchild chose to schedule the hearing21
for the Linsenmeir matter on February 22, 2019?22

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.23
Doesn't appear she did.24 A.

227
(By Ms. Rossman) Do you know why she1 Q.

initiated scheduling for the Linsenmeir hearing2
on February 22, 2019?3

No.4 A.
MS. ROSSMAN:  I probably have one5

chunk left and we can take a break.6
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Off the record.7
(Discussion off the record.)8
(Recess.)9

So we were just talking about10 Q.
potential hearing for SO 18-261.11

Do you know what the disposition of12
the hearing was for 18-261?13

No.14 A.
MS. ROSSMAN:  We can pull up what was15

previously marked as Exhibit 13.16
(Screen shared.)17

Do you recall seeing Exhibit 13 at18 Q.
some point prior to today?19

No.20 A.
Do you recognize what Exhibit 13 is?21 Q.
Yes.22 A.
What is it?23 Q.
It's an agreement between the Police.24 A.

228
Supervisors Association, the City of Springfield1
and Moises Zanazanian.2

Do you understand this agreement to3 Q.
be settling the issues surrounding SO 18-261?4

Yes.5 A.
Did you have any conversations with6 Q.

the Commissioner about this settlement7
agreement?8

I had conversations with the9 A.
Commissioner about -- a discussion about it but10
not about the agreement itself.11

Can you explain to me -- I want to12 Q.
make sure I understand what that nuance was --13
can you explain to me what the difference is?14

Not what the agreement would be; just15 A.
that there would be an agreement.16

So if I'm understanding correctly,17 Q.
you weren't discussing the contents of the18
agreement, but the existence of the agreement?19

Correct.20 A.
Do you recall when you had that21 Q.

conversation with the Commissioner?22
No.23 A.
Do you remember anything that you24 Q.

229
said to the Commissioner during that1
conversation?2

No.3 A.
Do you remember anything that the4 Q.

Commissioner said to you during that5
conversation?6

Just that there was going to be an7 A.
agreement.8

Did you have any conversations --9 Q.
well, actually, let me pause there.10

If I look at the back, the final11
page of this memorandum, it appears that it was12
Acting Commissioner Cheryl Clapprood who signed13
this agreement; is that right?14

Yes.15 A.
When you were previously just16 Q.

mentioning conversations with the Commissioner,17
which Commissioner were you referencing at that18
time?19

I actually didn't differentiate.  I20 A.
guess the function of the Commissioner.  I didn't21
recall whether it was one or the other.22

Do you remember today which23 Q.
Commissioner it was that you had a conversation24
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230
with?1

Not until I looked at the document.2 A.
Looking at the document, do you3 Q.

believe that the conversation you had was with4
Acting Commissioner Clapprood about this?5

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.6
I think so.7 A.
(By Ms. Rossman) Do you remember8 Q.

talking to anyone outside of the Commissioner9
about this settlement agreement?10

No.11 A.
Who made the decision on the part of12 Q.

the City of Springfield to enter into this13
decision?14

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.15
(By Ms. Rossman) If you know.16 Q.
I don't know.17 A.
Do you know if Acting Commissioner18 Q.

Clapprood had a conversation with anyone else19
about the content of this settlement agreement20
before entering into it?21

MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.22
MS. DeSOUSA:  Objection.23

No.24 A.

231
(By Ms. Rossman) No, you don't know?1 Q.
No, I don't know for sure.2 A.

(Screen share stopped.)3
MS. ROSSMAN:  If you could pull up4

what was previously marked -- one more question,5
I'm sorry, about Exhibit 13.6

Do you know who drafted the7 Q.
settlement agreement?8

No.9 A.
MS. ROSSMAN:  Pull up Exhibit 42.10
(Screen shared.)11

Do you recall seeing Exhibit 42 at12 Q.
some point prior to today?13

Yes, I think I did.14 A.
When do you remember seeing it?15 Q.
When the suspension came out.16 A.
Do you recall how you saw this17 Q.

document when the suspension came out?18
It would be in my office.19 A.
You would have seen the letter in20 Q.

your office?21
Yes.22 A.
In your capacity as the executive23 Q.

aide, would you have been responsible for24
232

helping to deliver this notice?1
MR. VIGLIOTTI:  Objection.2

Not delivering, no.  Signing it to be3 A.
delivered would be a possibility.4

(By Ms. Rossman) Do you recall5 Q.
whether or not -- strike that.6

Do you recall whether you assigned7
someone to deliver this notice?8

I don't recall if I was the person who9 A.
made the assignment.10

I guess we should identify this11 Q.
first.12

What is Exhibit 42?13
Exhibit 42 is a notice of suspension14 A.

without pay associated with SO 18-261, dated15
March 18, 2019.16

Who was it directed to?17 Q.
Sergeant Moises Zanazanian.18 A.
Who did it come from?19 Q.
The Commissioner, I'm sorry, Acting20 A.

Commissioner.21
Do you recall if you had any22 Q.

conversations with the Acting Commissioner in23
drafting this notice?24

233
The Commissioner doesn't draft the1 A.

notice.2
Who drafts the notice, if you know?3 Q.
I think, for the most part, they come4 A.

from the law department or Attorney Mahoney in5
conjunction with IIU because they do the typing6
sometimes.7

But the Commissioner doesn't draft it8
herself or himself.9

Did you have any conversations with10 Q.
the people who were drafting this letter before11
it was drafted?12

Not that I recall.13 A.
Did you have any conversations with14 Q.

the Acting Police Commissioner about the15
contents of this notice?16

Eventually, yes.17 A.
When did you have a conversation18 Q.

with her about the contents of the notice, if19
you recall?20

After the determination of the21 A.
suspension, there needs to be a personnel order22
generated in order to document the suspension.23
And that's where myself and the ad/min would come24
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CoS I.D. 000484

Clapprood
Exhibit for ID

No. 163
11/17/22        KLG-RPR
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 

 

 

MAURA O’NEILL, as administrator of the 

Estate of Madelyn E. Linsenmeir, 

 Plaintiffs, 

 v. 

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MOISES 

ZANAZANIAN, REMINGTON MCNABB, 

SHEILA RODRIGUEZ, HAMPDEN COUNTY 

SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT, and JOHN/JANE 

DOES NO. 1-5,  

 Defendants. 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

 

 

 

 

Civil Action No. 3:20-cv-30036-MGM 

 

       

PLAINTIFF’S FIRST SET OF REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS 

PROPOUNDED TO DEFENDANTS CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MOISES ZANAZANIAN, 

REMINGTON MCNABB, AND SHEILA RODRIGUEZ 

 

 Pursuant to Rules 26 and 34 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and Rule 34.1 of the 

Local Rules for the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts, plaintiff Maura O’Neill, 

as administrator of the Estate of Madelyn E. Linsenmeir, hereby requests that defendants City of 

Springfield, Moises Zanazanian, Remington McNabb, and Sheila Rodriguez (collectively, the 

“Springfield Defendants”) produce the documents and electronically stored information described 

below that are in their possession, custody or control, including without limitation, the possession, 

custody or control of any of their attorneys, agents, employees or representatives, for inspection 

and copying within thirty (30) days from the date of service of this request at the offices of 

Goulston & Storrs PC, 400 Atlantic Avenue, Boston, MA 02110. 
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ADDITIONAL INSTRUCTIONS 

1. The defendants are not required to produce again any documents already produced 

with their Rule 26 Initial Disclosures. 

2. Any document responsive to the Requests for Production but not produced 

because of a claim of privilege or any other claimed protection from disclosure should be 

identified in a privilege log describing (a) the kind of document or information withheld (e.g., 

memorandum, letter, e-mail), (b) its date, (c) the document or information’s author and all of its 

recipients, (d) a brief statement of the document or information’s subject matter, and (e) the 

grounds or reasons asserted for withholding the document or information, including without 

limitation the particular privilege rule that is being invoked. 

3. These Requests for Production are continuing in nature, including pursuant to Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 26(e). 

DEFINITIONS 

1. The Uniform Definitions in Discovery Requests of Rule 26.5 of the Local Rules for 

the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts shall apply as if fully restated 

herein.  

2. “CPHB” refers to the Community Police Hearing Board for the Springfield Police 

Department, including without limitation its members and staff. 

3. “SPD” refers to the Springfield Police Department, including without limitation its 

officers, commissioner, officials, bureaus, squads, divisions, internal investigation unit, 

employees, agents, representatives, and any person acting for it or on its behalf. 
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4. “Springfield” refers to defendant City of Springfield, including without limitation 

the SPD and the CPHB, and the City of Springfield’s officials, departments, officers, directors, 

employees, agents, representatives, and any person acting for it or on its behalf. 

5. “Zanazanian” refers to defendant Moises Zanazanian. 

6. “McNabb” refers to defendant Remington McNabb. 

7. “Rodriguez” refers to defendant Sheila Rodriguez. 

8. “The Springfield Defendants” refers collectively to defendants Springfield, 

Zanazanian, McNabb, and Rodriguez. 

9. “Madelyn Linsenmeir” refers to Madelyn E. Linsenmeir, the decedent in this case. 

10. “WCC” refers to the Western Massachusetts Regional Women’s Correctional 

Center, including its officers, employees, agents, representatives, and any person acting for it or 

on its behalf. 

11. “HCSD” refers to defendant Hampden County Sheriff’s Department, including 

without limitation the WCC, and the Hampden County Sheriff’s Department’s officers, 

employees, agents, representatives, and any person acting for it or on its behalf. 

12. The terms “and” and “or” shall be construed in order to bring within the scope of 

these requests the broadest response possible.   

REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 1:  All documents concerning Madelyn 

Linsenmeir’s arrest, booking, and detention by the Springfield Defendants, including without 

limitation any and all reports, forms, logs, notes, communications, case files, database files and 

search results, electronic mail, photographs, audio recordings, and video recordings. 
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REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 2:  All documents concerning Madelyn 

Linsenmeir’s transfer by any of the Springfield Defendants to any other custodian, including 

without limitation any and all reports, forms, logs, notes, communications, case files, database files 

and search results, electronic mail, photographs, audio recordings, and video recordings. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 3: All documents concerning Madelyn 

Linsenmeir’s medical condition, evaluation, and/or treatment.  

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 4:  All documents concerning any inquiry, 

investigation, and/or disciplinary proceedings concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir, her time in the 

custody of the Springfield Defendants, and/or the circumstances leading up to her death (including 

Special Order 18-261 and CPHB Complaint SO-18-261), including without limitation any and all 

complaints, orders, communications, electronic mail, interview notes, witness statements, reports, 

evidence, SPD case files, CPHB case files, CPHB Case Review forms, CPHB minutes, CPHB 

transcripts and recordings, CPHB findings, CPHB recommendations, communications sent or 

received by the SPD and/or its Commissioner, communications with any other municipal, state, or 

federal agency, agreements, and records of any discipline imposed. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 5:  All documents that are the SPD 

Commissioner’s records for any matter concerning Madelyn Linsenmer (including Special Order 

18-261 and CPHB Complaint SO-18-261), including all reports, findings, conclusions, 

communications, and decisions. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 6:  All documents that are communications 

between or among Springfield, any current or former SPD officer or employee, any police union, 

and/or their respective attorneys, concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir or any matter concerning her 

(including Special Order 18-261 and CPHB Complaint SO-18-261). 
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REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 7:  All documents concerning the negotiation, 

drafting, and execution of the “MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN AND AMONG 

THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD AND THE SPRINGFIELD POLICE SUPERVISORS 

ASSOCIATION AND MOISES ZANAZANIAN” dated March 13, 2019, including without 

limitation all drafts of that agreement and all communications between and among Springfield, 

Zanazanian, any police union, and/or their respective attorneys concerning that agreement. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 8:  All documents concerning the negotiation, 

drafting, and execution of the “Notice of Suspension Without Pay, SO#18-261” dated March 18, 

2019, including without limitation all drafts of that document and all communications between 

and among Springfield, Zanazanian, any police union, and/or their respective attorneys concerning 

that agreement. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 9:  All documents that are records of any 

discipline imposed on Zanazanian, McNabb, and/or Rodriguez for their conduct concerning 

Madelyn Linsenmeir. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 10:  The complete personnel files for Zanazanian, 

McNabb, and Rodriguez, including without limitation any and all records concerning their 

interactions with Madelyn Linsenmeir, and including without limitation any and all complaints of 

misconduct against them and the resolution of any such complaints.  

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 11:  All documents that are policies and 

procedures of the SPD in effect at any time from January 1, 2013, to the present, and any 

amendments, exhibits, and addenda thereto, concerning each of the following subjects: 

a. The housing, care, treatment and management of persons in SPD custody; 

b. The booking process for persons in SPD custody; 
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c. Making and maintaining audio and/or visual recordings of the booking process 

for persons in SPD custody; 

d. Making and maintaining records of injuries to persons in SPD custody; 

e. Making and maintaining records of medical complaints and requests for 

medical assistance by persons in SPD custody; 

f. Providing medical evaluation, treatment, and other medical care to persons in 

SPD custody; 

g. The transport of persons in SPD custody to a hospital, medical clinic, or other 

medical facility; 

h. The transfer of persons in SPD custody to a different custodian; 

i. The operation of the Internal Investigations Unit; and 

j. The investigation and/or resolutions of complaints or other allegations of 

misconduct against SPD officers. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 12:  All documents that are training materials 

prepared by the SPD, or presented to SPD officers or employees, concerning the subjects listed in 

Request 11, above. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 13:  A blank copy of any form used from January 

1, 2013, to the present to document the investigation, review, and/or resolution of complaints or 

other allegations of misconduct against SPD officers, including without limitation any such 

form(s) used by the CPHB. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 14:  All documents that are policies, procedures, 

and training materials for the CPHB from January 1, 2013, to the present. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 15:  Unredacted copies of all documents 

previously produced with redactions in response to Public Records Requests R000251-101518, 

R000847-041119, and R000952-050819, and all documents responsive to those requests that were 

collected but withheld from production in their entirety, including without limitation SPD 

Interdepartmental Correspondence #PO 18-455 and 18-466 dated November 13, 2018, and the 
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unredacted email dated March 14, 2019, at 9:40 a.m. from Kara Goodchild cancelling the March 

20, 2019 CPHB hearing. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 16:  All documents concerning the City’s 

collection of records and preparation of responses concerning Public Records Request R000251-

101518, including without limitation all correspondence between and among any officers, 

employees, attorneys, or agents of Springfield and/or the SPD. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 17:  All documents that are communications 

between the Springfield Defendants and the HCSD concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir.  

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 18:  All documents that are reports by the Police 

Executive Research Forum from 2016 to the present concerning the SPD and/or the CPHB. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 19:  All documents concerning the cancellation 

of the CPHB’s hearing concerning CPHB Complaint SO-18-261 scheduled for March 20, 2019, 

including without limitation electronic mail and other communications. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 20:  All documents that are complaints alleging 

mistreatment of a prisoner by the SPD from January 1, 2013, to the present, and that are records 

of the adjudication of those complaints, including any findings made and any discipline imposed. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 21:  All documents that are communications 

between Springfield and the U.S. Department of Justice concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir or this 

case. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 22:  All documents that are referenced in 

defendants’ initial disclosures and responses to interrogatories in this case. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 23:  All documents that are provided to any 

person retained as a testifying expert in this action. 
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REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 24:  All documents that will be introduced or 

otherwise displayed or referenced at the trial of this action. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 25:  All documents that are produced to any other 

party pursuant to a discovery request or obligation arising from this action. 

 

 

 

MAURA O’NEILL 

 

By her attorneys, 

 
      

Martin M. Fantozzi (BBO #554651) 

Richard J. Rosensweig (BBO #639547) 

Joshua M. Looney (BBO #703636) 

GOULSTON & STORRS PC 

400 Atlantic Avenue 

Boston, MA 02110 

jlooney@goulstonstorrs.com 

       (617) 574-2245 

 

Matthew R. Segal (BBO #654489) 

Jessie J. Rossman (BBO #670685) 

Daniel L. McFadden (BBO #676612) 

AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES  

UNION FOUNDATION OF 

MASSACHUSETTS, INC. 

211 Congress Street 

Boston, MA 02110 

(617) 482-3170 

 

Elizabeth Matos (BBO #671505) 

David Milton (BBO #668908) 

PRISONERS’ LEGAL SERVICES  

OF MASSACHUSETTS 

50 Federal Street 

Boston, MA 02110 

(617) 482-2773 

Dated: September 30, 2021 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I hereby certify that on September 30, 2021, a true copy of the foregoing document was served 

on counsel of record for all parties by mail and electronic mail. 

 

      
             

        Joshua M. Looney, Esq.  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 

 
 
MAURA O’NEILL, as administrator of the 
Estate of Madelyn E. Linsenmeir, 

 Plaintiffs, 

 v. 

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MOISES 
ZANAZANIAN, REMINGTON MCNABB, 
SHEILA RODRIGUEZ, HAMPDEN COUNTY 
SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT, and JOHN/JANE 
DOES NO. 1-5,  

 Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
 
 
 

Civil Action No. 3:20-cv-30036-MGM 

 

       
DEFENDANTS CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MOISES ZANAZANIAN, REMINGTON 

MCNABB, AND SHEILA RODRIGUEZ RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF’S FIRST SET OF 
REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS 

 
NOW COME the above-named Defendants and hereby respond to Plaintiff’s request as follows. 

 
REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION 

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 1:  All documents concerning Madelyn 

Linsenmeir’s arrest, booking, and detention by the Springfield Defendants, including without 

limitation any and all reports, forms, logs, notes, communications, case files, database files and 

search results, electronic mail, photographs, audio recordings, and video recordings. 

RESPONSE: Please see exhibits 1-25 of Defendant City of Springfield’s initial 

disclosures. 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 2:  All documents concerning Madelyn 

Linsenmeir’s transfer by any of the Springfield Defendants to any other custodian, including 
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without limitation any and all reports, forms, logs, notes, communications, case files, database files 

and search results, electronic mail, photographs, audio recordings, and video recordings. 

RESPONSE: The City has no other documents other than the documents disclosed in 

the initial disclosures.   

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 3: All documents concerning Madelyn 

Linsenmeir’s medical condition, evaluation, and/or treatment.  

RESPONSE: Please see exhibits 1, 2 and 15-17 of Defendant City of Springfield’s 

initial disclosures.  

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 4:  All documents concerning any inquiry, 

investigation, and/or disciplinary proceedings concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir, her time in the 

custody of the Springfield Defendants, and/or the circumstances leading up to her death (including 

Special Order 18-261 and CPHB Complaint SO-18-261), including without limitation any and all 

complaints, orders, communications, electronic mail, interview notes, witness statements, reports, 

evidence, SPD case files, CPHB case files, CPHB Case Review forms, CPHB minutes, CPHB 

transcripts and recordings, CPHB findings, CPHB recommendations, communications sent or 

received by the SPD and/or its Commissioner, communications with any other municipal, state, or 

federal agency, agreements, and records of any discipline imposed. 

RESPONSE: Please see exhibits 1, 2, and 25a-c of Defendant City of Springfield’s 

initial disclosures.  

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 5:  All documents that are the SPD 

Commissioner’s records for any matter concerning Madelyn Linsenmer (including Special Order 
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18-261 and CPHB Complaint SO-18-261), including all reports, findings, conclusions, 

communications, and decisions. 

RESPONSE: Please see exhibits 1 and 2 of Defendant City of Springfield’s initial 

disclosures.  

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 6:  All documents that are communications 

between or among Springfield, any current or former SPD officer or employee, any police union, 

and/or their respective attorneys, concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir or any matter concerning her 

(including Special Order 18-261 and CPHB Complaint SO-18-261). 

RESPONSE: Please see exhibits 1 and 2 of Defendant City of Springfield’s initial 

disclosures. 

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 7:  All documents concerning the negotiation, 

drafting, and execution of the “MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN AND AMONG 

THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD AND THE SPRINGFIELD POLICE SUPERVISORS 

ASSOCIATION AND MOISES ZANAZANIAN” dated March 13, 2019, including without 

limitation all drafts of that agreement and all communications between and among Springfield, 

Zanazanian, any police union, and/or their respective attorneys concerning that agreement. 

RESPONSE:  Objection. The above requested documents are protected settlement 

negotiations and work product documents. Therefore, they are privileged attorney/client 

communications that the City will supplement with a detailed privilege log.  
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REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 8:  All documents concerning the negotiation, 

drafting, and execution of the “Notice of Suspension Without Pay, SO#18-261” dated March 18, 

2019, including without limitation all drafts of that document and all communications between 

and among Springfield, Zanazanian, any police union, and/or their respective attorneys concerning 

that agreement. 

RESPONSE: Objection. The above requested documents are protected settlement 

negotiations and work product documents. Therefore, they are privileged attorney/client 

communications that the City will supplement with a detailed privilege log.   Without waiving 

such objection, please see exhibit 25a of Defendant City of Springfield’s initial disclosures.  

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 9:  All documents that are records of any 

discipline imposed on Zanazanian, McNabb, and/or Rodriguez for their conduct concerning 

Madelyn Linsenmeir. 

RESPONSE: Please see exhibits 25a, 25b, and 25c of Defendant City of Springfield’s 

initial disclosures.  

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 10:  The complete personnel files for Zanazanian, 

McNabb, and Rodriguez, including without limitation any and all records concerning their 

interactions with Madelyn Linsenmeir, and including without limitation any and all complaints of 

misconduct against them and the resolution of any such complaints.  

RESPONSE: Please see exhibits 25 a-c and 26 a-c of Defendant City of Springfield’s 

initial disclosures.  
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REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 11:  All documents that are policies and 

procedures of the SPD in effect at any time from January 1, 2013, to the present, and any 

amendments, exhibits, and addenda thereto, concerning each of the following subjects: 

a. The housing, care, treatment and management of persons in SPD custody; 

b. The booking process for persons in SPD custody; 

c. Making and maintaining audio and/or visual recordings of the booking process 
for persons in SPD custody; 

d. Making and maintaining records of injuries to persons in SPD custody; 

e. Making and maintaining records of medical complaints and requests for 
medical assistance by persons in SPD custody; 

f. Providing medical evaluation, treatment, and other medical care to persons in 
SPD custody; 

g. The transport of persons in SPD custody to a hospital, medical clinic, or other 
medical facility; 

h. The transfer of persons in SPD custody to a different custodian; 

i. The operation of the Internal Investigations Unit; and 

j. The investigation and/or resolutions of complaints or other allegations of 
misconduct against SPD officers. 

RESPONSES: 

a. Please see exhibit 11 (COS RPOD 000158-932), City of Springfield Police 

Department Rules and Regulations. 

b. Please see ex. 11 above, City of Springfield Police Department Rules and 

Regulations regarding the booking process policy (G.O. 19-009).  

c. Please see ex. 11 above, City of Springfield Police Department Rules and 

Regulations regarding the booking process policy (G.O. 19-009). 

d. Please see ex. 11 above, City of Springfield Police Department Rules and 

Regulations regarding prisoner injury- arrest reports (G.O. 10-004) and the 

Prisoner Injury Report Form Amended  (G.O. 18-05).  
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e. Please see ex. 11 above, City of Springfield Police Department Rules and 

Regulations regarding medical documentation (G.O. 10-08). 

f. Please see ex. 11 above, City of Springfield Police Department Rules and 

Regulations. 

g. Please see ex. 11 above, City of Springfield Police Department Rules and 

Regulations regarding the transportation of Prisoners Policy and Procedure no. 

700).  

h. Please see ex. 11 above, City of Springfield Police Department Rules and 

Regulations regarding the transportation of Prisoners (G.O. 17-06 and G.O. 17-

06A).  

i. Please see exhibit 11 (COS RPOD 000111-135), IIU General Guidelines and 

exhibit 11i, (COS RPOD 0001103-1118).  

j. Please see ex. 11i above.  

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 12:  All documents that are training materials 

prepared by the SPD, or presented to SPD officers or employees, concerning the subjects listed in 

Request 11, above. 

RESPONSE: Please see CPHB training documents attached hereto as exhibit 12 as 

well as all documents attached hereto as exhibit 11a-j above.  

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 13:  A blank copy of any form used from January 

1, 2013, to the present to document the investigation, review, and/or resolution of complaints or 

other allegations of misconduct against SPD officers, including without limitation any such 

form(s) used by the CPHB. 

RESPONSE: Please see Springfield Police Department Citizen Complaint form 

attached hereto as exhibit 13. 
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REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 14:  All documents that are policies, procedures, 

and training materials for the CPHB from January 1, 2013, to the present. 

RESPONSE: Please see response to 12 above.  

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 15:  Unredacted copies of all documents 

previously produced with redactions in response to Public Records Requests R000251-101518, 

R000847-041119, and R000952-050819, and all documents responsive to those requests that were 

collected but withheld from production in their entirety, including without limitation SPD 

Interdepartmental Correspondence #PO 18-455 and 18-466 dated November 13, 2018, and the 

unredacted email dated March 14, 2019, at 9:40 a.m. from Kara Goodchild cancelling the March 

20, 2019 CPHB hearing.  

RESPONSE:  The City has redacted the documents to protect the privacy interests 

of uninvolved persons. The City will be willing to provide unredacted copies if the parties 

can enter into a confidentiality order. A proposed confidentiality order is being forwarded 

to counsel for the Plaintiff. Notwithstanding nor waiving the above, please find the un-

redacted email cancelling the March 20, 2019 CPHB Hearing attached as Ex. 19. 

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 16:  All documents concerning the City’s 

collection of records and preparation of responses concerning Public Records Request R000251-

101518, including without limitation all correspondence between and among any officers, 

employees, attorneys, or agents of Springfield and/or the SPD. 

Case 3:20-cv-30036-MGM   Document 111-29   Filed 01/19/23   Page 8 of 13



8 
 

RESPONSE: OBJECTION:  The City objects to this request on the grounds that the 

requested documents, in whole or in part, are protected by work product privilege and 

attorney client privilege.  Further objecting the City states that the burden of compiling 

documents requested substantially outweighs any potential benefit to the Plaintiff, as these 

documents are wholly irrelevant to the within lawsuit.   

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 17:  All documents that are communications 

between the Springfield Defendants and the HCSD concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir.  

RESPONSE: Other than documents from counsel relative to this lawsuit, no such 

communications exist.   

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 18:  All documents that are reports by the Police 

Executive Research Forum from 2016 to the present concerning the SPD and/or the CPHB. 

RESPONSE: Please see the PERF report attached hereto as exhibit 11 above (COS 

RPOD 000136-153).  

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 19:  All documents concerning the cancellation 

of the CPHB’s hearing concerning CPHB Complaint SO-18-261 scheduled for March 20, 2019, 

including without limitation electronic mail and other communications. 

RESPONSE: Please see email cancelling the CPHB hearing attached hereto as exhibit 

19 (COS RPOD 0001405). 
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REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 20:  All documents that are complaints alleging 

mistreatment of a prisoner by the SPD from January 1, 2013, to the present, and that are records 

of the adjudication of those complaints, including any findings made and any discipline imposed. 

RESPONSE: The City is still undergoing a diligent search for same and will 

supplement this response upon completion of same.  

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 21:  All documents that are communications 

between Springfield and the U.S. Department of Justice concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir or this 

case. 

RESPONSE: The City is unable to find any documents that would be responsive to 

this request. 

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 22:  All documents that are referenced in 

defendants’ initial disclosures and responses to interrogatories in this case. 

RESPONSE:  Please see exhibits 1-28 of Defendant City of Springfield’s initial 

disclosures sent via Dropbox link on 9/3/2021.   

 

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 23:  All documents that are provided to any 

person retained as a testifying expert in this action. 

RESPONSE: The City has not yet retained a testifying expert regarding this matter.  

Further answering, the requested documents are protected from disclosure by the work 

product doctrine, and this answer will only be supplemented to the extent required under 

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure relative to expert disclosures.   
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REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 24:  All documents that will be introduced or 

otherwise displayed or referenced at the trial of this action. 

RESPONSE: The City has not yet designated what documents it intends to introduce 

at trial in this matter.   Further answering, the requested documents are protected from 

disclosure by the work product doctrine, and this answer will only be supplemented to the 

extent required under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 25:  All documents that are produced to any other 

party pursuant to a discovery request or obligation arising from this action. 

RESPONSE: The City has produced no other documents to any party other than 

those produced to the Plaintiff.   

 

The Defendants,       
City of Springfield, Moises Zanazanian,  
Remington McNabb and Sheila Rodriguez, 
By their attorneys, 
       

Date: November 29, 2021    /s/ Lisa C. deSousa      
Lisa C. deSousa, Esquire BBO#546115   
City of Springfield Law Department    
1600 E. Columbus Ave., 2nd Fl.    
Springfield, MA 01103     
Tel: (413) 886-5205     
ldesousa@springfieldcityhall.com  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I, the undersigned hereby certify that a true copy of the within document was this day 

served upon the parties via email and Drop Box to: 

 

ACLU  
Daniel L. McFadden, Esq. 
Matthew R. Segal, Esq. 
Jessie J. Rossman, Esq.  
Areeba Jibril, Esq.  
211 Congress Street 
Boston, MA 02110 
dmcfadden@aclum.org  
msegal@aclum.org  
jrossman@aclum.org  
ajibril@aclum.org  
(counsel for plaintiff) 
 
 
Prisoners’ Legal Services of Massachusetts 
Elizabeth Matos, Esq.  
David Milton, Esq.  
50 Federal Street 
Boston, MA 02110 
ematos@plsma.org  
dmilton@plsma.org  
(counsel for plaintiff) 
 
 
Goulston & Storrs, PC 
Joshua M. Looney, Esq. 
Martin M. Fantozzi, Esq.  
Richard J. Rosenweig, Esq.  
400 Atlantic Avenue 
Boston, MA 02110 
jlooney@goulstonstorrs.com  
mfantozzi@goulstonstorrs.com  
rrosenweig@goulstonstorrs.com  
(counsel for plaintiff) 
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Kevin B. Coyle, Esq.  
1299 Page Boulevard 
Springfield, MA 01104 
attycoyle@aol.com  
(counsel for Defendant McNabb) 
 
 
Egan Flanagan and Cohen PC 
Thomas E. Day, Esq. 
Lauren F. Olanoff, Esq. 
Michael G. McDonough, Esq.  
67 Market Street 
P.O. Box 9035 
Springfield, MA 01102-9035 
ted@efclaw.com  
lfo@efclaw.com  
mgm@efclaw.com  
(counsel for Hampden County Sheriff’s Dept.) 

 
 
 
Dated: November 29, 2021      /s/ Lisa C. deSousa     
       Lisa C. deSousa, Esq.  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 

 
 
MAURA O’NEILL, as administrator of the 
Estate of Madelyn E. Linsenmeir, 

 Plaintiffs, 

 v. 

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MOISES 
ZANAZANIAN, REMINGTON MCNABB, 
SHEILA RODRIGUEZ, HAMPDEN COUNTY 
SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT, and JOHN/JANE 
DOES NO. 1-5,  

 Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
 
 
 

Civil Action No. 3:20-cv-30036-MGM 

 

       
DESIGNATION OF FED. R. CIV. P. Rule 30 (b) (6) WITNESSES BY CITY OF 

SPRINGFIELD  
 
NOW COME the City of Springfield and designates the following witnesses to testify in the Fed. 

R. Civ. P. Rule 30 (b) (6) deposition, per the topics enumerated in Plaintiff’s Schedule A: 

 
1. Duties and responsibilities of personnel working in the SD’s police station(s), including 

the watch commanders, booking sergeants, booking officers, and female detention 

attendants/matrons:  DESIGNEE:  Superintendent Cheryl Clapprood; 

2. The SPD’s policies, procedures, practices, and training, both formal and informal 

concerning: 

a. Booking and detention of prisoners: DESIGNEE: Superintendent Cheryl 

Clapprood; 

b. Cell checks, wellness checks, and monitoring prisoners: DESIGNEE: 

Superintendent Cheryl Clapprood; 

c. Sick or injured prisoners, medical emergencies of prisoners, hospitalizations of 

prisoners, and when and how to obtain medical assistance for prisoners: 

DESIGNEE: Superintendent Cheryl Clapprood; 
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d. The transfer of the SPD’s prisoners to the custody of another custodian, including 

without limitation to the WCC: DESIGNEE: Superintendent Cheryl Clapprood; 

e. The custody and care of prisoners believed to have consumed alcohol or drugs 

and prisoners believed to be undergoing withdrawal from drugs or alcohol: 

DESIGNEE: Superintendent Cheryl Clapprood; 

f. Prisoner phone calls, including recording of prisoner phone calls: DESIGNEE:  

Superintendent Cheryl Clapprood; 

g. Audio and/or video recording of prisoners in the booking area: DESIGNEE: 

Superintendent Cheryl Clapprood; and 

h. The investigation of officer rule violations or other misconduct, and concerning 

discipline of officers found to have violated rules or committed other misconduct, 

from 2013 to the present, including as applicable to the IIU: DESIGNEE: Larry 

Murphy  

3. Policies, procedures, practices, and training for the CPHB and BOPC, from 2013 to the 

present: DESIGNEE: Attorney Talia Gee 

4. The SPD’s policies, procedures, rules, orders, manuals, and guidelines governing officer 

conduct: DESIGNEE Larry Murphy; 

5. The SPD’s policies, procedures, practices, and training, formal and informal, in response 

to any aspect of the SOD’s custody of Madelyn Linsemeir or her death:  DESIGNEE: 

Superintendent Cheryl Clapprood; 

6. The investigation and discipline of Moises Zanzanian for his conduct, acts, and/or 

omissions concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir, including without limitation the negotiation 

and drafting of the “Memorandum of Agreement Between and Among the City of 

Springfield and The Police Supervisors Association and Moises Zanzanian” dated March 

13, 2019. This topic includes without limitation all communications between and among 

the City, Zanzanian any police union, and their respective attorneys concerning the 

investigation, discipline, and agreement: DESIGNEE: Attorney William Mahoney 

7. Any and all investigations into any aspect of the SPD’s custody of Madelyn Linsenmeir 

and/ or her death, including SO #18-261, SO #18-247, and PIE #18-053: DESIGNEE: 

Monique McCoy; 

Case 3:20-cv-30036-MGM   Document 111-30   Filed 01/19/23   Page 3 of 7



3 
 

8. The SPD’s termination of maria Sanchez: DESIGNEE: Superintendent Cheryl 

Clapprood; 

9. The SPD’s PO 18-466, and the resignation and/or termination of Shanice Linnehan: 

DESIGNEE: Lynn Vedovelli; 

10. Any and all violations by any Springfield employee of any policies, procedures, 

practices, rules, orders, or guideline during the SPD’s custody of Madelyn Linsenmeir, 

from her arrest on September 29, 2018 through her transfer to HCSD custody on 

September 30, 2018, including, for each violation, any investigation, discipline, 

termination, or other action taken by SPD or the City in response: DESIGNEE: Larry 

Murphy; 

11. Complaints, investigations, and/or discipline of an Springfield employee concerning 

violations of any of the policies, procedures, and practices with regard to Topics 2(b), (c), 

and (d) from 2013 to the present: DESIGNEE: Larry Murphy; 

12. Any and all lawsuits against the City or any of its police officers alleging wrongful death 

from 2013 to the present: DESIGNEE: Superintendent Cheryl Clapprood; 

13. Any and all lawsuits against the City or any of its police officers alleging inadequate 

medical care for prisoners or denial or medical care to prisoners from 2013 to the present: 

DESIGNEE: Superintendent Cheryl Clapprood; 

14. Circumstances of the death of any other prisoners who died in SPD custody since 2013: 

DESIGNEE: Superintendent Cheryl Clapprood; 

15. Reports or responses to inquiries concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir from the Mayors 

office, City Council, or any state or federal agency: DESIGNEE: Superintendent Cheryl 

Clapprood; 

16. The City’s and SPD’s response to public records request R000251-101518: DESIGNEE: 

Capt. Jeff Martucci; 

17. Searched for material in response to document requests in this litigation, and the 

authenticity of the records produced by the City and/or SPD in this litigation: 

DESIGNEE: Capt. Jeff Martucci; 

18.  Efforts to preserve documents concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir’s custody in Springfield: 

DESIGNEE: Capt. Jeff Martucci; 
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19. Any and all agreements, contracts, memoranda of understanding, collective bargaining 

agreements, or other obligations, promises, or understandings between the City and each 

of the individual Defendants, respectively, concerning the payment of any judgement or 

settlement in this matter: DESIGNEE: Superintendent Cheryl Clapprood; 

20. Any insurance policy providing or potentially providing coverage for the City in 

connection with this litigation and the claims raised therein: DESIGNEE: Superintendent 

Cheryl Clapprood. 

 

 
    
City of Springfield and 
Sheila Rodriguez, 
By their attorneys, 
       

Date: May _____, 2022    /s/ Lisa C. deSousa      
Lisa C. deSousa, Esquire BBO#546115   
City of Springfield Law Department    
1600 E. Columbus Ave., 2nd Fl.    
Springfield, MA 01103     
Tel: (413) 886-5205     
ldesousa@springfieldcityhall.com  

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I, the undersigned hereby certify that a true copy of the within document was this day 

served upon the parties via email and Drop Box to: 

 

ACLU  
Daniel L. McFadden, Esq. 
Matthew R. Segal, Esq. 
Jessie J. Rossman, Esq.  
Areeba Jibril, Esq.  
211 Congress Street 
Boston, MA 02110 
dmcfadden@aclum.org  
msegal@aclum.org  
jrossman@aclum.org  
ajibril@aclum.org  
(counsel for plaintiff) 
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Prisoners’ Legal Services of Massachusetts 
David Milton, Esq.  
50 Federal Street 
Boston, MA 02110 
dmilton@plsma.org  
(counsel for plaintiff) 
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Goulston & Storrs, PC 
Joshua M. Looney, Esq. 
Martin M. Fantozzi, Esq.  
Richard J. Rosenweig, Esq.  
400 Atlantic Avenue 
Boston, MA 02110 
jlooney@goulstonstorrs.com  
mfantozzi@goulstonstorrs.com  
rrosenweig@goulstonstorrs.com  
(counsel for plaintiff) 
 
Kevin B. Coyle, Esq.  
1299 Page Boulevard 
Springfield, MA 01104 
attycoyle@aol.com  
(counsel for Defendant McNabb) 
 
Egan Flanagan and Cohen PC 
Thomas E. Day, Esq. 
Lauren F. Olanoff, Esq. 
Michael G. McDonough, Esq.  
67 Market Street 
P.O. Box 9035 
Springfield, MA 01102-9035 
ted@efclaw.com  
lfo@efclaw.com  
mgm@efclaw.com  
(counsel for Hampden County Sheriff’s Dept.) 

 
Reardon, Joyce and Akerson, P.C. 
John K. Vigliotti, Esq.  
4 Lancaster Terrace 
Worcester, MA 01609 
jvigliotti@rja-law.com  
(counsel for Defendant Zanazanian) 

 
 
Dated: May _____, 2022      /s/ Lisa C. deSousa     
       Lisa C. deSousa, Esq.  
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Daniel McFadden

From: Santaniello, Natalie <NSantaniello@springfieldcityhall.com>
Sent: Wednesday, January 4, 2023 12:17 PM
To: Daniel McFadden; DeSousa, Lisa; Kenefick, Tyler; Thomas E. Day; Michael G. 

McDonough; Lauren F. Olanoff; Lori A. Pegoraro; attycoyle@aol.com; John K. Vigliotti
Cc: Matthew Segal; Jessie Rossman; Mary Brown; Rosensweig, Richard J.; Looney, Josh; 

Halstead, Julius A.; Milton, David
Subject: RE: [External] RE: Documents reviewed by Bill Mahoney prior to his 30(b) (6) deposition

Counsel: 
 
Below is a breakdown of the documents Attorney Mahoney reviewed prior to his 30(b)(6) deposition.  
 
Privilege Log: 

Privilege log line item 1 

Privilege log line item 5 w. attachment containing draft edits  

Privilege log line item 7 w. attachment containing draft edits 

Privilege log line item 9 w. attachment containing draft edits  

Privilege log line item 35 (produced) 

Privilege log line item 57 w. attachment containing draft edits 

Privilege log line item 61 w. attachments containing draft edits 

Produced:  

City’s 2nd Supp. Response 

Bates #2005‐2006 

City’s 7‐th Supp. Response 

Bates #8362 

Bates #8440‐8441 

Bates #8444‐8457 

Bates #8458 

Please reach out if you have any questions or concerns. 
 
Best, 
 
Natalie Santaniello 
City of Springfield Law Department 
1600 East Columbus Avenue, 2nd Floor 
Springfield, MA  01103 
Phone:  413‐750‐2414 
Fax:       413‐750‐2363 
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4862-7355-7559, v. 4 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 

 

MAURA O’NEILL, as administrator of the 

Estate of Madelyn E. Linsenmeir, 

 Plaintiffs, 

 v. 

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, et al.,  

 Defendants. 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

 

 

 

 

Civil Action No. 3:20-cv-30036-MGM 

 

       

NOTICE OF DEPOSITION UNDER FED. R. CIV. P. 30(b)(6) 

 

To:  Lisa C. DeSousa, Esq. 

Deputy City Solicitor 

City of Springfield Law Department 

1600 East Columbus Avenue 

Springfield, MA 01103 

 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that, in accordance with Rule 30(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure, on November 17, 2022, at 10:00 a.m., at the office of Lesser Newman Aleo & 

Nasser, located at 39 Main Street, Northampton, MA 01060, counsel for Plaintiff Maura O’Neill, 

as administrator of the Estate of Madelyn E. Linsenmeir, will take the in-person deposition of 

Defendant City of Springfield on the topics described in the attached Schedule A, on oral 

examination before a notary public or other officer authorized by law to administer oaths. This 

deposition will also be held remotely for attorneys who wish to attend remotely. The deposition 

will be recorded by stenographic and/or video means and will continue from day-to-day until 

completed. You are invited to attend and cross-examine. 

 Plaintiff requests that Defendant City of Springfield identify in writing at least one week 

in advance of the deposition the name(s) of the representative(s) who will testify on its behalf and 

the topic(s) on which each representative will testify. 
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4862-7355-7559, v. 4 

MAURA O’NEILL, as administrator of 

the Estate of Madelyn E. Linsenmeir, 

By her attorneys, 

 

________________________________ 

Martin M. Fantozzi (BBO # 554651) 

Richard J. Rosensweig (BBO # 639547) 

Joshua M. Looney (BBO # 703636)  

Michael E. Nzoiwu (BBO # 709542) 

GOULSTON & STORRS PC 

400 Atlantic Avenue 

Boston, MA 02110 

mnzoiwu@goulstonstorrs.com  

(617) 574-3522 

Matthew R. Segal (BBO # 654489) 

Jessie J. Rossman (BBO # 670685) 

Daniel L. McFadden (BBO # 676612) 

AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES 

UNION FOUNDATION OF 

MASSACHUSETTS, INC. 

211 Congress Street 

Boston, MA 02110 

(617) 482-3170 

Elizabeth Matos (BBO # 671505) 

David Milton (BBO # 668908) 

PRISONERS’ LEGAL SERVICES 

OF MASSACHUSETTS 

50 Federal Street 

Boston, MA 02110 

(617) 482-2773 

 

Dated:  October 25, 2022 
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4862-7355-7559, v. 4 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I, Michael Nzoiwu, certify that I have served the foregoing document on all counsel of 

record by email on this 25th day of October, 2022.  

       
      _____________________________  

      Michael Nzoiwu Esq. 
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4862-7355-7559, v. 4 

SCHEDULE A 

DEFINITIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS 

1. The timeframe for each topic is from September 1, 2018 to the present unless otherwise 

specified. 

2. “The City” refers to the City of Springfield. 

3. “SPD” means the Springfield Police Department, a component of the City. 

4. “IIU” means the Internal Investigations Unit of the SPD. 

5. “Springfield employee” means any employee of the City, including SPD officers of all 

ranks and titles. 

6. “Prisoners” means any person under arrest by the SPD, held in the SPD’s booking and 

lockup areas, or otherwise held in the SPD’s custody. 

7. “CPHB” means the City of Springfield’s Community Police Hearing Board. 

8. “BOPC” means the City of Springfield’s Board of Police Commissioners. 

9. “HCSD” means the Hampden County Sheriff’s department. 

10. “WCC” means the Western Massachusetts Regional Women’s Correctional Center, a 

component of HCSD. 

TOPICS 

Duties and Responsibilities of SPD Officers 

 

1. Duties and responsibilities of personnel working in the SPD’s police station(s), including 

the watch commanders, booking sergeants, booking officers, and female detention 

attendants/matrons. 

  

Policies, Procedures, Practices, and Training 

 

2. The SPD’s policies, procedures, practices, and training, both formal and informal, 

concerning: 

 

a. Booking and detention of prisoners; 
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4862-7355-7559, v. 4 

 

b. Cell checks, wellness checks, and monitoring for prisoners; 

 

c. Sick or injured prisoners, medical emergencies of prisoners, hospitalizations of 

prisoners, and when and how to obtain medical assistance for prisoners; 

 

d. The transfer of the SPD’s prisoners to the custody of another custodian, including 

without limitation to the WCC; 

 

e. The custody and care of prisoners believed to have consumed alcohol or drugs 

and prisoners believed to be undergoing withdrawal from drugs or alcohol; 

 

f. Prisoner phone calls, including recording of prisoner phone calls; 

 

g. Audio and/or video recording of prisoners in the booking area; and 

 

h. The investigation of officer rule violations or other misconduct, and concerning 

discipline of officers found to have violated rules or committed other misconduct, 

from 2013 to the present, including as applicable to the IIU. 

 

3. Policies, procedures, practices, and training for the CPHB and BOPC, from 2013 to the 

present. 

 

4. The SPD’s policies, procedures, rules, orders, manuals, and guidelines governing officer 

conduct. 

 

5. Any and all changes in any of the SPD’s policies, procedures, practices, and training, 

formal and informal, in response to any aspect of the SPD’s custody of Madelyn 

Linsenmeir or her death. 

 

Complaints, investigations, and discipline concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir 

 

6. The investigation and discipline of Moises Zanazanian for his conduct, acts, and/or 

omissions concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir, including without limitation the negotiation 

and drafting of the “Memorandum Of Agreement Between And Among The City Of 

Springfield And The Springfield Police Supervisors Association And Moises 

Zanazanian” dated March 13, 2019. This topic includes without limitation all 

communications between and among the City, Zanazanian, any police union, and their 

respective attorneys concerning the investigation, discipline, and agreement. 

 

7. Any and all investigations into any aspect of the SPD’s custody of Madelyn Linsenmeir 

and/or her death, including SO #18-261, SO #18-247, and PIE #18-053. 

 

8. The SPD’s termination of Maria Sanchez. 

 

9. The SPD’s PO 18-466, and the resignation and/or termination of Shanice Linnehan. 
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10. Any and all violations by any Springfield employee of any policies, procedures, 

practices, rules, orders, or guidelines during the SPD’s custody of Madelyn Linsenmeir, 

from her arrest on September 29, 2018 through her transfer to HCSD custody on 

September 30, 2018, including, for each such violation, any investigation, discipline, 

termination, or other action taken by the SPD or the City in response.  

 

Other Topics 

 

11. Complaints, investigations, and/or discipline of any Springfield employee concerning 

violations of any of the policies, procedures, and practices with regard to Topics 2(b), (c), 

and (d) from 2013 to the present. 

 

12. Any and all lawsuits against the City or any of its police officers alleging wrongful death 

from 2013 to the present.  

 

13. Any and all lawsuits against the City or any of its police officers alleging inadequate 

medical care for prisoners or denial of medical care to prisoners from 2013 to the present. 

 

14. Circumstances of the death of any other prisoners who died in SPD custody since 2013. 

 

15. Reports or responses to inquiries concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir from the Mayor’s 

office, City Council, or any state or federal agency. 

 

16. The City’s and SPD’s responses to public records request R000251-101518. 

 

17. Searches for material in response to document requests in this litigation, and the 

authenticity of the records produced by the City and/or SPD in this litigation. 

 

18. Efforts to preserve documents concerning Madelyn Linsenmeir’s custody in Springfield. 

 

19. Any and all agreements, contracts, memoranda of understanding, collective bargaining 

agreements, or other obligations, promises, or understandings between the City and each 

of the individual Defendants, respectively, concerning the payment of any judgment or 

settlement in this matter. 

 

20. Any insurance policy providing or potentially providing coverage for the City in 

connection with this litigation and the claims raised therein.   
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